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“A culture of excellence in the University’s core 
activities: teaching and learning, research and 
outreach, is now firmly entrenched. 

“

CHAIR OF COUnCIL
REPORT OF THE

M Mia
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Introduction 
The University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) is 
well into its consolidation period. A culture of 
excellence in the University’s core activities: 
teaching and learning, research and outreach, 
is now firmly entrenched.  As we progress 
Council is fully aware of the dynamics facing 
the University, and indeed Higher Education, in 
a rapidly changing world. The status quo will 
be challenged to ensure that integrity, honesty, 
trust and transparency – in short, good 
governance – are central to decision-making 
and are non-negotiable. Council is proud of 
its track record in upholding good governance 
that best serves the interests of the University.  

Council’s key objectives for 2010 
have been realised. A balanced budget 
was achieved; the recommendations of 
the Governance and Academic Freedom 
Committee (GAFC) Report were implemented 
and are regularly monitored; the College 
Model was re-assessed, reviewed, and the 
recommendations for a reconfigured structure 
were approved; and arising from the GAFC 
Report, the Transformation Charter and the 
Policy on Race and Racism was approved.

operational 
Information
Corporate Governance
Good corporate governance is an imperative 
of UKZN’s Council.  In this regard, Council 
appointed an eminent former Chief 
Justice and Head of the Constitutional 
Court, Justice Pius Langa, to serve as the 
University’s Ombud with effect from 1 
July 2010. The appointment arose out of 
the recommendations of the GAFC Report 
instituted by Council in December 2008 
as well as an alignment to international 
best practice. In keeping with the terms of 

reference, the Ombud has total independence 
and reports regularly to the Chair of Council. 
Council is honoured that Justice Langa 
accepted this important position.

Changes in the Operational 
structure
In response to reports of the University’s 
GAFC and the Ministerial Reports, Council 
approved an external review of the College 
Model. The review by a panel of international 
experts led by Professor Mzamo P Mangaliso 
of the University of Massachusetts, was 
held towards the end of August 2010. The 
findings of the report of the Review Panel 
were approved by Council. Broadly, the Review 
Report recommended the consolidation of 
Schools, a two-tier College management 
structure and the devolution of the critical 
support sector areas, namely Finance, 
Human Resources and Corporate Relations to 
enhance decision-making and strategic and 
operational efficiencies.  At Council’s meeting 
held on 3 December 2010 the proposed 
re-organisation of the College Model from 
both the Executive Management and Senate 
was approved. Council is pleased that the 
process of extensive consultation commenced 
early in 2011, with a view to complete 
implementation by January 2012. This is indeed 
a significant milestone in good leadership 
and management. Rigorous, continuous 
operational and strategic assessment is 
considered an imperative in the University. 

Management Information, Corporate 
Governance and the various Legal Services 
underwent restructuring to improve efficiencies. 
The Divisions of Corporate Governance and 
Management Information report to the Vice-
Chancellor and Registrar respectively. The 
various legal services have been consolidated 
to form the Legal Services Department, which is 
responsible for all aspects of legal compliance, 
advice and oversight.

M Mia
Chair of Council
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Academic and Research Achievements and 
Senior Appointments
UKZN continues to invest in a strong research ethos that positions the 
University as a centre of research excellence on the continent. Council 
approved the Senate Report titled: Analysis of Research Productivity 
at UKZN for the period 2004-2008, an invaluable document that has 
become the basis of ‘research performance at UKZN’. Critical research 
initiatives that address the pressing issues facing our country and 
indeed the African continent are encouraged and supported.  The 
University announced the appointment of Professor William Bishai, a 
leading academic from Johns Hopkins University in the United States, 
as the inaugural Director of the KwaZulu-Natal Research Institute 
for Tuberculosis and HIV (K-RITH). Professor Bishai, who undertook 
this challenging portfolio in September 2010, is welcomed. Council 
recognises the significance of this multi-million rand collaborative HIV 
and tuberculosis scientific research initiative that brings hope to the 
poor and vulnerable affected by this pandemic.  

The University’s Centre for the AIDS Programme of Research in South 
Africa (Caprisa) is among the largest and most successful research 
institutes in Africa. It is with immense pride that the result of the 
Caprisa 004 trial, which was released in Vienna in July 2010 was noted. 
The announcement received international acclaim. The Caprisa study of 
tenofovir gel provided the first evidence that an antiretroviral drug used 
in a gel form can reduce sexually transmitted HIV and herpes in women. 
Council acknowledges the work of the co-principal investigators of the 
trial, Professors Quarraisha and Salim Abdool Karim, and the team of 
scientists at Caprisa for this pioneering study.

The University is committed to relevant research that addresses 
critical issues in South Africa and globally.  In this regard, the 
establishment of the eThekwini Chair in Urban Infrastructure and the 
Umgeni Water Chair in Water Resources Management in the Faculty of 
Engineering were approved.

Operational Sustainability
The University has, once again, experienced a year of considerable growth 
in financial terms and it is pleasing to report record levels of income, 
resulting in total consolidated turnover of R2.96 billion being reported for 
the year.  This represents an increase of 12% over the previous year and 
was largely attributed to significant increases in the levels of government 
subsidies, grants and tuition fee income, the latter of which reflects a 
pleasing and continuing growth in student enrolment figures.  

Operating expenditure during the past year was, by and large, 
contained within budget and prevailing inflationary trends.  It is 
therefore pleasing to report a consolidated net surplus for the year 

of R177 million which, together with improved solvency margins and 
liquidity levels, has contributed to an appreciable improvement in 
the University’s overall financial position.  The Main (Operating) Fund 
accumulated deficit continues to receive the close attention of the 
University’s Executive Management, its Finance Committee and Council.  
Budgetary controls and fiscal discipline are diligently enforced and 
monitored; these have jointly contributed to the achievement of the 
modest operating surpluses reported in each of the past three years.  

Total assets under the University’s stewardship, amounted to R2.85 
billion at 31 December 2010, denoting growth of 12% during the past 12 
months.  Consolidated funds have, for the first time, exceeded R1 billion 
and have increased by 25% relative to the prior year.  This improvement 
is gratifying and attests to the fundamentally healthy state of the 
University’s finances. Council has no reason to believe that UKZN will 
not be sustainable in 2011, and in subsequent years.

The University’s financial position and results for the past year 
are commented upon more fully in the Chief Finance Officer’s Annual 
Financial Review and in the audited annual financial statements, which 
are to be found elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Prestigious Awards to Staff and Students
The University was once again ranked amongst the top 500 universities 
of the world according to the Academic Rankings of World Universities 
(ARWU) and is one of the top three universities in South Africa in terms 
of research output.  The Caprisa 004 trial has been hailed as one of the 
top 10 Scientific Breakthroughs of 2010 by the Journal of Science. The 
journal Nature also lauded the research finding and listed it amongst its 
top science news for 2010.

The University’s staff and students continue to excel at both national 
and international levels. Notable achievements included those by 
Professor Pat Berjak, who received the eThekwini Municipality’s Living 
Legend Award in the Conservation category for her contributions to 
seed science research; Emeritus Professor Johannes van Staden, who 
received the 2010 Gold Medal of the Southern African Association for the 
Advancement of Science (S2A3); and Professor Deresh Ramjugernath, 
who received a National Science and Technology Forum (NSTF) award 
which recognises scientific research that is professional, innovative and 
relevant to South Africa and the rest of the world.

UKZN’s School of Statistics and Actuarial Science, well-known for 
its academic excellence, scooped two prizes in the 2010 South African 
Statistics Association (SASA) Postgraduate Students’ Competition. Two 
Masters students were placed first and second in the country for their 
papers on HIV research.  Academic excellence was recognised once 
again, when a UKZN PhD graduate won an award for the best Plant 
Science PhD thesis in South Africa. These awards are testimony to the 
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high quality of our academics, the quality of our academic and research 
endeavour and the quality of our graduates. 

Changes in the Permanent Infrastructure
The significant projects arising from the merger in 2004 were effectively 
completed and signed off ‘within budget’ early in 2010.   These projects 
encompassed provisions for relocations and upgrades of academic and 
academic support related facilities in the sum of approximately R500 
million.  In terms of the rules laid down for use of merger funds, no 
significant plant upgrades or external building fabric was included but, 
due to the nature of UKZN’s campuses, a great deal of work in these 
areas has had to be carried out.  During 2008 and 2009 funding was 
made available for backlog maintenance and a number of projects were 
carried out utilising this funding during 2010.  Further funding has been 
made available by Council to continue with much needed works during 
the period 2011 to 2013.  

The University made a bid for Infrastructure and Efficiency funding 
from the Department of Higher Education and Training (DoHET) for the 
period 2010/2011, which application was successful for some six projects 
in diverse academic areas. The final funding approval was obtained in 
October 2010.  This funding covers projects for upgrading of facilities, 
renovations and extensions to existing facilities, as well as two new 
buildings.  The DoHET Infrastructure and Efficiency funding will be 
supplemented by funds from the University’s own resources as well as 
a significant Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) loan facility 
of R450 million.  In addition, the University, in collaboration with the 
Howard Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI), has embarked on a state-
of-the-art TB/HIV Research Facility (K-RITH), which is currently under 
construction. A large part of the cost of this facility is being paid for by 
the HHMI. All of the foregoing projects, as well as the loan facility, have 
received the support and approval of the Minister of Higher Education 
and Training.

Social Responsibility
Arising from the GAFC and Ministerial Report the development of the 
UKZN Transformation Charter and the Policy on Race and Racism were 
approved by Council on 3 December 2010. Through these policies, social 
cohesion, the right to freedom of expression and ongoing debate and 
dialogue will be promoted.  In addition, the transformation agenda 
will be advanced by all University stakeholders. The rich diversity of 
staff and students are recognised and the Policy on Race and Racism is 
integral to the transformation process.

Transformation is high on the agenda and 61% of the total student 
intake and 52% of new staff appointments in 2010 were African.  

Council encourages robust engagement and in this regard four staff 
unions, the Combined Staff Association (Comsa), the National Education 
Health and Allied Workers’ Union (Nehawu), the University of KwaZulu-
Natal Staff Union (Uksu), and the National Tertiary Education Union 
(Nteu), participate in discussions on staffing issues.

The Students’ Representative Council (SRC) constitution provides 
that elections should be held on an annual basis. The Student 
Governance Office initiated the process of elections and was able 
to realise the objectives of the elections in partnership with the 
Independent Electoral Commission, the Student Leadership and 
Development Office and other internal stakeholders. The SRC was duly 
inducted in order to provide student leaders with an opportunity to 
understand the operations of the University.

Council Sub-Committees
All committees of Council (Finance Committee, Audit & Risk Committee, 
Remuneration Committee, Staffing Committee, and Council Membership 
Committee) are chaired by independent members of Council with 
appropriate skills and expertise (refer to Council’s Statement on 
Corporate Governance for a detailed report).

Campus Development and Facilities
Additions to property, plant and equipment in 2010 totalled R208 million in 
2010.

The establishment of the new dedicated Student Services Centre 
on the Westville campus – a commercial development – was approved. 
The approximately 6 000 square metre Centre will house several 
offices and will include a Student Learning Centre, recording rooms, a 
food court and a bank. Construction commenced in early 2011 and is 
scheduled for completion in the second half of the year. A new student 
residence to accommodate medical school students was opened on the 
Pietermaritzburg campus during 2010.

Significant investments in the development of teaching and learning 
facilities and resources include:  the refurbished new premises for the 
School of Biochemistry, Genetics and Microbiology on the Westville campus; 
the Anaesthetics Smart Centre – a collaborative project with Inkosi Albert 
Luthuli Central Hospital;  the refurbishment of J Block on the Westville 
campus to locate the Leadership Centre;  the upgrade of teaching and 
resource facilities in the Law Faculty and the University of KwaZulu-Natal 
Intensive Tuition for Engineers (UNITE) building on the Howard College 
campus.  The Faculty of Education’s main tutorial building on the Edgewood 
campus was refurbished and includes 19 new offices, a new teaching and 
learning Commons and new Professional Practicum offices.



7 The Premier University of African Scholarship

Events
The University celebrated a centenary of academic excellence in 
KwaZulu-Natal with a wide range of activities across the five campuses 
culminating in a centenary banquet for 500 guests. The events 
highlighted the major achievements and ground breaking research over 
the past 100 years. The Centre for Creative Arts, located on the Howard 
College campus, generated international and national interest and 
significant media coverage at its highly acclaimed festivals, namely The 
Time of the Writer, the Durban Film Festival, Poetry Africa and Jomba.  
In pursuit of academic dialogue the implementation of public lectures on 
a range of topics is now firmly embedded at the University.

Student Services 
Council was extremely pleased that the student enrolment for 2010 
exceeded the target of 39 400 by 5.4% to 41 700 and is cognisant that 
students are central to the University’s operations. Two members from 
the Students’ Representative Council serve on Council.

Financial aid and student accommodation are major challenges 
facing the University. In this regard, the Student Funding Centre (SFC) 
allocates funding in three main categories: loans, bursaries, and 
scholarships. Student loans and some bursaries are channelled through 
the National Student Financial Aid Scheme (NSFAS). Bursary funds are 
received from external sponsors and deceased estates, while the main 
source of scholarship funding is Council and the National Research 
Foundation.

In 2010, 28% of the overall contact student population 
was accommodated in University-owned residences and leased 
accommodation. A long-term project to accommodate students in 
residences located on the University campuses is underway. 

Distance Learning 
In 2010, 6 538 students registered in distance academic programmes 
mainly in Education, Nursing and Accountancy. Although distance 
programme enrolments are not expected to increase, the University has 
continued to offer such programmes in response to specific regional 
imperatives and at the request of national and provincial government 
departments, for example, in Nursing and Education, which are 
important in the light of national objectives. 

The largest distance enrolment in 2010 was in Education certificates 
and diplomas for in-service teacher programmes (3 974 or 60.8%) and 
743 students graduated from these programmes in the same year.

Working with Industry
The University was the only institution from South Africa invited to 
the launch of the United Nations Academic Impact Initiative held 
in November 2010 in New York. UKZN will co-ordinate the initiative 
“addressing poverty through education”. UKZN’s Centre for Quantum 
Technology and the eThekwini Municipality formed a partnership to 
provide unprecedented communication security to Durban’s FIFA World 
Cup operations using quantum cryptography.

The UKZN Foundation raised R124 million in 2010 to enable the 
University to establish projects in a number of areas that deepened 
the University’s community engagement.  These projects were all in 
response to the country’s development needs and included interventions 
in Adult Education, HIV/AIDS, Law, Conservation, Rural Health, 
Mathematics and Science Education, Student Access Programmes, 
Traditional Medicine, Food Security and Childhood.

The University is indebted to a range of companies, foundations and 
individuals for their support to undertake these important initiatives.

Conclusion
The challenges facing tertiary institutions are huge, and UKZN is no 
exception.  Whilst key aspects are highlighted in this report, there is no 
doubt that the continued demands will require all stakeholders to play an 
even greater role in the years ahead.  The University has a strong Council 
and robust discussion is the order of the day.  I wish to place on record 
sincere appreciation to my colleagues on Council, the Vice-Chancellor, the 
Executive, academic and support staff, the student populace and all those 
who are intricately linked to UKZN for their guidance and support.

M Mia
Chair of Council



University of KwaZulu-Natal Annual Report 2010 8

NaMe/CaTegory of MeMbershiP CoMMiTTees of CoUNCiL aTTeNDaNCe 2010 ToTaL oVeraLL

arC fC rC CMC sC eXCo Mar June sep Dec No. %

executive Committee of Council 

Mr M Mia Chair 4 ✓ ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Mrs P Mnganga Vice-Chair 1 ✓ ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Prof MW Makgoba Vice-Chancellor 2 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Prof D Jaganyi 3 ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Mr T Maistry (term of office ended June 2010) P P 2 100%

Mr S Mkhize (SRC) (1 November - 8 December 2010 ) P 1 100%

Mr S Mpungose (appointed July 2010) 3 ✓ P P 2 100%

Prof JC Mubangizi 2 ✓ ✓ P P Ap P 3 75%

Adv PJ Olsen 4 ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Dr MJ Phaahla 1 ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Mr MD Mndebele (SRC) (term of office ended October 2010) P P P 3 100%

Mrs SE Skweyiya 1 ✓ ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

other Members of Council

Prof H Africa 1 Ap P P P 3 75%

Dr R Badal 1 P P P P 4 100%

Mr RH Clarkson 2 ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Prof P Dankelmann (appointed July 2010) 3 P P 2 100%

Mr M Dlamini (appointed November 2010) 3 P 1 100%

Prof S Essack 3 Ap P P P 3 75%

Mrs L Francois 4 ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Mr K Gumede (resigned October 2010) P P P 3 100%

Prof K Govinder 3 ✓ ✓ P Ap Ap P 2 50%

Mr M Mchunu (SRC) (appointed November 2010) 5 P 1 100%

Mr K Makan 1 P P P Ap 3 75%

Mrs G Mtombeni 1 ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Mr SC Ngcobo 1 Ap A 0 0%

Mr SST Ngcobo 1 ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Dr BS Ngubane (appointed March 2010) 1 P Ap P 2 67%

Mr MT Ngwenya (resigned October 2010) Ap P Ap 1 33%

Prof D North (term of office ended June 2010) P P 2 100%

Mrs P Nzimande 1 Ap P Ap P 2 50%

Mr AGS Osman 4 ✓ ✓ P P P P 4 100%

Councillor F Peer (term of office ended June 2010) P P 2 100%

Mr T Sabelo (SRC) (term of office ended October 2010) P P P 3 100%

Mr KE Schmidt (appointed March 2010) 1 P P P 3 100%

Ms Z Sokhela (appointed July 2010) 1 ✓ P P 2 100%

Mr AD Young 1 ✓ P P Ap P 3 75%

3 6 6 6 2 9

TOTAL ATTENDANCE 23 28 23 27 101

TOTAL MEMBERSHIP 27 29 30 29 115

oVeraLL aTTeNDaNCe as a % of maximum possible 85% 97% 77% 93% 88%

Key To CaTegories of MeMbershiP
(1)  Independent non-executive Council Members
(2) Executive Management representatives
(3)  Employee representatives
(4)  Government-appointed representatives
(5)  Student representatives

Key To CoMMiTTees of CoUNCiL
ARC Audit & Risk Committee 
FC Finance Committee
RC Remuneration Committee
CMC Council Membership Committee
SC Staffing Committee
EXCO Executive Committee of Council

Key To aTTeNDaNCe
 Not a Council member during the   
 highlighted period 
P Present
Ap Apologies for non-attendance
A Absent without apology
– Alternate not required

Officers and Members of Council as at 31 December 2010
Analysis of Membership, Representation on Major Committees of Council and Attendance Statistics
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eXeCUTiVe CoMMiTTee of CoUNCiL
2010 %
No meetings in 2010

aUDiT & risK CoMMiTTee
2010 Feb May May (jnt) Jul (sp) Aug Aug (sp) Nov %
Mrs L Francois P P P P P P P 100%
Mr P Naidoo P P P P P P P 100%
Ms B Ntuli (appointed July 2010) Ap P Ap Ap 25%
Ms Z Sokhela (appointed July 2010) Ap P Ap P 50%
Mr A Young P P P P Ap P P 86%
Total attendance (%) 100% 100% 100% 60% 80% 60% 80% 79%

fiNaNCe CoMMiTTee
2010 Mar Apr May May (jnt) Aug Oct Nov %
Mr AGS Osman P P P P P P P 100%
Mr RH Clarkson P P P P P P P 100%
Mr DN Field (appointed July 2010) P P P P P 100%
Prof K Govinder P P P Ap Ap Ap Ap 43%
Ms GN Jiyane (appointed March 2010) Ap Ap Ap Ap P Ap 17%
Prof MW Makgoba Ap Ap P P P Ap Ap 43%
Mr M Mia P P P P P P P 100%
Mr SST Ngcobo P Ap P P P P 83%
Mr C Poole P P P P P P P 100%
Prof D Jaganyi (alternate to Prof Govinder) - - - Ap Ap P P 50%
Total attendance (%) 83% 75% 78% 78% 78% 89% 78% 80%

reMUNeraTioN CoMMiTTee
2010 Mar April July Sept Nov Dec (sp) %
Mrs P Mnganga (Chair) P P P P P P 100%
Prof S Essack P P Ap 67%
Prof K Govinder Ap Ap Ap 0%
Prof MW Makgoba P P P P P P 100%
Mr M Mia P P P P P P 100%
Dr M Mosia P P P P P P 100%
Ms G Mtombeni P P P P P P 100%
Mr SC Ngcobo (term of office ended March 2010) P 100%
Mr AGS Osman (appointed April 2010) P P P P P 100%
Mrs SE Skweyiya P P P P P P 100%
Total attendance (%) 100% 100% 88% 88% 88% 88% 92%

sTaffiNg CoMMiTTee
2010 Feb April May Aug Sept Oct %
Mrs P Mnganga (Chair) P P P P P P 100%
Prof S Adam P Ap P P Ap P 67%
Prof J Ayee P P P P P P 100%
Ms J Bhana P P A P Ap P 67%
Mr DR Boodhoo P P A P P P 83%
Mr M Dlamini (appointed July 2010) P P Ap 67%
Dr S Higgins-Opitz (appointed July 2010) P P P 100%
Mr Y Jagesar Ap Ap Ap Ap Ap Ap 0%
Mr T Maistry (term of office ended June 2010) Ap A A 0%
Mr S Mncube Ap P A P Ap P 50%
Dr M Mosia P P P P P P 100%
Mr E Ncube P P P 100%
Mr T Ngwenya Ap P P Ap Ap A 33%
Prof MA Samuel P P P 100%
Ms N Shezi (appointed July 2010) P P P 100%
Mr G Thula P Ap P P P P 83%
Dr R Badal (alternate to Mr S Mncube) P - - - A - 50%
Mr R Parkies (alternate to Y Jagesar) P A P P P Ap 67%
Total attendance (%) 85% 69% 69% 92% 69% 77% 77%

CoUNCiL MeMbershiP CoMMiTTee
2010 Feb June %
Mr M Mia (Chair) P P 100%
Prof S Essack P P 100%
Mr K Makan (Alternate) P Ap 50%
Prof MW Makgoba P P 100%
Prof J Mubangizi P P 100%
Mr SST Ngcobo Ap P 50%
Mr T Ngwenya Ap Ap 0%
Dr MJ Phaahla Ap P 50%
Total attendance (%) 71% 86% 79%

oTher offiCe bearers (iN aTTeNDaNCe aT CoUNCiL)

Prof JJ Meyerowitz Registrar

Ms NE Mbadi Executive Director Corporate Relations Division

aUDiTors

Deloitte & Touche
P O Box 243
Durban 4000

baNKers

Standard Bank of SA
P O Box 2511
Durban 4000

PosTaL aDDress

University of KwaZulu-Natal
Private Bag X54001
Durban 4000

Major Committees of Council for the year ended 31 December 2010
Analysis of Attendance at Major Committees of Council for the year ended 31 December 2010
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CORPORATE  
GOVERnAnCE

COUnCIL’S  
STATEMEnT On

M Mia/Mrs L Francois

“The Council recognises the need to conduct the 
affairs of the University with integrity, ethically 
and in accordance with generally accepted 
business and legal practices.

“
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T
he University is committed to 
the highest level of corporate 
governance. In associating 
itself with the principles of 

discipline, transparency, independence, 
accountability, responsibility, fairness and 
social responsibility, it is aligned to the King 
Reports on Corporate Governance and is in 
compliance with the Higher Education Act.

The Council, as far as it is practicable to 
do so, is continually striving to apply the Code 
of Corporate Practices and Conduct, and the 
Code of Ethical Behaviour and Practice set out 
in the King Report. This commitment has been 
reinforced by Council’s adoption of its own 
customised Code of Conduct for members 
of Council. In supporting these Codes and 
in fulfilling its guardianship role in relation 
to public and trust funds administered by 
the University, the Council recognises the 
need to conduct the affairs of the University 
with integrity, ethically and in accordance 
with generally accepted business and legal 
practices. In entrenching governance in 
the institutional culture, the University’s 
values, as adopted, include: ‘Ensure effective 
governance through broad and inclusive 
participation, democratic representation, 
accountability, and transparency that serve as 
an example that contributes to building the 
democratic ethos of our country.’

Included in the mandate of the Audit 
and Risk Committee is the monitoring of 
compliance with these Codes. This is evident 
by coverage on the approved internal audit 
plan that includes tests of compliance with 
the King Report and the Higher Education Act.

An independent Corporate Governance 
Division is tasked to enable Council to 
implement its commitment to sound 
governance within the University.  This 
Division encompasses the services of 
Internal Audit, Forensics as well as Risk and 
Compliance, all of which report directly to the 
Audit and Risk Committee.  Council has also 

implemented an Ombuds Office which has 
clear and independent reporting mechanisms.

the Council
The University of KwaZulu-Natal Council was 
incorporated on 1 January 2004 in terms of 
the Higher Education Act of 1997. During the 
year under review, the Council functioned in 
accordance with the prevailing Statute for 
the University of KwaZulu-Natal, which was 
promulgated on 14 July 2006. In terms of this 
Statute, the Council comprises 30 members, 
the majority of whom (63%) are neither 
employees nor students of the University. 
The independent non-executive members 
comprise a cross section of external expertise.

Council is made up as follows:

Independent non-executive 
members

11

Government appointed 
representatives

  5

Convocation representatives   3

Executive management staff   3

Employee representatives   6

Student representatives   2

Total 30

In terms of good governance, the role of 
the Chairperson of Council is separate from 
that of the Chief Executive Officer, the Vice-
Chancellor. The Council of the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal is responsible for the overall 
strategic direction of the University, approval 
of major developments and the receipt of 
regular reports from the Vice-Chancellor, 
other executive officers and members of 
management on the day-to-day operations 
of the University’s business. Council met four 
times during the year under review. Details 
of its composition and meeting attendance 
statistics for the year, together with those 
of the major committees of Council, are 

contained on pages 8-9 of this Annual Report. 
In discharging its governance role, 

Council is supported by a number of standing 
committees, namely the Remuneration, 
Finance, Audit and Risk, Staffing and Council 
Membership Committees.  All of these 
Committees are formally constituted with 
specified terms of reference and in all cases 
comprise a majority of external members of 
Council. 

Remuneration 
Committee
The Remuneration Committee’s specific 
terms of reference include direct authority 
to act for Council in proposing changes 
to the Conditions of Service as they relate 
to employees’ salaries and benefits, and 
it is also responsible for the periodic 
review and determination of mandates for 
the University’s management team in its 
negotiations with staff representative bodies 
in the Joint Bargaining Forum (JBF). A subset 
of the Remuneration Committee, comprising 
four independent, non-executive members, is 
responsible for considering and deciding upon 
executive salaries and benefits in relation to 
prevailing market conditions. 

The committee met six times during the 
year and was chaired by Mrs P Mnganga, 
Vice-Chair of Council.

Finance Committee
The Finance Committee comprises a majority 
of external members with a cross section 
of expertise. The Finance Committee has 
specific terms of reference and is responsible 
for monitoring the University’s financial 
position specifically, to ensure its ability to 
operate as a “going concern” and for the 
adequacy of its financial accounting, treasury 
management and control systems. It met 
seven times in 2010 and considered a range 
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of matters relevant to the fiduciary duties of the University Council 
and advised Council on financial strategy, policy and the University’s 
budgets. The Finance Committee has specific responsibility for 
investment management, loan finance and risk management issues, and 
for ensuring (through the office of the Chief Finance Officer) compliance 
with the University’s Financial Regulations and that the accounting 
information systems and personnel complement are maintaining the 
accounting records of the University in good order.

The committee was chaired by Mr G Osman, an independent non-
executive member of the University Council.

Membership Committee
The Membership Committee meets as and when necessary to consider 
nominations to fill vacant positions on Council, in accordance with the 
UKZN Statute. It also identifies members of Council with appropriate 
expertise to serve on the Finance and Audit and Risk Committees.  It 
consists of seven members, four of whom are external to the University. 
It met twice in 2010 under the chairmanship of Mr M Mia, Chair of 
Council.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee consists of three members of Council, 
none of whom is either an employee or a student, and two non-Council 
members with appropriate expertise. Four scheduled meetings were 
held during 2010 in addition to some special members-only meetings. 
The scheduled meetings were also attended by the external and 
internal auditors and by appropriate members of executive and senior 
operational management. Both the external and internal auditors had 
unrestricted access to the Audit and Risk Committee, which ensured 
that their independence was in no way impaired. In addition the 
Audit and Risk Committee reviews the Forensics and Risk Register and 
monitors all reports and their outcomes, ensuring that appropriate 
action is taken. The Audit and Risk Committee operates in terms of a 
written charter which provides assistance to Council in:

■ ensuring compliance with applicable legislation, the requirements of 
regulatory authorities and applicable codes of corporate conduct;

■ determining the adequacy and effectiveness of financial and internal 
controls, accounting policies, reporting and disclosure;

■ in conjunction with the Finance Committee, assessing and managing 
all areas of financial risk;

■ reviewing and approving audit plans and reports emanating from 
external and internal auditors;

Council’s Statement on Corporate Governance // M Mia/Mrs L Francois

■ monitoring the scope, adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 
audit function; and

■  meeting its statutory reporting responsibilities.

The committee was chaired by Mrs L Francois, an independent non-
executive member of Council. 

Statement on Conflict Management
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) is integrated into Human 
Resources Development.  Its purpose is to facilitate the improvement of 
the employment relationship by establishing practices, programmes and 
interventions which avoid conflict. 

Worker and Student Participation 
in Collective Leadership
During the course of 2010 the University’s Joint Consultative Forum (JCF) 
attended to numerous employee related matters with 100% successful 
conclusion on matters of mutual interest and no disputes declared. This 
Forum remains an important platform which facilitates engagement 
between the four recognised unions and management regarding 
workplace improvement and relationship initiatives.  In 2010 this forum 
met 10 times, with all meetings fully attended and represented, which is 
an indication that members view matters seriously. The year ended with 
the convening of the Joint Bargaining Forum (JBF) to begin the process 
of collective bargaining with the University regarding annual salary 
increases and changes to conditions of service. 

The University’s Employment Equity Plan towards 2014 was 
developed, approved and submitted in line with legislative guidelines, 
which proves UKZN’s continuing commitment to transformation. 
Amongst many policies and best practices championed in 2010, is the 
Policy on Race and Racism and the Transformation Charter. These two 
policies provide a framework for dealing with transformation challenges 
and enabling the implementation of the University’s sustainable 
inclusion initiatives. 

Though the University’s workforce profile continued to be 
challenged relative to the national workforce profile and the 
comparative regional Economically Active Population (EAP), plans 
and programmes are being developed to accelerate our progress. The 
University Staffing Committee approved the implementation of the 
Accelerated Academic Development Programme which will enable an 
increase in the number of designated academics within our Institution; 
as well as ensure easy access through reduced teaching loads.  
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back (left to right): executive Director: Division of human resources, Dr M s Mosia; registrar, Professor J J Meyerowitz; Deputy Vice-
Chancellor and head of College: agriculture, engineering and science, Professor r h slotow; Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of College: 
humanities, Professor J r a ayee; Chief finance officer, Mr r h Clarkson; executive Director: Division of Physical Planning and operations,  
Mr C W Poole; executive Director: Corporate relations Division, Ms N e Mbadi; and acting executive Dean: students, Mr T h Khumalo.
front (left to right): Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of College: Law and Management studies, Professor J C Mubangizi; Deputy Vice-
Chancellor and head of College: health sciences, Professor T s Pillay; Vice-Chancellor, Professor M W Makgoba; Deputy Vice-Chancellor: 
Teaching and Learning, Professor r Vithal; and Deputy Vice-Chancellor: research, Professor N M ijumba.
inset: executive Dean: students, Ms M D Masipa.   

UKZn EXECUTIVE MAnAGEMEnT
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In addition to this, the University Leadership Equity and Advancement 
Programme known as “LEAP” has successfully mainstreamed over 10 
academics with 20 expected to be mainstreamed in a year or two. 

Students are represented on Council with two representatives of 
the Central SRC serving on Council and one of these serving on the 
Executive Committee of Council. There is also student representation 
on the Finance Committee (in attendance) and the Senior Appointments 
Committee. Student participation in these committees is good and 
serves to enrich the debates.

Code of Ethics
The University is committed to the highest standards of integrity, 
behaviour and ethics in dealing with all its stakeholders, including its 
Council members, managers, employees, students, customers, suppliers, 
competitors, donors and society at large. The University’s policies 
include provisions to deal with conflicts of interest. Council members 
and all staff who have decision-making authority, either individually or 
jointly through their service on committees, are expected to observe 
the University’s ethical obligations in order to conduct business through 
the use of fair commercial practice. In terms of the respective Codes 
of Conduct for members of Council and Executive Management, those 
bound by the Codes are obliged to disclose any noteworthy interests 
(as defined) in a register of contracts. Likewise, potential or actual 
conflicts of interests are required to be declared. Various general 
provisions underpin Council’s commitment to ethical conduct. These are 
characterised inter alia by the requirements to act in good faith, to serve 
the interests of the University, to maintain the trust of Council and the 
Executive, to respect Council decisions and to maintain confidentiality. 
Members of Council and the Executive are required to acknowledge 
and uphold the respective Codes by making signed declarations to this 
effect, which are, in turn, lodged with the Registrar’s Office.

Staffing Committee
The Staffing Committee makes recommendations to the University 
Council regarding all new and revised human resources and 
employment equity policies, approves systems and procedures for the 
implementation of these policies and monitors their implementation. It 
consists of 13 members of whom three are external members of Council 

and four are non-Council members with appropriate expertise. Those 
members internal to the university include representatives of unions, 
academic and support staff, and senior management. 

The committee met six times during the year and was chaired by  
Ms P Mnganga, Vice-Chair of Council. 

Senior Appointments Committee
The Senior Appointments Committee meets as and when necessary in 
accordance with Council approved procedures to recommend to Council 
preferred candidates to fill vacant Executive positions in the University.  
It consists of nine members of whom the majority are independent, non-
executive members of Council. The Institutional Forum and SRC each 
nominate a representative to this committee. In addition, up to two 
external persons may be co-opted to provide specific expertise, and the 
Unions may nominate a member. The committee is chaired by  
Ms P Mnganga, Vice-Chair of Council.  This committee did not meet in 
2010 as there were no senior appointments to be made.

Approval of Report on Corporate 
Governance
Council’s commitment to good corporate governance is reaffirmed 
at least annually and consequently this report was approved by the 
University Council on 6 June 2011 and is signed on its behalf by:

M Mia
Chair of Council

Mrs L francois
Chair of the audit and risk Committee
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Professor M W Makgoba

In the course of the year, the Senate fulfilled 
its statutory responsibilities and, in so doing, 
contributed to the enhancement of sound 
academic governance and the maintenance of 
quality of the University’s various teaching and 
research activities.

“ “

REPORT OF THE
SEnATE TO COUnCIL
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I
n terms of the Higher Education Act 
(No. 101 of 1997) and the Statute of the 
University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN), the 
Senate is empowered with the ultimate 

responsibility for the maintenance of the 
academic integrity of the University.  It also 
has responsibility for the development of all 
academic initiatives of the University.  

During 2010, the University Senate met 
four times to deal with routine operational 
business; one special meeting was called.

In the course of the year, the Senate 
fulfilled its statutory responsibilities and, in 
so doing, contributed to the enhancement 
of sound academic governance and the 
maintenance of quality of the University’s 
various teaching and research activities.

Changes in the 
Academic Structure
UKZN is structured into four Colleges viz. 
the College of Agriculture, Engineering and 
Science; the College of Health Sciences; 
the College of Humanities; and the College 
of Law and Management Studies. A 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor, who is the highest 
academic leader heads each College. 
Each College represents an ‘autonomous’ 
academic unit. The Deputy Vice-Chancellors 
are automatically members of the senior 
executive leadership and management 
team and have a dual function that is 
College-specific and also University-wide. 
In addition, there are two University-wide 
Deputy Vice-Chancellors, namely, the Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor (Research) and Deputy Vice-
Chancellor (Teaching and Learning).  

The College Model was reviewed during 
2010 by a panel of international experts, 
chaired by Professor Mzamo Mangaliso. 
The panel made 11 recommendations on 
how to improve the College Structure.  
These recommendations together with 
the Executive Implementation Plan were 

approved by Senate and Council in 2010 and 
are now in the process of being implemented 
by the Executive.

Composition of the 
senate
The Senate was constituted in terms of S23(1) 
of the Statute of the University of KwaZulu-
Natal and which defines the composition of 
Senate as follows:
The Senate, subject to the provisions of the 
Act, consists of:
■	 the Vice-Chancellor;
■	 the Deputy Vice-Chancellors, who are 

Heads of Colleges;
■	 the Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Research;
■	 the Executive Dean of Students;
■	 two other members of the senior 

management elected by the senior 
management;

■	 two representatives from the Council who 
must not be either employees or students 
and who are elected by the Council;

■	 the Head of Library Services;
■	 the Director of Quality Promotion and 

Assurance;
■	 the Chairperson of the Institutional 

Forum;
■	 the President of Convocation;
■	 five members of the support staff, who 

are not already members of the Senate, 
being one from each of the Colleges and 
one from the central administration of 
the University duly elected by the support 
staff in each one of the aforementioned 
areas of operation;

■ the Deans of the Faculties;
■	 the Deputy Deans of the Faculties;
■	 all Heads of Schools;
■	 five representatives from each Faculty 

duly elected by each such Faculty;
■	 a Fellow of the University appointed by 

each Faculty;
■	 six student representatives, one 

REPORT OF THE
Professor M W Makgoba
Vice-Chancellor and Chair of senate
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from each of the campuses, duly elected by the local Students’ 
Representative Council (SRC) for that campus, and one student 
representative from the Central SRC having been duly elected by 
that Council;

■	 such additional members as are approved by the Senate. In this 
category, Senate has approved the inclusion of the Deputy Vice-
Chancellor: Teaching and Learning and the Dean of Research as full 
members of Senate.

The majority of Senate members are academic members of staff.

Significant matters dealt with by 
senate in 2010
■	 the  development of the UKZN Transformation Charter;
■ the interrogation of the Senate Report titled: Analysis of Research 

Productivity at UKZN for the period 2004-2008;
■	 Amendments to the composition and terms of reference of the 

University Language Board (ULB).

Significant Developments and 
Achievements 
Instruction 
Excellence in teaching and learning through creative and innovative 
curriculum design and development underpins Goal four of the 
University’s strategic plan. During 2010 Senate approved a new 
programme, Master of Science: Water Resources Management.  Senate 
also approved the new BA Honours (Cultural and Heritage Tourism) 
programme in principle.  The relocation/affiliation of the Biomedical 
Resource Unit (BMU) to the School of Medical Sciences; and the 
relocation/affiliation of staff teaching and/or providing services in 
Medical Law, Ethics and Biostatistics to the School of Public Health were 
approved. 

In 2010 first year students were admitted to the new Bachelor 
of Agriculture in Agricultural Extension, a three-year undergraduate 
programme that is a partnership between UKZN and the government 
Department of Agriculture and Environment. A two-year Masters Degree 
in Sports Medicine and a Physiotherapy Technician Training course 
were introduced in the College of Health Sciences. The Council for 
Higher Education approved four new course work Masters programmes 
in Advanced Group Work, Health Sciences, Pharmacy Practice and 
Pharmaco-economics. 

The Faculty of Management Studies launched two Local Economic 

Development (LED) Programmes in April 2010, offering Postgraduate 
Diploma and Masters training to LED practitioners and the Faculty of 
Law introduced innovative new Masters modules in Gambling Law, 
Politics of Law and Sports Law. 

UKZN is committed to ongoing assessment to sustain excellence.  
In this regard four of the University’s Engineering programmes – 
Chemical, Computer, Electrical and Electronic Engineering – received 
full accreditation until 2013 by the Engineering Council of South Africa 
(ECSA).  Agricultural and Civil Engineering are fully accredited until 
2013 and Mechanical Engineering until 2011. In the College of Health 
Sciences, the Bachelor of Pharmacy was accredited by the South African 
Pharmacy Council. The Department of Anaesthetics, in partnership with 
the Inkosi Albert Luthuli Central Hospital, officially opened the  
R4.5 million Anaesthetics Smart Centre – the first in Africa. 

The Faculty of Education engaged with stakeholders on the scale 
and scope of operations and the modes of delivery for its different 
sectors. It considered the setting up of a centre for continuing 
education in collaboration with the Provincial Department of Education 
in KwaZulu-Natal and addressing the backlog of qualified teachers 
within the schooling system through alternate modes of initial teacher 
education delivery.

Awards and Achievements
Each year four University Distinguished Teachers are recognised at the 
Graduation Ceremonies for their excellence and innovation in teaching. 
The Distinguished Teachers for 2010 were Professor Deogratius Jaganyi, 
Dean: Faculty of Science and Agriculture; Dr Suzanne Francis, School of 
Politics; Ms Kerry Frizelle, School of Psychology and Ms Heidi Matisonn, 
School of Philosophy and Ethics. 

Notable academic staff and student achievements include:
■	 Professor Julian May of the School of Development Studies was 

appointed to the Technical Advisory Group (TAG) of the International 
Comparisons Programme (ICP), the first person from a developing 
country to be accorded such an honour. The ICP is a worldwide 
statistical partnership to collect comparative price data and compile 
detailed expenditure values of countries’ gross domestic products 
and to estimate purchasing power parities of the world’s economies.

■	 Dean of the Faculty of Education, Professor Michael Samuel was 
appointed a member of the Commonwealth Advisory Council 
on Teacher Mobility, Recruitment and Migration and Professor 
Vishanthie Sewpaul was elected President of the Association of 
Schools of Social Work in Africa and the Vice-President of the 
International Association of Schools of Social Work.

■	 Ms Jennette Reitsma of the School of Language, Literature and 
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Linguistics was selected as the only candidate from South Africa 
for the scholarship awarded by the Agence Universitaire de la 
Francophone (AUF) to attend a three-month academic training 
programme in France.

■	 Ms Vanessa Moodley of the School of Music won the Jazz category 
of the USA Songwriting Competition, an annual global event that 
has been running since 1995, for her ballad, Your Eyes.

■	 Ms Pamela Soobramoney, Ms Carmen Renni and Ms Brenda De 
Gama from the Discipline of Anatomy were selected for the 
esteemed SANTRUST PhD Development Programme for Research 
Support, 2010-2011. 

■	 Professor Kovin Naidoo Associate Professor in the Discipline of 
Optometry was named the Africa Fellow by the Schwab Foundation 
for Social Entrepreneurship and was recipient of a 2010 UKZN 
Convocation Award.  Ms Nonhlanhla Dlamini, a PhD student from 
the Department of Traditional Medicine and the recipient of the 
UNESCO-L’OREAL Fellowship, received the Women in Science 
Fellowship in the Indigenous Knowledge Systems category by the 
Department of Science and Technology. 

■	 Former Deputy Vice-Chancellor and Head of the College of Health 
Sciences at UKZN, Professor Leana Uys received the Women Super 
Achievers Award at the Asia’s Best Business School Award ceremony 
in Singapore.

■	 The Head of the Department of Pulmonology and Critical Care, 
Professor Umesh Lalloo was appointed to the Board of the Medical 
Research Council and Professor Gert Kruger of the School of 
Chemistry attained 100 publications.

In parallel with the Distinguished Teachers’ Award, a new policy and 
procedures for Distinguished Students’ Awards was approved, which 
will be implemented in 2011. This Award will recognise two students 
each year for excellence in both academic achievements and community 
or University service.  

Limitations on Access to Certain Courses
At an institutional level there were no changes made to the 
undergraduate admission requirements in 2010. This ensured that 
there were few limitations to access. Alternative access provision was 
continued through Alternative Access Programmes in the Faculties 
of Engineering, Science and Agriculture, Management Studies, and 
Humanities, Development and Social Sciences for students who did 
not qualify for admission into the mainstream programmes. Overall 
the University continued its growth in headcount enrollments in 2010, 
with an ongoing increase since 2008, particularly in undergraduate 
programmes.    

As an example, the College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science 
has programmes to provide alternative access to students who do not 
meet the minimum entry requirements. In the Faculty of Engineering, 
the UNITE programme, which takes about 50 students into a one-year 
bridging programme, feeds directly into the BSc Engineering. Within 
the Faculty of Science and Agriculture there are three routes for access. 
Firstly, the Science Foundation Programme is available to students who 
do not obtain a National Senior Certificate (Deg). This is a one-year 
bridging course. Students who do obtain full matriculation endorsement 
or National Senior Certificate (Deg), but do not meet the minimum 
requirements, and who are from disadvantaged schools, can enter either 
the BSc Foundation, or the BSc Augmented Programmes. Both are four-
year programmes. In the first case, there is a separate bridging year, and 
in the latter, the students augment their study of their mainstream Level 
1 Science modules. All programmes are successful, and more and more 
of these students are now progressing into postgraduate study, and 
even graduating with PhDs.

Levels of academic progress

ratio of graduating students to enrolled students 2010 

Faculty Undergraduate 
Bachelors

Honours 

EDUCATION 72% 43%

ENGINEERING 58% 86%

HEALTH SCIENCES 92% 61%

HUMANITIES, DEV & SOC  
SCIENCES

76% 81%

LAW 63%

MANAGEMENT STUDIES 60% 69%

NRM SCHOOL OF MEDICINE 81% 83%

SCIENCE & AGRICULTURE 72% 91%

Overall 68% 70%

The percentages express the ratio of graduates in relation to 
Undergraduate Bachelors who were in their final year and Honours 
students in all years.   

Undergraduate academic monitoring and support has been an 
ongoing focus of the University Teaching and Learning Office (UTLO) and 
the University Teaching and Learning Committee (UTLC) which tabled 
a comprehensive Report on undergraduate Faculty systems of support, 
enrolments, dropouts, graduation and throughput at the November 2010 
Senate meeting. The Teaching Development Grant for 2010 of R215 000 
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from the Department of Higher Education and Training (DoHET) was 
supplemented by R2.25 million through a strategic allocation from the 
University’s Main Fund, which was disbursed to Faculties to strengthen 
the implementation of academic monitoring and support programmes.

The African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI) celebrated the 
graduation of its fourth cohort of students since its inception.  Seven 
southern African students graduated with PhD degrees in Plant Breeding 
that will equip them to tackle some of Africa’s most dire problems. The 
work of previous ACCI graduates has already had a significant impact 
in communities in southern and eastern Africa.  They have delivered 
new crop cultivars, improved the skills of plant breeders and raised 
the status of plant breeders and scientists at research stations and 
government agencies.

Composition and Size of the 
Student Body
A total of 41 700 students registered for study at UKZN in 2010. Of these 
58% were women and 42% men. Undergraduates constituted 79% of 
all students, with postgraduate students making up 21% of the student 
population. There were 320 disabled students in 2010.

The statistics of the student population registered in the four 
Colleges are as follows:

College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science 20%

College of Health Sciences 14%

College of Humanities 41 %

College of Law and Management Studies 25 %

Research
UKZN is a research-led University and invests in research infrastructure 
and policies to conduct globally-competitive research. The culture and 
basis for research is now much stronger than it was six years ago and 
continues to strengthen. Research productivity increased by 14% and an 
increase in PhD graduates was noted.

According to the Department of Higher Education Training (DoHET) 
Report in the 2009 Institutional Research Publications Outputs (released 
in 2010), UKZN is ranked third in the country in terms of research 
productivity. UKZN’s SAPSE productivity has grown by 43% over the past 
five years. While the research productivity of the top five universities 
in the country was 62% in 2010, UKZN achieved 12.2% of the national 
productivity and was categorised as Group A. UKZN had the best 

equity profile and was the only university that had undergone a merger 
amongst the “A” group universities in 2010. 

The Women in Research Academy was officially launched and 
it continued with its activities geared towards capacitating women 
academics to publish and manage their careers. Senate approved 
the proposed Institutional Research Focus Areas where expertise has 
been built up during sustained research involving multi-disciplinary 
and international collaborations and where UKZN researchers have 
already made an impact on global research trends.  These areas are: 
Agriculture and Food Security, Biotechnology, Energy and Technology 
for Sustainable Development, Gender, Race and Identity Studies, HIV/
AIDS, TB and Health Promotion, Indigenous African Knowledge Systems, 
Maritime Studies, Social, Development and Economic Studies and Water, 
Environment and Biodiversity.

Summaries of various Research Programmes 
■	 The Faculty of Science and Agriculture continued to lead the 

University in research, and increased its total research productivity 
by 10% in 2010. Researchers in the Faculty continued to dominate, 
with five of the Top 10 positions in the University. Council approved 
two industry funded research chairs in the Faculty of Engineering, 
the eThekwini Chair in Urban Infrastructure and the Umgeni Water 
Chair in Water Resources Management. The Faculty of Science and 
Agriculture has invested in two Liquid Nitrogen plants worth R7 
million and Electron Microscopes valued at R16.5 million.

■	 A significant research breakthrough by Professor Cephas 
Musabayane and Mr Mark Tufts of the School of Medical Sciences 
was the discovery of a new method to administer insulin into the 
bloodstream via a patch.

■	 The results of the landmark CAPRISA 004 study were published 
in the prestigious journal Science by the CAPRISA team based at 
the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine.  The study showed the 
effectiveness and efficacy of Tenofovir gel in the prevention of HIV 
infection in women. The study received worldwide acclaim and was 
cited by Lancet as one of the best papers of 2010 worldwide.

■	 A new project entitled, “Prevention and Improved Diagnosis of 
Female Genital Schistosomiasis in the Ugu District of KwaZulu-
Natal” will establish the extent of female genital bilharzia in the 
district and determine whether yearly treatment of schoolgirls will 
reduce the damage caused by this parasitic infection. The project 
is a partnership between UKZN’s Department of Public Health, 
Oslo University, the University of Agder and Sorlandet Hospital and 
is funded through the University of Copenhagen, by the Bill and 
Melinda Gates Foundation in the amount of US $2.3 million. 

■	 The vibrancy of research activities in the College of Humanities 
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demonstrates its diversity of disciplines. Research areas include 
poverty, political economy, gender, race, identity, food security, 
language, HIV/AIDS, teacher identity, democracy and governance, 
football, indentured Indian workers, African literature and history, 
migration, history, culture and medical sociology. This research 
led to a number of publications in both national and international 
journals and by academic press houses. 

■ There was a considerable increase in the research productivity of 
the College of Law and Management Studies. In terms of the latest 
available audited data (2009) the total productivity units based on 
the top four submissions to the Department of Higher Education 
and Training (DoHET) (articles, books, chapters, and conference 
proceedings) increased from 6225.00 to 7788.25 year-on-year (an 
increase of 25%).  

Awards and Achievements
■ Professor Deresh Ramjugernath received the 2010 Vice-Chancellor’s 

Research Award in recognition of his excellence in research. He was 
also the recipient of the National Science and Technology Forum 
(NSTF) Award in the category of Male Researcher for Research 
Capacity Development. 

■ Professors Jamshid Moori, David Ward and Ruth Teer-Tomaselli 
were awarded the University Fellowship in recognition of their 
distinguished contribution to research. 

■ Masters Geological Sciences student, Mr Warwick Hastie, received 
the John Handley Award for the best thesis submitted to a South 
African University in 2009, and the Corstorphine Medal affirms that 
his thesis was of high international standard. 

■ Dr Alistair McCormick won the South African Association of 
Botanists (SAAB) Bronze Medal for producing the best Plant Science 
PhD Thesis in South Africa. 

■ Professor Johannes van Staden received the M T Steyn Medal for 
Natural Sciences and Technical Achievement and the 2010 Gold 
Medal of the Southern African Association for the Advancement of 
Science (S2A3).

■ The number of researchers with NRF rating increased from 179 
(2009) to 204 (2010). About 25% of NRF rated researchers were 
female. 

Funding
A total of R312 million was received for research grants and contracts in 
2010 compared to R266 million in 2009. In addition, UKZN received R11.3 
million in 2010, compared to R12.2 million in 2009, through the NRF 
Research Infrastructure Support Programme. 

Access to financial aid
The Student Funding Centre (SFC) operates on the five campuses of the 
University. The Centre allocates funding to three main categories of 
students throughout the University. In 2010 funding was allocated as 
follows: 

Loans Bursaries Scholarships

R212.8 million
for 6 772 students

R173.3 million
for 5 884 students

R42.8 million
for 3 057 students

Average: R31 422 Average: R29 450 Average: R13 907

Changes in tuition fees
Following negotiations with the Student Representatives Councils, it 
was agreed that tuition fees be increased by 5.7% in line with prevailing 
inflation.

Conclusion
I wish to thank all members of Senate for their participation at Senate 
meetings. More importantly, I thank members for the robust debates 
and innovative ideas that are critical in a dynamic Higher Education 
environment.

Professor M W Makgoba
Vice-Chancellor and Chair of senate



Professor francesco Petruccione, 
Director of UKZN’s Centre for 
Quantum Technology at Durban’s 
Moses Mabhida stadium.
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InSTITUTIOnAL 
FORUM

REPORT OF THE

Dr S B Higgins-Opitz

A University with an active Institutional 
Forum is reflective of the extent to which 
the Institution is meeting its social and moral 
obligations.

“ “
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T
he Institutional Forum (IF) has a 
very important role to play and 
can contribute significantly to the 
achievements of Higher Education 

Institutions. The IF at the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) is composed of 
representatives of: academic and support 
staff; students; trade unions; the UKZN 
Council; Senate; the Registrar’s Office; and 
Convocation. 

The IF met four times during 2010. As 
a rule, the entire University community is 
invited to submit items to every meeting 
of the IF. The minutes of each meeting, 
once approved by the IF, are placed on 
the University’s website.  It is gratifying 
to be able to report that, building on the 
endeavours of the previous chairperson, 
Professor Kesh Govinder, and through a 
deliberate and concerted campaign, the IF is 
finally able to achieve quorate meetings. 

According to the UKZN Statute, the role 
of the IF is to advise Council on a number of 
issues, such as:
■ the implementation of the Higher 

Education Act and the national policy on 
Higher Education; 

■ race, gender and equity policies;
■ the selection of candidates for senior 

management positions;
■ codes of conduct, mediation and dispute 

resolution procedures;
■ the fostering of an institutional culture 

which promotes tolerance and respect for 
fundamental human rights and creates 
an appropriate environment for teaching, 
research and learning; 

■ the Language Policy of the University.

In 2010 the UKZN Council, via the Senate, 
sought advice from the IF on two matters 
that emanated from the Report of the 
Ministerial Committee on Transformation 
and Social Cohesion and the Elimination of 
Discrimination in Public Higher Education 

Institutions and the Governance and 
Academic Freedom Report and which were 
highlighted in the University’s Transformation 
Charter and Racism Policy, namely the 
promotion of Academic Freedom and 
improving the Institutional Climate.

Through the IF, the University’s Language 
Board (championing and guiding the 
development of a bilingual University) has 
been given impetus. A representative of the 
IF was part of the UKZN’s delegation to the 
Higher Education Summit in April 2010. The 
IF made inputs into the review of the UKZN 
College Model and the recently adopted 
UKZN Transformation Charter and Race 
and Racism Policy. In addition, the issues of 
Institutional Culture and Academic Freedom 
have been discussed and a suggested 
framework to address these is currently 
being developed. These issues will be further 
debated in 2011 throughout the University 
under the umbrella of the Forum. 

A University with an active Institutional 
Forum is reflective of the extent to which the 
Institution is meeting its social and moral 
obligations. The IF at UKZN and its activities 
are thus reflective of the “health” of the 
Institution. The entrenchment of autonomy 
is central to the fulfillment of the mandate of 
the IF as envisaged by the Higher Education 
Act. One way of tackling this challenge is 
via the Department of Higher Education and 
Training (DoHET) IF Reference Group, but 
it is important to appreciate that it should 
also be embarked on at an institutional 
level.  As we progress through 2011 and 
face the challenges which are before us, it 
is important that members of the University 
community continue to participate and 
support the endeavours of the IF.  

Dr s b higgins-opitz
Chairperson, institutional forum 

Dr s b higgins-opitz
Chairperson, institutional forum
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We are four years into the Strategic Plan and the 
Executive recognises the significant progress that 
the University has made in achieving the set goals. 
More importantly, it found the Plan a poignant and 
important blueprint of advancing transformation at 
many levels of the University’s vision and mission.

“ “
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T
he College Review, the newly 
appointed Executive members and 
the financial turnaround represent 
the highlights of 2010.

Plans, Goals and 
Objectives for 2010
The University has developed a 10-year 
Strategic Plan, with seven strategic Goals.  
These Goals are reviewed annually to assess 
achievements, progress and relevance and 
make improvements where necessary.  

The Goals are: african-led globalisation; 
responsible Community engagement; 
Pre-eminence in research; excellence 
in Teaching and Learning; institution of 
Choice for students; institution of Choice 
for staff; and efficient and effective 
Management. 

The Executive Retreat held on 25-26 
February provided the first opportunity for the 
new Executive to engage with one another, 
on the strategic issues facing the Institution.  
The strategic objectives of the University 
during 2009 were reviewed; and key 
performance areas (KPAs) for each executive 
member in 2010 were discussed in the context 
of the strategic goals.The retreat served as 
a successful bonding exercise for the new 
Executive with a shared, common purpose, 
and belief that they could draw on the 
support of one another in achieving individual 
and shared objectives.

The design and method of assessment 
of executive KPAs was discussed.  In terms 
of 2010 KPAs, the Remuneration Committee 
(REMCO) had requested the establishment of 
a 360 degree assessment process.  Some of 
the benefits of 360 degree assessments are 
that senior managers develop an awareness of 
Divisions other than their own, transparency 
would be promoted in that more people would 
become aware of the way in which members 
of the Executive are assessed and additional 

viewpoints would be considered as part of the 
overall assessment. A 360 degree assessment 
process would also serve to assess behaviour 
patterns.

The Executive KPAs are more strategic 
rather than operational, and in general each 
Executive member would have between four 
and six KPAs. Each KPA was aligned with one 
of the strategic goals of the University, and 
these differed according to the priorities within 
Portfolios. It was recognised that KPAs should 
focus on what will be achieved in the current 
year.  

Goals 1 & 2 are driven at the School 
and Discipline levels.  An assessment at the 
School and Discipline levels has shown an 
overall improvement on each of these two 
Goals. Community Engagement projects are 
being undertaken by a number of academics 
and these inform the teaching, research 
and service components of the University. 
African Scholarship as a concept has become 
translated and embedded in processes of 
our curricula transformation, some of our 
course offerings and our publications. The 
University’s scholarship is informed and 
takes comparative advantage of meaningful 
community engagement.

Overall 85% of these KPAs were achieved. 
Furthermore, the scores showed that on 
average 92% of the Executives’ subordinates 
met their section’s objectives.

The average attendance at Executive 
meetings during 2010 was 87%. This is 
important for providing leadership, decision-
making and good governance. Taking all 
the factors into account, the University’s set 
Plans and Objectives for 2010 were met at the 
level of 90%.

We are four years into the Strategic Plan 
and the Executive recognises the significant 
progress that the University has made in 
achieving the set goals. More importantly, 
it found the Plan a poignant and important 
blueprint of advancing transformation at many 
levels of the University’s vision and mission.

Professor M W Makgoba
Vice-Chancellor and Principal
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Efficient and Effective Management
A simplified, efficient committee system was established for 
implementation from 2010, and led to substantial savings in transport 
costs and staff time. The new Support Sector Board facilitated co-
ordination of the operations of the support sector. 

Emphasis was placed on addressing quality and administrative and 
decision-making processes were streamlined, with responsibility and 
accountability increasingly devolved.  Operationalisation of new policies 
remained a challenge where staff adhere to traditional methods. 

An effective and transparent planning and budgeting cycle was 
implemented.  This led to smooth budgeting processes and timeous, 
devolved disbursement of annual allocations. The University has now 
reduced its cost centres from 22 000 to 10 000. This is an ongoing and 
transparent process. 

Arising from the Senate Report on actions for implementation 
emanating from the Governance and Academic Freedom Committee 
(GAFC) Report and ministerial reports, 25 specific actions, many of which 
form part of Executive KPAs as well as the Strategic Plan of the University, 
were discussed. Progress on each of these action points were reported as 
standing items on the agenda of the Senate and Council.  At the end of 
2010, 21 of the 25 action points had been completed and included the:
■	 Development of a Transformation Charter; 
■	 Institutionalisation of ongoing dialogue on all aspects of 

transformation and organisational culture; 
■	 Development of the Policy on Race and Racism;
■	 External Review of the College Model.

External Review of the College Model
The College Model has been in place for six years and on the resolution 
of Council the external review process was initiated with a view to effect 
international best practice in organisational structure. It is an imperative 
to which we as the University community committed ourselves at the 
beginning of the merger to realise the vision to become “The Premier 
University of African Scholarship” and it is to this end that the review 
was initiated.

The Review by an external panel of experts who have first-
hand experience of College models, and/or who are specialists in 
organisational structures and operations was conducted from 30 August 
to 3 September 2010. Staff in the academic and support sectors across 
the five campuses participated in the interview sessions led by Professor 
Mzamo Mangaliso who holds the position of Professor at Isenberg 
School of Management at the University of Massachusetts in the United 
States.

I am pleased to report that Council approved the external 
review report of the College Model, the Senate-approved Executive 

Implementation Plan and the additional input made by the Senate at a 
meeting held on 3 December 2010.

The appointment of a dedicated task team to operationalise the 
Executive Plan for Implementation was recommended. 

The Transformation Charter
In response to the Ministerial Report on Social Cohesion and 
Transformation and the Governance and Academic Freedom Committee 
Reports it was agreed at a meeting of Senate in February 2010 to 
appoint Professor Deo Jaganyi to chair a representative sub-committee 
charged with the task of drafting a Transformation Charter for the 
University. The Committee comprised a member of the SRC, Institutional 
Forum, Union, a Head of School and a Council representative. The 
Committee concluded its mandate and submitted the Charter to the 
Senate for consideration and approval. The Senate-approved Charter 
was forwarded to Council and was adopted at the meeting held on 3 
December 2010. Broadly, the Transformation Charter articulates the 
University’s aspirations and states the seminal features of UKZN.

Policy on Race and Racism
The most significant finding in the Ministerial Report on Transformation 
in the Higher Education Sector (generally referred to as the “Soudien” 
report) and for which a firm recommendation was made, is the pervasive 
racism and sexism within South African Higher Education Institutions.

As a result of the findings and recommendations of the Soudien 
report, the University resolved to put in place a formal policy on race 
and racism, in particular what constitutes racism, the University’s stance 
and management of racism, and the manner in which instances of 
racism shall be dealt with and resolved.

The University appointed a team of external legal experts in 
the field. This team drafted the policy after undertaking extensive 
international research, to ensure that the policy, when benchmarked, 
accords with best international practice. The policy has been the subject 
of discussion and deliberation at the Staffing Committee (SC), the Joint 
Consultative Forum (JCF), the Executive Management Committee (EMC), 
the Central Students’ Representative Council (CSRC) and the Office 
of the Executive Dean of Students. All these structures approved the 
principles of the policy.

The policy served before the University Council at its meeting of  
3 December 2010 and was approved in principle. 

The Council complimented the University management for their 
decision to formulate and implement a formal University Policy on Race 
and Racism, noting that this University was the first Higher Education 
Institution to do so, and in accordance with best international practice.
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Managerial and Administrative 
Achievements
During 2010, six new members of the Executive took up their positions 
and are making important contributions to the University’s Vision and 
Mission. 

A leading academic from Johns Hopkins University in the United 
States, Professor William Bishai was appointed the first substantive 
Director of the KwaZulu-Natal Research Institute for TB and HIV 
(K-RITH). 

The University improved its enrolment in 2010 through a process of 
continuous engagement with the Executives and Deans. Postgraduate 
registration at Masters and PhD levels continues to improve. 
Improvements were made to the postgraduate enrolment plan.  

Graduation 2010 consisted of 19 ceremonies held over seven days 
from 16-23 April 2010. 8 156 students graduated, of whom 54% were 
African and 59% female. 27% were postgraduates and 10% were 
Masters or doctoral candidates.   

Research
In 2010, there were a number of significant research achievements 
which demonstrated the increasing stature of UKZN as a research-led 
institution in line with its mission and vision. 
■	 The CAPRISA 004 study results on tenofovir gel as a potential 

effective method of prevention against HIV/AIDS for women, 
received both national and international acclaim. Science 
considered it to be one of the Top Ten Scientific Breakthroughs in 
2010. In Nature it was one of the top science news stories for the 
year. The Lancet readers voted the publication the second best most 
likely to influence practice and research. 

■	 In July 2010, the Centre for Quantum Technology (CQT) installed 
and operated a secure network using quantum base encryption 
technology, to link Moses Mabhida Stadium and the Durban Joint 
Operations Centre, during the 2010 FIFA World Cup. This was the 
first public global event to successfully use the encryption solution.

■	 During 2010 Phase 1 of the K-RITH Building Project at the Medical 
School campus was completed.  Phase 2 of the project - the 
construction of the seven storey, 6 000 square meter, K-RITH 
Building commenced at the end of October. The completion date 
for the building is currently May 2012 and the commissioning 
completion date is scheduled for September 2012.

■	 According to the Department of Higher Education and Training 
(DoHET) Report in the 2009 Institutional Research Publications 
Outputs (released in 2010), UKZN is ranked third in the country and 
it contributed about 12.2% of the research publication output in 

the country. The 2009 publications output increased by about 13% 
over the 2008 output, and for the first time in the history of UKZN, 
the per capita research output exceeded the national norm by 12%. 
Institutionally, the proportion of publishing staff increased from 
69% (2008) to 73% (2009). The per capita research productivity 
increased from 78% in 2008 to 95% in 2009. 

■ According to the Academic Ranking of World Universities (ARWU), 
UKZN maintained its position in the top 500 listing of Universities 
of the world, and was also ranked third nationally and regionally in 
Africa. 

■	 UKZN was the only institution from South Africa, to be invited to the 
launch of the United Nations Academic Impact (UNAI) Initiative. It 
also successfully bid to coordinate Principle 8 of the UNAI which is 
addressing poverty through education. 

Teaching and Learning
The University Teaching and Learning Office has continued to expand its 
activities and reach in the University to improve and strengthen the core 
activity of teaching and learning across Colleges and Schools as well as 
working with support sector entities to enhance student learning and 
experiences in the University.

As part of its vision and mission of being a research led-university, 
the University Teaching and Learning Office (UTLO) provided funding for 
research and innovation in teaching and learning. A new innovation and 
quality enhancement grant was introduced in 2010, which together with 
applications for the Teaching and Learning Competitive Research Grant 
(introduced in 2009), resulted in R824 115 being awarded to staff in the 
University in 2010 on the basis of 18 successful proposals.

Research and scholarship on teaching and learning is presented in 
the rapidly growing Annual Teaching & Learning Conference now in its 
fourth year.  The 2010 Conference saw a sharp growth from 50 papers 
and workshop presentations in 2009 to 140 and was attended by some 
300 delegates, 75% of whom were staff or students from within the 
University. Based on a conference theme of “Diversity, Transformation 
and the Student Experience in Higher Education Teaching & Learning”, 
a number of papers presented at the Conference have been developed 
further through capacity development. 

The UTLO also co-ordinated the University Enrollment Plans (2011-
13) as well as reports on access/foundation programmes for submission 
to the Department of Higher Education and Training. As part of its 
Curriculum Transformation initiative, the Vice-Chancellor and Deputy 
Vice-Chancellors convened a University-wide Heads of School Workshop 
jointly for Research and Teaching & Learning. A range of initiatives that 
emerged has been taken forward from this workshop. A related aspect 
was that of resuscitating the University Language Board by amending 
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its terms of reference and composition. The Board met in November 
2010 and two posts: Director (Language Planning & Development) and 
Language Planning Co-ordinator were in the process of being approved.   
The use of isiZulu in University publications and on the website is being 
progressively introduced. 

Staffing Levels
In 2010 the University was successful in attracting a total of 225 staff 
– an overall attraction rate of 6.6%, of which African staff represented 
52%.  

Equity
The Policy on Race and Racism and the Transformation Charter 
were developed and approved in 2010. These policies underpin the 
University’s Employment Equity Plan towards 2014 that was completed 
and submitted according to legislative guidelines and provides a 
framework for dealing with transformation challenges. This also enables 
the implementation of the University’s Sustainable Inclusion initiatives. 
In addition, the policies guide the critical transformation at all levels of 
both academic and support staff, and plans and programmes are being 
developed to accelerate our progress.  

In contrast to 2009, UKZN showed a 10% improvement in senior 
management for Africans, with African females’ representation staying 
below 5% and 20% in middle and junior management respectively. The 

review confirmed a comparative reflection, that at junior, middle and 
senior management levels, both Indians and Whites are still hugely 
over-represented relative to their respective national and regional 
economically active population statistics; as provided by Statistics South 
Africa - see the figure below. 

Quality of Information available to 
Management
The Division of Management Information has continued to provide 
high-quality data and information. We have been able to provide 
information to the Times Higher Education (THE), Academic Rankings of 
World Universities (ARWU) and Quacquarelli Symonds (QS) University 
Ranking systems and provide updates on our institutional data for our 
website. The general quality of information available to management 
has improved and continues to improve through the Division of 
Management Information.

Student Services and Extra-
Curricular Activities
The University’s Student Counselling Centres provide a wide range of 
counselling support to students who are faced with diverse challenges. 
In 2010 the section focused its attention on financial hardships, 
bereavement and the impact of HIV/AIDS, and the under-preparedness 
for the academic demands of the University. 

employment equity Profile as at 31 December 2010

EAP as per Quarterly Labour Force Survey (3rd Quarter 2009).
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The Disability Support Units (DSUs) on the five campuses provide 
academic support to students with both temporary and permanent 
disabilities. Efforts were made to ensure that students with disabilities 
have equal access to academic programmes, thereby maximising 
opportunities for their personal growth and development. In 2010 a 
Disability Audit was conducted which looked at access to facilities for 
disabled students.

The University places emphasis on career counseling and 
development programmes. Student employment, graduate recruitment 
and career exhibitions provide career exploration and work experience 
opportunities for students to broaden their exposure, test their 
interests, stimulate career planning, consolidate decisions and develop 
effective work abilities and competencies.  These activities also facilitate 
the transition from University to the world of work.  Students were 
exposed to opportunities for full-time and part-time jobs.

In 2010 plans were implemented to assist students on ARVs to 
receive treatment in the University Health Clinics. In addition to the 
normal primary health care services, the Campus Health Clinics have 
undertaken to comply with Government campaigns on mass HIV testing 
and male medical circumcision.

In 2010 UKZN accommodated 28% of the overall contact student 
population in University-owned residences. The number of beds 
increased from 6 925 beds in 2009 to 7 057 beds in 2010, due to a new 
Medical School Residence on the Pietermaritzburg campus.  Student 
Housing has built Study Lan and wireless network facilities in a number 
of residences. 

Through UKZN Sports Administration, students participate in a 
range of sporting activities. Students participating in cricket, tennis, 
athletics, hockey and squash were selected to the national team. A 
member of the Canoe Club won the 2010 Duzi Canoe Marathon. 

The 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup provided the Department with 
an opportunity to participate in a global event. Students and staff 
volunteered their services to assist during the World Cup games.

UKZN Rugby has been given the opportunity to play in the FNB 
Varsity Shield tournament. 2010 was a preparatory year in which 
the UKZN team was selected and training and coaching was done in 
preparation for the competition that would start in 2011. 

The membership of UKZN Students in Free Enterprise (SIFE) grew 
from 96 active members in 2009 to 136 in 2010. In 2010, SIFE-UKZN 
organised 25 projects, in eight programmes ranging from agricultural, to 
technology and engineering. These projects were conducted nationally 
and internationally. SIFE-UKZN has won the South African National 
Champion Competition three times and was a World Cup Semi-Finalist 
three times. In 2010 they received the eThekwini Mayoral Award in the 
Community Development category.

Relationships with the Community 
Through a range of academic programmes the University continues its 
critical link with communities.

Approximately 350 community outreach projects are managed by 
UKZN, ranging from HIV and AIDS projects, to upgrading the skills of 
Science and Mathematics teachers, to food security and community 
tourism projects. 

The Deputy Vice-Chancellor and Head of the College of Agriculture, 
Engineering and Science, Professor Rob Slotow is leading a task team 
in the Executive Management Committee to focus on the community 
engagement aspect of the University’s work. One of the activities that 
the task team undertook in 2010 is a survey of community engagement 
projects taking place in the University.

Changing Patterns in the Provision
of Academic Courses
Very few new programmes are being proposed and approved as the 
University focuses on consolidating its existing programmes in the 
post merger period and as the new Higher Education Qualification 
Framework is implemented.

Conclusion
In summary, UKZN made significant strides in 2010. It improved its 
research productivity and maintained its position amongst the top 
500 universities of the World; UKZN improved its student’s enrolment, 
student monitoring and evaluation system; it identified 25 Action Points 
to address transformation and discrimination within its community 
arising from the Report of the Ministerial Committee on Transformation 
and Social Cohesion and the Elimination of Discrimination in Public 
Higher Education Institutions. The University graduated 8 156 students 
in various disciplines, achieved a significant reduction in the budget 
deficit and posted a net surplus.

The achievements were made possible through the guidance 
and support of Council and the Senate, and the commitment of the 
University’s staff and students. I am particularly grateful to the Chair 
of Council, Mr Mac Mia and the Vice-Chair of Council, Ms Phumla 
Mnganga for their guidance and unwavering commitment to the vision 
and mission of UKZN. I am also grateful to have an executive team of 
passionate and dedicated colleagues who have driven the objectives set 
by the Council in early 2010.

Professor M W Makgoba
Vice-Chancellor and Principal
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The first Director of K-riTh 
Professor William bishai

The KwaZulu-natal Research Institute for Tuberculosis and HIV (K-RITH) 
building under construction on the Medical School campus.

a mosaic feature

PH
O

TO
 S

U
PP

LI
ED

PH
O

TO
: R

AJ
ES

H 
JA

N
TI

LA
L

PH
O

TO
 S

U
PP

LI
ED

Phase 2 under construction



University of KwaZulu-Natal Annual Report 2010 34

InTERnAL COnTROL  
AnD RISK MAnAGEMEnT 

REPORT On

Mrs L Francois

““The University Council, under the direction of the 
Audit and Risk Committee, successfully set up an 
Ombud’s Office during 2010. The Ombud’s Office 
reports functionally to Council and administratively 
to the Corporate Governance Division.



35 The Premier University of African Scholarship

T
he Audit and Risk Committee, acting 
on behalf of the University Council, 
is responsible for overseeing the 
University’s systems of control and, 

together with the Finance Committee, for 
ensuring that management has implemented 
a risk management process that is both 
adequate and effective in providing 
reasonable assurance against material loss 
and misstatement.

Systems of Internal 
Control
The University maintains systems of internal 
control to safeguard its assets against 
unauthorised acquisition, use or disposition, 
and to ensure that proper accounting records 
are maintained. Such systems are designed 
to provide reasonable assurance to all 
University stakeholders and, in particular, to 
Council regarding the integrity and reliability 
of financial information, the protection of 
the University’s assets, and the efficient 
and effective use of its resources. These 
systems, inter alia, include documented 
organisational structures; a clear delineation 
of responsibilities, including the devolution of 
authority, as appropriate; established policies 
and procedures; and codes of conduct that 
are conducive to fostering a strong ethical 
climate. The efficacy of these systems 
is dependent in part on the calibre and 
commitment of the University’s leadership 
and management; in part on clear, consistent 
and timely communication of information 
throughout the University; and in part on the 
careful selection, training and development 
of its staff.

Information technology systems utilised 
by the University have been developed 
and implemented according to defined and 
documented standards to achieve efficiency, 
effectiveness, reliability and security. 
Accepted standards are applied to protect 

the privacy of, and ensure the control over, 
all data. As far as is practicable, systems are 
also designed to promote ease of use for all 
users. The development, maintenance and 
operation of all systems are under the control 
of competently trained staff. In utilising 
electronic technology to conduct transactions 
with staff, students and third parties, the 
relevant controls and procedures are designed 
and implemented to minimise the risk of fraud 
or error.

Internal Audit
The role of Internal Audit Services is to 
provide independent assurance on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 
control systems, including financial 
controls, on an ongoing basis and to report 
their findings and recommendations to 
management, the Audit and Risk Committee 
and Council. Management endeavours to 
ensure that appropriate and timely corrective 
actions are taken to address control 
deficiencies and that other opportunities to 
improve these systems are pursued as far as 
is practicable. 

The focus of the Internal Audit Plan 
during 2010 was assisting management 
in the development of minimum-controls 
framework for various processes within the 
Finance Division. The testing of the effective 
implementation and functioning of these 
minimum controls has been included as part 
of the 2011 Internal Audit Plan. The 2010 
Internal Audit Plan also included a series 
of operational and financial controls and 
compliance reviews. These reviews have 
revealed a number of control weaknesses, 
which have been reported to management 
and the Audit and Risk Committee. 
Management has undertaken to give effect to 
remedial actions and action dates, the status 
of which is monitored on an ongoing basis by 
Internal Audit Services.

Mrs L francois
Chair of the audit and risk Committee
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IT governance reviews were also included in the 2010 Internal Audit 
Plan, The objective of these were two-fold: first to provide assurance 
around the effectiveness of critical IT controls, and secondly in assisting 
management in the preparation for the King III requirements around 
effective IT structures and governance.

Over the past years, progress was made in enhancing the control 
environment by the development, approval and implementation of a 
formal fraud policy and the introduction of a “whistleblowing” service. 
The latter is an independently administered service and provides 
University stakeholders with a hotline facility to anonymously report 
fraud, deviations from procurement and other policies, all forms of 
misconduct and other alleged irregularities, which are then investigated 
as appropriate.

The University Council, under the direction of the Audit and Risk 
Committee, successfully set up an Ombud’s Office during 2010. The 
Ombud’s Office reports functionally to Council and administratively to 
the Corporate Governance Division.

Council took a decision to establish the Litigation Management 
Committee with a view to strengthening the control environment 
in dealing with litigation matters at the University. The Litigation 
Management Committee comprises of three office bearers and a 
member of the Audit and Risk Committee, who also serves as the 
Chair.  This Committee reports to Council through the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

There are inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any system 
of internal control, including the possibility of human error and 
the circumvention, or overriding, of controls. Accordingly, even 
an effective internal control system can provide only reasonable 
assurance with respect to the safeguarding of assets and financial 
statement preparation. Notwithstanding such limitations, the Audit 
and Risk Committee, acting for and on behalf of Council, has obtained 
appropriate representations from management, internal audit and 
external audit, which provided reasonable assurance regarding the 
integrity and reliability of the Annual Financial Statements.

Risk Management
Council is very aware of its responsibility and accountability concerning 
the identification of and mitigation against risk. In order to embed 
risk management into the business, the process for risk management 
across the University has been delegated to the Executives of the 
structures with the responsibility of incorporating the activities related 
to this function into the normal course of operations. Management is 
responsible to Council for designing, implementing and monitoring 
the process of risk management and this is considered to be a key 

performance area, both collectively and also individually for members of 
the Executive.

To monitor compliance with the aforementioned strategy Council 
has approved, within the Corporate Governance Division, a “Risk and 
Compliance” function which, inter alia, will be responsible for ensuring 
the following process:
■ Approval of an “Enterprise Risk Management Framework”.
■ Maintenance of risk registers at a corporate level and for each of 

the academic and support sectors.
■ Appointment of risk champions for each sector.
■ Monitoring compliance to risk mitigation programmes.
■ Providing education and training on risk management throughout 

the organisation.

During the year under review, an integrated Enterprise Risk 
Management Framework was developed based on best practice and 
taking into account the University risk management environment. 

These processes will enable the Audit and Risk Committee to 
receive regular and independent assurance on the effectiveness of the 
University’s risk management activities.

The University’s policy with regard to insurance and risk cover is set 
and monitored by the Finance Committee. The University is a participant 
in a national consortium of Higher Education Institutions (TERISA), 
which provides both cost effective insurance and service expertise. 
Consequently, it is adequately covered in terms of its insurance policy 
against fire and related risks, accidental damage, business interruption, 
theft, employee infidelity, and both public and employer’s liability.

Financial Risk
Decisions on the level of financial risk undertaken are made by the 
University’s Finance Committee and enforced by the Chief Finance 
Officer and the Finance Division in terms of established limits by 
reference to the particular transaction type and are based on an 
assessment, in each case, of the values and the counter-parties 
involved. Financial risks faced by the University include credit risk, 
liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and investment risk. 
As far as these can be assessed and quantified, the respective levels of 
exposure and the measures taken to mitigate such risks are described in 
the notes to the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements.

Mrs L francois
Chair of the audit and risk Committee
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REGISTRAR’S  
DIVISIOn
Professor J J Meyerowitz

““Management Information was integrated into 
the Registrar’s portfolio during 2010 and is 
central in supporting the strategic goal of the 
Division to become the “information hub of the 
University”. 
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T
he Registrar’s Division consists of 
the Office of the Registrar which 
provides administrative and 
secretarial support to Council and 

Senate; Student Academic Administration 
which provides co-ordination and support 
for the administration of students; Legal 
Services which manages employee and 
general litigation matters and considers all 
contracts for soundness and compliance; 
and Management Information which acts 
as custodian of the University’s information 
resources, takes responsibility for all statutory 
reporting to Government and provides 
management information to the University 
management and staff to monitor our 
operations and enhance decision-making.  
The Registrar also ensures compliance with 
the various Acts and Statutes that govern 
the University, with the King III Report on 
Corporate Governance which the University 
of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) has espoused, and 
with the various policies, procedures and 
rules of the University.

The restructured and streamlined 
Council and Senate committee system 
was implemented, and has contributed to 
reducing bureaucracy and shortening the 
decision-making process. A self-evaluation of 
Council and its committees was undertaken 
and has highlighted a few areas for minor 
improvement.

The technology-supported, streamlined 
and student-centred application, selection 
and registration system was further developed 
and enhanced and has proved very successful. 
Selection of new applicants is made efficiently 
by Faculties once National Senior Certificate 
results are released. A call centre and clearing 
houses were piloted to deal with queries, 
late applicants (“walk-ins”) and to provide 
information. The use of cell phone technology 
for rapid communication with applicants 
and students has also improved efficiency. 
The on-line self-help registration system was 

extended and offered for use by all Faculties. 
Not all availed themselves of this service but 
those that did reported increased turnaround 
times, improved student satisfaction and a 
more efficient registration process. Using this 
system, students can register on-line, either 
on campus or from a remote location using 
the Internet.

During 2010 the various sections 
providing legal services of different kinds to 
the University community were consolidated 
into a single Legal Services Department that 
integrates the previously separate sections. 
The new Department deals with employee 
and general litigation as well as contract 
vetting and management. This enables a 
holistic, integrated approach to be taken to 
legal matters and exploits existing synergies 
and competencies.

Management Information was integrated 
into the Registrar’s portfolio during 2010 and 
is central in supporting the strategic goal of 
the Division to become the “information hub 
of the University”. 

Graduation 2010 consisted of 19 
ceremonies held over seven days from  
16-23 April, 2010. Five ceremonies were held 
in Pietermaritzburg and the remainder at 
Westville. The University’s new Chancellor, 
Dr Zweli Mkhize, presided at 10 of the 
ceremonies.

8 156 students graduated, a 3% increase 
over 2009. Of these, 82% attended the 
ceremonies.
■ 27% were postgraduates and 10% were 

masters or doctoral candidates, an 
increase over the 9,5% in 2009;

■ 59% were women, a similar percentage 
to that in 2009;

■ 54% were African, 29% were Indian and 
14% were White;

■ 7% of all students, and 15% of 
postgraduate students, were 
international students; 

■ 182 students who had entered University 

Professor J J Meyerowitz
registrar
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Registrar’s Division // Professor J J Meyerowitz

through an access programme graduated with a Bachelors degree, 
and 49 with a postgraduate qualification.

■ 363 students received degrees cum laude or summa cum laude. Of 
these, 62% were women.

Seven Honorary Doctorates were awarded to: Dr Ousmane Badiane 
(DScAgric), Reverend Jesse Jackson (DLitt), Professor Thamsanqa 
Kambule (DEd, posthumous), Dr Bayragi Naidoo (DSocSc), Mrs Shelagh 
O’Byrne Spencer (DLitt), Mr Joseph Shabalala (DMus) and Dr Imtiaz 
Sooliman (DSocSc). In each case the recipient (or, in the case of the 
posthumous award, a representative of the family) gave the Graduation 
Address.

University Fellowships were awarded to: Professors Jamshid Moori 
and David Ward of the Faculty of Science and Agriculture and Professor 
Ruth Teer-Tomaselli of the Faculty of Humanities, Development and 
Social Sciences. Distinguished Teachers Awards were made to Dr 

Suzanne Francis, Ms Kerry Frizelle and Ms Heidi Matisonn, all of the 
Faculty of Humanities, Development and Social Sciences and Professor 
Deo Jaganyi, Dean of the Faculty of Science and Agriculture.

Guests at the ceremonies were treated to beautiful singing by the 
UKZN Choir and soloists, which showcased the exceptional talent in our 
Opera School and Choral Academy.

A “Fair” coinciding with the ceremonies was introduced for the 
first time in 2010, and reports on this innovation were favourable. 
Photographers and academic wear suppliers formed the core of the Fair, 
which also included a refreshment stand, UKZN memorabilia, and a few 
commercial organisations wanting access to our graduates. 

Professor J J Meyerowitz
registrar

graduation statistics per faculty and category are as follows:

 Doctoral Masters honours bachelors

Postgrad
Diplomas & 
Certificates

Undergrad
Diplomas & 
Certificates ToTaL

Education 21 82 140 329 182 1694 2448

Engineering 8 38 32 366 444

HDSS 43 206 306 1143 38 11 1747

Health Sciences 5 27 55 290  377

Law 5 41  288 11  345

Management Studies 19 112 202 1103 132 1568

Medicine 4 24 23 184 22 257

Science & Agriculture 53 157 186 538 36 970

ToTaL 158 687 944 4241 421 1705 8156
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below: honorary graduate reverend Jesse Jackson and Vice-President of Convocation Mr andré young 
with bachelor of social science graduate Miss Phumelele Masango. 

above: Dr Zinhle Nkosi is capped by Vice-Chancellor, Professor Malegapuru Makgoba.
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““According to the Department of Higher 
Education and Training (DoHET) Report in 
the 2009 Institutional Research Publications 
Outputs (released in 2010), UKZn is ranked third 
in the country in terms of research productivity.

RESEARCH OFFICE
Professor n M Ijumba
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I
n 2010, the operational structure in 
the Research Office was implemented 
by filling many of the posts that were 
approved by the Staffing Committee. 

This included the post of the Director 
for Postgraduate and Research Capacity 
Development, who will be responsible for 
driving institutional initiatives for research 
capacity building and increasing the 
productivity of postgraduate programmes. 
The main operations were streamlined into 
clusters of publications, internal and external 
awards, grants and contracts and ethics. 
Finance, marketing and information systems 
provided support services. The Women in 
Research Academy was officially launched and 
it continued with its activities geared towards 
capacitating women academics to publish and 
manage their careers.

In 2010, there were a number of 
significant research achievements which 
demonstrated the increasing stature of UKZN 
as a research-led institution in line with its 
mission and vision. 

The CAPRISA 004 study results on 
tenofovir gel as a potential effective method 
of prevention against HIV/AIDS for women, 
received both national and international 
acclaim. Science considered it to be one of 
the Top Ten Scientific Breakthroughs in 2010. 
In Nature it was one of the top science news 
stories for the year. The Lancet readers voted 
the publication the second best most likely to 
influence practice and research. 

In July 2010, the Centre for Quantum 
Technology (CQT) installed and operated 
a secure network using quantum-based 
encryption technology, to link the Moses 
Mabhida Stadium and the Durban Joint 
Operations Centre, during the 2010 FIFA World 
Cup. This was the first public global event to 
successfully use the encryption solution.

According to the Department of Higher 
Education and Training (DoHET) Report in 
the 2009 Institutional Research Publications 

Outputs (released in 2010), UKZN is ranked 
third in the country in terms of research 
productivity. The University contributed 
about 12.2% of the research publication 
output in South Africa in 2009. The 2009 
publications output increased by about 
13% over the 2008 output, and for the first 
time in the history of UKZN, the per capita 
research output exceeded the national norm 
by 12%. At Institution level, the proportion 
of publishing staff increased from 69% 
(2008) to 73% (2009). Per capita research 
productivity increased from 78% in 2008 to 
95% in 2009. 

According to the Academic Ranking 
of World Universities (ARWU), UKZN 
maintained its position in the top 500 listing 
of Universities, and was also ranked third 
nationally and regionally (in Africa). UKZN 
was the only institution from South Africa, 
to be invited to the launch of the United 
Nations Academic Impact Initiative (UNAI). It 
also successfully bid to co-ordinate Principle 
8 of the UNAI which is addressing poverty 
through education. 

In 2010, a number of our staff received 
prestigious appointments and awards. 
Professor William Bishai was appointed 
the first substantive Director of the 
KwaZulu-Natal Research Institute for TB 
and HIV/AIDS (K-RITH). Professor Deresh 
Ramjugernath received the 2010 Vice-
Chancellor’s Research Award in recognition 
of his excellence in research. He was also 
the recipient of the National Science and 
Technology Forum (NSTF) Award in the 
category of Male Researcher for Research 
Capacity Development. Professors Jamshid 
Moori, David Ward and Ruth Teer-Tomaselli 
were awarded the University Fellowship 
in recognition of their distinguished 
contribution to research. The number of 
researchers with NRF rating increased from 
179 (2009) to 204 (2010). About 25% of NRF 
rated researchers were female. 

Professor N M ijumba
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: research
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Research Office // Professor n M Ijumba

A total of R312 million was received for research grants and 
contracts in 2010 compared to R266 million in 2009. In addition, UKZN 
received R11.3 million in 2010, compared to R12.2 million in 2009, 
through the NRF Research Infrastructure Support Programme. 

The Intellectual Property and Technology Transfer Office registered, 
in the name of UKZN, a patent for the method of estimating the dry-out 
point of steam generating evaporator, developed by Professor Edward 
Boje, and a design for a surgical hand support device developed by the 
late Professor Edward Bowen-Jones, and Professors Mahindra Dyer and 
Glen Bright.

in 2010 the UKZN Press published 22 titles. A number of UKZN 
Press authors received awards: Peace versus Justice? The Dilemma 
of Transitional Justice in Africa edited by Chandra Lekha Sriram and 
Suren Pillay and co-published with James Currey Publishers, was named 
CHOICE Outstanding Academic Book of the Year;  Kobus Moolman was 

the winner of the Poetry Category of the South African Literary Awards 
(2010) for his collection, Separating the Seas; Guardian of the Light by 
Paddy Kearney won the Andrew Murray-Desmond Tutu Prize 2010;Gcina 
Mhlophe received a SAMA award for her CD Songs and Stories of Africa 
in the category, “Best Kiddies Album: English”; and Gcina Mhlophe 
and William Ndabayakhe Zulu were joint winners in the “Language and 
Literature” category in the PanSALB Multilingualism Awards.   Mhlophe 
was awarded the prize for her translation of her CD, Songs and Stories 
of Africa, into isiZulu (Umcelo Nezindaba Zase-Afrika) and isiXhosa 
(Umcelo Neentsomi Zase-Afrika); while Zulu won the award for Liyoze 
Line Nangakithi, an isiZulu adaptation of his autobiography, Spring Will 
Come. 

Professor N M ijumba
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: research

study Co-principal 
investigator, Professor salim s 
abdool Karim announces the 
results of the CaPrisa 004 
trial at the XViii international 
aids Conference in Vienna in 
July 2010.
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Microbiology Laboratory 
Westville campus
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UnIVERSITy TEACHInG  
AnD LEARnInG OFFICE
Professor R Vithal

““One initiative that has grown considerably and 
become well-established is the Teaching and 
Learning Competitive Research Grant, which 
supports and promotes scholarship in university 
teaching and learning issues.
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T
he University Teaching and Learning 
Office (UTLO), set up in 2008, has 
been fully operational for two years 
and its work in 2010 has expanded in 

a number of directions.  
One initiative that has grown considerably 

and become well-established is the Teaching 
and Learning Competitive Research Grant, 
which supports and promotes scholarship 
in university teaching and learning issues.  
The call for proposals in 2010 yielded 44 
applications and a total of 11 grants to the 
value of R567 415 was disbursed following 
a rigorous peer-review process. Parallel 
to this, a new Teaching Innovations and 
Quality Enhancement Grant was approved 
and launched. It attracted 12 applications 
from various disciplines. Seven successful 
proposals were awarded R256 700.

Teaching and learning-related research, 
development and practices are discussed 
and disseminated through the annual 
Teaching and Learning Conference, now in 
its 4th year. Hosted by  UTLO, this conference 
saw a sharp growth from 50 papers and 
workshop presentations in 2009 to 140 in 
2010. Of the approximately 300 delegates 
who attended the conference 226 (75%) 
were staff or students from the University 
and the remainder from outside included 
international participants. The theme of the 
conference was “Diversity, Transformation 
and the Student Experience in Higher 
Education Teaching & Learning”. For the first 
time, the accredited journal: Alternation will 
carry a special issue of the conference. 

Undergraduate academic monitoring 
and support has been an ongoing focus 
of UTLO and the University Teaching and 
Learning Committee (UTLC) which tabled 
a comprehensive report on undergraduate 
Faculty systems of support, enrolments, 
dropouts, graduation and throughput at the 
November Senate. The Teaching Development 
Grant for 2010 of R215 000 from the 

Department of Higher Education and Training 
(DoHET) was supplemented by R2 247 875 
through a strategic allocation from the 
University’s Main Fund, which was disbursed 
to Faculties on the basis of proposals 
submitted to strengthen implementation 
of their academic monitoring and support 
programmes.

Access programmes were assisted through 
a R7 354 000 Foundation Programmes Grant 
received from the DoHET, which supported more 
than 700 students in the various Foundation 
Programmes on offer in the Faculty of Science 
and Agriculture (R4 550 000), Management 
Studies (R979 000) and Humanities, 
Development and Social Sciences (R1 825 000). 
A further R130 000 awarded from the DoHET 
for Foundation Training assisted 14 staff across 
Faculties who teach on these programmes 
to attend conferences and to host a range of 
workshops for staff development. 

A major project co-ordinated through the 
UTLO was the South African Norway Tertiary 
Education Development (SANTED) – University 
of KwaZulu-Natal Access and Retention 
project (SUKAR 2). Valued at R6.6 million, this 
project was successfully concluded at the end 
of 2010. SUKAR 2 has contributed to shifting 
the focus from broadening initial access to 
greater equity of success. It achieved most of 
its intended outcomes and in some instances 
exceeded expectations in prompting Faculties 
to institutionalise the various sub-projects in 
one form or another.

The Teaching and Learning Seminar Series 
has become one of the signature offerings of 
UTLO which is keenly anticipated and well-
attended by academics across disciplines. The 
following were hosted in 2010: 
■ “What Graduates are saying about their 

higher education experiences: Excavating 
5 years of UKZN graduation data” 

 Seminar: Alison Walker (QPA, UKZN),  
(5 March).

■	 “Short Course Development, Quality 

Professor r Vithal
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching and 
Learning
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University Teaching  and Learning Office // Professor R Vithal

Assurance and Management”
 Symposium: Mr Eddie Brown (SAQA); Dr Johan Swanepoel, (Wits 

Enterprise); Ms Christa North, (University of Pretoria) and Professor 
Dan Archer (UKZN Innovation), (30 March).

■ “Exploring the Frontiers of E-Learning @ UKZN” 
 Technology Forum Symposium: Dr Dale Peters (ICT, UKZN), Ms Ruth 

Searle (CHES, UKZN), Ms Kathy Murrell (ICT, UKZN), Dr Caroline 
Goodier (Management Studies Education Unit, UKZN), Professor 
Ken Harley (OER Africa), Mr Craig Blewitt and Ms Rosemary Quilling, 
(School of Information Systems and Technology, UKZN) (7 May).

■ “National Senior Certificate and First Year Student Performance: 
Implications for University Admissions” 

 Symposium: Professor Volker Wedekind (Faculty of Education, UKZN) 
Professor Poobalan Pillay (School of Mathematical Sciences, UKZN), 
Professor Edith Dempster (Faculty of Education, UKZN) Prof John 
Volmink (Umalusi) (28 May).

■ “Multilingual Education Policy and Practice: Ten Certainties 
Grounded in Indigenous Experience”

 Professor Nancy Hornberger Fulbright Fellow, Professor of Education 
and Director of Educational Linguistics at the University of 
Pennsylvania, an internationally renowned linguist, conducted a series 
of workshops, seminars and consultations with UKZN staff (30 July).

■ “’What do they want from us?’ The tensions between accountability 
demands and professional improvement desires in Higher Education: 
Navigating a constructive path” 

 Professor Victor Borden Fulbright Specialist Professor of Higher 
Education at Indiana University Bloomington and Senior Advisor 
to the Vice-President for University Regional Affairs, Planning, and 
Policy conducted a series of seminars and workshops on institutional 
research (30 September). 

■ “Journal Editors Forum: Getting Published in Higher Education” 
 Professor Nithi Muthukrishna (Journal of Education); Professor Priya 

Narismulu (Alternation); Professor Thidziambi Pendla (Journal of 
Educational Studies); Professor Iben Christensen (African Journal of 
Research in Mathematics, Science and Technology Education)  
(22 October).

Each year four University Distinguished Teachers are recognised at 
the Graduation Ceremonies for their excellence and innovation in 
teaching. In addition, in May 2010 a Distinguished Teachers’ Awards 
dinner was inaugurated by the UTLO for Professor Deogratius Jaganyi, 
(Dean: Faculty of Science and Agriculture); Dr Suzanne Francis, (School 
of Politics); Ms Kerry Frizelle, (School of Psychology) and Ms Heidi 
Matisonn, (School of Philosophy and Ethics). The guest of honour and 
keynote speaker at the dinner was Professor Joseph De Beer (University 
of Johannesburg), himself a recipient of the National Excellence 

in Teaching and Learning Award offered by the Council on Higher 
Education in collaboration with the Higher Education Learning and 
Teaching Association (HELTASA). 

In parallel with the Distinguished Teachers’ Award, a new policy and 
procedures for Distinguished Students’ Awards was approved, which 
will be implemented in 2011. This award will recognise two students 
each year for excellence in both academic achievements and community 
or University service.  

A new Director of Quality Promotions and Assurance (QPA),  
Dr Makhapa Makhafola, was appointed after Dr Denyse Webbstock 
resigned at the end of 2009 to take up a position in the Council on 
Higher Education. Soon after he joined the University in July 2010, 
the QPA Director led the process of organising and co-ordinating the 
External College Review. Also in 2010, two QPA College Consultant posts 
were advertised and candidates appointed to provide a full complement 
of four QPA College Consultants. 

Regrettably, the Open Learning Director, Dr Kogie Naidoo was 
placed on disability leave in May 2010. The Faculty Manager from the 
Faculty of Education, Ms Lindiwe Mzizi, was seconded to the position 
of Acting Director to ensure that the programmes offered through the 
approximately 15 centres across the province, which are mainly Nursing 
and Education in-service programmes, were continued.  

The University Language Board (ULB), which is responsible for 
implementation of the University Language Policy and Plan and which 
had last met in 2008, was resuscitated. Amendments to the composition 
and terms of reference of the ULB were approved by Senate and a 
meeting of the revised ULB was held in November 2010, chaired by the 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching and Learning.

To make progress with the range of initiatives identified in respect of 
teaching and learning, particularly curriculum transformation, a Heads 
of School Workshop was co-hosted in May 2010. An African Scholarship/
Indigenous Knowledge Systems Task Team was subsequently set up 
and has been meeting to develop possible signature modules and 
programmes. 

A successful new initiative was a collaboration between the UTLO 
and the Faculty of Education to offer a PhD in Higher Education Studies. 
The Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching and Leaning and the Dean of the 
Faculty of Education, Professor Michael Samuel, convened meetings 
in both the Durban and Pietermaritzburg centres to invite academics 
who are interested in researching Higher Education aspects of their 
disciplines to apply for the seminar based doctoral cohort programme in 
the Faculty of Education. Some 14 were admitted into the programme at 
the end of 2010. 

Professor r Vithal
Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching and Learning 
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COLLEGE OF  
AGRICULTURE,  
EnGInEERInG  
AnD SCIEnCE
Professor R H Slotow

““With 1 400 staff, including 800 academic and 
specialist support staff, the College has the largest 
group of scientists, engineers and technologists 
under one structure in Africa.  In 2010 our main fund 
budget was over R275 million.
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T
he College of Agriculture, 
Engineering and Science flourished 
in 2010 as it continued to focus on 
meeting the challenges and changing 

needs of the multi-faceted society it serves. 
With 1 400 staff, including 800 academic and 
specialist support staff, the College has the 
largest group of scientists, engineers and 
technologists under one structure in Africa.  
In 2010 our main fund budget was over R275 
million.

A major focus of the College was on 
strategic planning. The Faculty of Science and 
Agriculture approved their strategic plan, 
and the Faculty of Engineering produced a 
business plan which outlines how the Faculty 
would be able to balance their books by 
2015. The College developed a risk register 
exercise which highlights issues that require 
intervention and mitigation plans. 

Awards and 
Achievements
Council approved two industry funded 
research chairs in the Faculty of Engineering: 
the eThekwini Chair in Urban Infrastructure 
and the Umgeni Water Chair in Water 
Resources Management. Our researchers 
continued to receive accolades. Professor 
Deresh Ramjugernath received the Vice-
Chancellor’s Research Award as well as 
the National Science and Technology 
Forum (NSTF) Award for Research Capacity 
Development. Professor Johannes van Staden 
received the M T Steyn Medal for Natural 
Sciences and Technical Achievement and the 
2010 Gold Medal of the Southern African 
Association for the Advancement of Science 
(S2A3). Professor Pat Berjak received the 
eThekwini Municipality’s Living Legend 
Award in the Conservation category for 
her contributions to seed science research. 
Masters Geological Sciences student, Mr 
Warwick Hastie, received the John Handley 

Award for the best thesis submitted to a 
South African University in 2009, and the 
Corstorphine Medal affirms that his thesis 
was of high international standard. Dr 
Alistair McCormick won the South African 
Association of Botanists (SAAB) Bronze 
Medal for producing the best Plant Science 
PhD Thesis in South Africa. Dr Helen Watson 
received one of the three 2010 Distinguished 
Teachers’ Awards.

Campus Development
The School of Biochemistry, Genetics and 
Microbiology moved into their R20 million 
refurbished facilities on the Westville 
campus, the last of the merger moves to 
be completed. In 2010 the College decided 
to initiate teaching and research in the 
Discipline of Genetics on the Westville 
campus. Three academic posts were 
released for filling, and offices and research 
laboratories were approved for refurbishment 
to state-of-the-art levels. This will form a 
major strategic investment as we hope to 
grow our contribution to solving health 
problems in KwaZulu-Natal. The focus of the 
Discipline will be a linkage with the major 
medical research institutes and the College of 
Health Sciences.

Teaching and Learning
Enrolments in 2010 continued to increase, 
and the Faculty of Science and Agriculture 
met their Department of Higher Education 
and Training (DoHET) target of 5 495 
students three years ahead of schedule. 
Four of UKZN’s Engineering programmes – 
Chemical, Computer, Electrical and Electronic 
Engineering – were granted full accreditation 
until 2013 by the Engineering Council of 
South Africa (ECSA).  Agricultural and Civil 
Engineering already have full accreditation 
until 2013 and Mechanical Engineering 

Professor r h slotow
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of 
College



University of KwaZulu-Natal Annual Report 2010 52

has accreditation until 2011. First year students were admitted to 
the Bachelor of Agriculture in Agricultural Extension, a new three-
year undergraduate programme that is a partnership between UKZN 
and the Department of Agriculture,  Environmental Affairs and Rural 
Development. The degree is offered at their Cedara campus, near 
Pietermaritzburg, and is taught by staff from both institutions.

Research
The Faculty of Science and Agriculture continued to lead the University 
in research, and increased its total research productivity by 10% in 2010. 
Researchers in the Faculty continued to dominate, with five of the top 10 
positions in the University. 

The College continues to invest in major research infrastructure, 
and commissioned two Liquid Nitrogen plants (R7 million), one in each 
centre within the Faculty of Science and Agriculture. We also ordered 
Electron Microscopes to the value of R16.5 million.  In terms of teaching 
infrastructure, the sod was turned on the R16 million Engineering and 
Technology UNITE Centre.

The African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI) celebrated the 
graduation of its fourth cohort of students since its inception.  Seven 

College of  Agriculture,  Engineering  and Science // Professor R H Slotow

southern African students graduated with PhD degrees in Plant Breeding 
that will equip them to tackle some of Africa’s most dire problems. The 
work of previous ACCI graduates has already had a significant impact 
in communities in southern and eastern Africa.  They have delivered 
new crop cultivars, improved the skills of plant breeders and raised 
the status of plant breeders and scientists at research stations and 
government agencies.

A highlight of the year was when the School of Physics’ Centre for 
Quantum Technology (CQT) partnered with the eThekwini Municipality 
to provide unprecedented communication security to Durban’s FIFA 
2010 World Cup operations. Their Quantum Stadium Project, which 
was officially launched by the Minister of Science and Technology, Mrs 
Naledi Pandor, used quantum cryptography to ensure that all forms 
of communication between Durban’s Moses Mabhida Stadium and its 
offsite operations centre were ultra-secure.  The 2010 World Cup was the 
first public global event to use a quantum-based encryption solution.

Professor r h slotow
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of College
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COLLEGE OF 
HEALTH SCIEnCES
Professor T S Pillay

““The College is unique on the continent in having 
received significant investments from the Howard 
Hughes Medical Institute, the Wellcome Trust, 
the national Institutes of Health and the Bill and 
Melinda Gates Foundation, the four largest funders of 
biomedical research in the world. 
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T
he year 2010 marked the centenary 
of Higher Education in KwaZulu-
Natal. As part of the Centenary 
Celebrations, the College 

commemorated the 60th anniversary of 
the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine 
with a range of events. These included a 
Research Symposium, the 60th  Anniversary 
Clinical Conference, a Steve Biko 
Commemorative Lecture  and a Cultural 
Day.  In addition, alumni of the Nelson R 
Mandela School of Medicine co-ordinated 
an alumni Golf Day and Gala Dinner to 
commemorate the 60th Anniversary. 

I assumed office as the Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor and Head of the College 
in 2010.  I believe that my research and 
clinical interests in Molecular Cell Biology 
and Intracellular Signalling, Biochemistry, 
Chemical Pathology, Obesity and 
Endocrinology will further develop and 
enhance the research ethos in the College.

In 2010 many staff within the College 
were appointed to serve on national and 
international boards, including the Health 
Professions Council of South Africa, the 
South African Medical Research Council, 
the National Health Research Ethics Council 
and the Human Sciences Research Council. 
The Head of Plastic and Reconstructive 
Surgery at the Nelson R. Mandela School 
of Medicine, Professor Anil Madaree, is the 
first University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) 
academic to be appointed President of the 
College of Medicine of South Africa. 

A new Director, Professor William Bishai 
was appointed to head the new KwaZulu-
Natal Research Institute for Tuberculosis 
and HIV (K-RITH) and it is a privilege for 
me to serve on the Board of Directors of 
K-RITH. 

Grants and funding
The College is unique on the continent in 
having received significant investments 
from the Howard Hughes Medical Institute, 
the Wellcome Trust, the National Institutes 
of Health and the Bill and Melinda Gates 
Foundation, the four largest funders of 
biomedical research in the world. 

In 2010, the National Minister of Health, 
Dr Aaron Motsoaledi, announced plans for 
the construction of a new academic health 
sciences complex that will replace the old 
King Edward VIII Hospital in Durban. The 
Department of Education’s Clinical Training 
Grant of R106 million was awarded to the 
College to set up and equip clinical skills 
laboratories and appoint staff to provide 
clinical supervision in evidence-based clinical 
practice.  The Infrastructure and Efficiency 
Grant of R84 million from the Department 
of Higher Education and Training will enable 
the creation of state-of-the-art teaching 
and learning spaces to accommodate the 
increased student numbers in the College.

Dean of the Faculty of Health Sciences, 
Professor Sabiha Essack was appointed 
Principal Investigator of a multi-country 
project to inform policy in Africa on Good 
Practice in Higher Education. The project 
has received a grant of £100 000 from the 
Association of African Universities.

Through a group effort spearheaded 
by Professor Umesh Lalloo, Head of the 
Department of Pulmonology and Critical 
Care, the College successfully applied for 
the Medical Education Partnership Initiative 
(MEPI) grant and has been awarded US $10 
million over the next five years for medical 
training and training in the management of 
HIV and TB. 

Professor T s Pillay
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of 
College
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Mr Duran Ramsuran, a PhD student based at the Optics and Imaging 
Centre at the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine, was presented with 
the Keystone Symposia Global Health Travel Award which enabled him 
to attend the Keystone Symposium A6 HIV Biology and Pathogenesis 
Conference in New Mexico, United States, in January. 

Professor Andrew McKune from the Discipline of Sports Science 
received a South African National Research Foundation Competitive 
Research Grant of R741 720 and a UKZN Competitive Grant of R260 000 
for research on the impact of physical activity on metabolism in obesity.

Ms Nalini Govender, a PhD student from the Optics and Imaging 
Unit, was awarded the Columbia University-Southern African Fogarty 
AIDS and TB Training Research Programme Scholarship.

Graduation 2010
At the Graduation ceremony, the University awarded an honorary Doctor 
of Social Science degree to Dr I Sooliman of the Gift of the Givers and 
an honorary doctorate to Dr B T Naidoo. The College conferred a total of 
618 degrees.

Teaching initiatives
The College introduced a Masters Degree in Sport Medicine, the brain-
child of Professor Edith Peters-Futre. The degree focusses on the medical 
applications of Exercise Physiology. The two-year academic programme 
combines coursework and research. 

The Department of Anaesthetics, in partnership with the Inkosi 
Albert Luthuli Central Hospital, officially opened its Anaesthetics Smart 
Centre – the first of its kind in Africa, valued at R4.5m.  The Centre’s 
most impressive feature is Stan, an acronym for Standard Man, a 
sophisticated human patient simulator used for clinical teaching.

Physiotherapy pioneered a Physiotherapy Technician Training 
course which is being offered nationally. This is an in-service training 
programme for Physiotherapy Assistants employed by the KwaZulu-
Natal Department of Health. Candidates from other provinces are also 
accepted into the training course.

The Council for Higher Education approved four new course work 
Masters programmes in Advanced Group Work, Health Sciences, 
Pharmacy Practice and Pharmaco-economics.  The Masters in Health 
Sciences is a pioneering, on-line/web-based Masters programme.

The Discipline of Sports Science at UKZN has assumed a key role in 
promoting Parks and Recreation in South Africa as an essential service 
through the introduction of new educational programmes. Two courses 
– the Certified Playground Safety Inspector Training Course and the 
Certified Parks and Recreation Professional Examination –  which are 

accredited by the US based-organisation, the National Recreation and 
Parks Association, are being offered to those who have pursued a career 
in Leisure Studies.

Research
The year began with a significant research breakthrough by Professor 
Cephas Musabayane and Mr Mark Tufts of the School of Medical 
Sciences. The scientists discovered a new method to administer insulin 
into the bloodstream via a patch. 

The results of the landmark CAPRISA 004 study were published 
in the prestigious journal Science by the CAPRISA team based at 
the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine.  The study showed the 
effectiveness and efficacy of Tenofovir gel in the prevention of HIV 
infection in women. The study received worldwide acclaim and was cited 
by Lancet as one of the best papers of 2010 worldwide.

The annual Research Symposium from 14-15 September highlighted 
research output in the College. A total of 75 abstracts were submitted. 
The 4th Pfizer-UKZN National Young Health Scientists Research 
Symposium showcased new knowledge and presented evidence for best 
practice. There were participants from 12 Higher Education Institutions 
in South Africa. 

Ms Pamela Soobramoney, Ms Carmen Renni and Ms Brenda De 
Gama from the Discipline of Anatomy were selected for the esteemed 
SANTRUST PhD Development Programme for Research Support, 2010-
2011. 

A new project entitled, “Prevention and Improved Diagnosis of 
Female Genital Schistosomiasis in the Ugu District of KwaZulu-Natal” 
will establish the extent of female genital bilharzia in the district 
and determine whether yearly treatment of schoolgirls will reduce 
the damage caused by this parasitic infection. Preventing urogenital 
bilharzia may also reduce HIV transmission in sexually active females. 
The project is a partnership between UKZN’s Department of Public 
Health, Oslo University, the University of Agder and Sorlandet Hospital. 
It is funded, through the University of Copenhagen, by the Bill and 
Melinda Gates Foundation to the amount of US $2.3 million. 

Community Engagement
In May, the College initiated an Information Day targetting the top 10 
learners from UKZN’s top feeder schools in the province of KwaZulu-
Natal. Grade 12 learners, parents, educators and members of the 
Department of Education were provided with career information on 
programmes offered in the College as well as admissions criteria. 

The Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology at the Nelson R  
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Mandela School of Medicine held a very successful Update Symposium 
for General Practitioners, Gynaecologists and Obstetricians. The 
Symposium covered a range of pertinent topics with a special focus on 
common syndromes in the Province of KwaZulu-Natal. 

The Africa Centre for Health and Population Studies announced 
substantial achievements in its 2007-2010 Research Report. These 
included more than 10 000 people, of whom 10% are children aged 15 
or younger, benefiting from the HIV Treatment and Care Programme; a 
major economic boost in the area with over 500 community members 
employed, and a further 500 home-based carers being engaged. 

Young men from across the Hlabisa area in Northern KwaZulu-Natal 
were invited to Mgeza to participate in a Health Fair that was part of the 
Africa Centre’s Impilo Yamadoda project to find out what types of HIV 
prevention and health research interest young Zulu men. A hundred and 
thirty men attended.

Professor Leana Uys, Dr Lyn Middleton and Ms Amanda Smith, from 
the School of Nursing (a World Health Organization [WHO] Nursing and 

Midwifery Collaborating Centre), responded to a request from the WHO 
and the Mauritius Ministry of Health and Quality of Life to design and 
implement a training process and manual to prepare psychiatric nurses 
to respond to the decentralisation of psychiatric / mental health care in 
Mauritius. Twenty-five psychiatric nurses received training.

The Discipline of Anatomy held its annual Cadaver/Burial Ceremony 
at the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine. The ceremony, officiated 
by Pastor Mervyn Moodley, recognises the body donations made by 
the public that ensure the continuation of medical training in Anatomy 
through physical dissections. 

Ms Roweena Naidoo, a PhD graduate from the Discipline of Sport 
Science developed a Nutrition and Development Programme that was 
endorsed by the KwaZulu-Natal Departments of Education and Health 
and implemented in all schools in the Province. 

At the end of the year, the Department of Cardiology held its 
annual Update Symposium aimed at refreshing the specialist skills of 
Cardiologists and General Practitioners in KwaZulu-Natal. 

The new biosafety Level 3 Laboratory at the KwaZulu-Natal institute for Tuberculosis and hiV (K-riTh)
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Conferences
The College hosted several leading international conferences, including:  
the Human Tissue Symposium which focussed on Medico-Legal and 
Ethical issues around the usage of Human Tissue (co-hosted with the 
College of Law and Management Studies); the Autism Conference, 
which saw the establishment of a KwaZulu-Natal Collaborative Forum 
on Developmental Disabilities; a Conference highlighting the triangular 
relationship between Sports Science, Recreation and Physical Education 
(a joint collaboration between the National Department of Sport and 
Recreation in South Africa and UKZN’s Discipline of Sports Science); and 
an international Mental Health Symposium hosted by Professor Sabiha 
Essack.  

The Discipline of Occupational Therapy hosted a Creative Ability 
Colloquium for Occupational Therapists from institutions around South 
Africa and abroad. 

Staff within the College, headed by Professor William Daniels, 
hosted the 25th NeuroScience School in Africa. Students from around 
the continent submitted abstracts of their research projects and 25 out 
of approximately 80 submissions were chosen to be presented at the 
School.  

The Department of Infection Prevention Control (IPC) in 
collaboration with K-RITH (KwaZulu-Natal Research Institute for 
Tuberculosis and HIV) at the Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine 
hosted the 3rd TAAI workshop. The initiative which is funded by 
the Howard Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI) aims to assist African 
countries by enhancing existing laboratory and clinical skills. An African 
TB network for resistance surveillance was established with many of the 
countries attending in an effort to inform management policies. 

Awards
Professor Kovin Naidoo was named the Africa Fellow by the Schwab 
Foundation for Social Entrepreneurship and was a recipient of a 2010 
UKZN Convocation Award. Professor Kanti Bhoola, an alumnus of the 
Nelson R Mandela School of Medicine received the Art and Science of 
Medicine Gold Award from the South African Medical Association. 

PhD student from the Department of Traditional Medicine, Ms 
Nonhlanhla Dlamini who is the recipient of the UNESCO-L’OREAL 
Fellowship for her research project was awarded the Women in Science 
Fellowship in the Indigenous Knowledge Systems category by the 
Department of Science and Technology. Professor Hoosen Coovadia, an 
Emeritus Professor at UKZN and Director of the HIV Management Cluster 
at the Maternal Adolescent and Child Health Unit of the University of 
the Witwatersrand in Durban was conferred with an Honorary Doctorate 
in Science (Medicine) by the University of Cape Town. Former Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor and Head of the College of Health Sciences at UKZN, 
Professor Leana Uys received the “Women Super Achievers Award” at 
the Asia’s Best Business School Award ceremony in Singapore.

Professor T s Pillay
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of College
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COLLEGE OF  
HUMAnITIES
Professor J R A Ayee

“

“The vibrancy of research activities in the College 
demonstrates its diversity of disciplines. Research areas 
include poverty, political economy, gender, race, identity, 
food security, language, HIV/AIDS, teacher identity, 
democracy and governance, football, indentured Indian 
workers, African literature and history, migration, 
history, culture and medical sociology.
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T
he College of Humanities is the 
largest College at the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN). It is made 
up of the Faculty of Humanities, 

Development and Social Sciences (HDSS) 
and the Faculty of Education. In 2010, it had 
a total of 18 Schools; 13 in HDSS and five  in 
Education. In 2010, the College had 400 full-
time academic staff, 107 contract academic 
staff, 126 support staff, 1 713 Masters and 
PhD students and 17 325 weighted students’ 
full-time equivalents (FTEs).  The College 
graduated about 4 176 students, that is, more 
than 50% of the total University graduation 
figure. The College graduated about 1 019 out 
of the University’s total of 2 215 postgraduate 
students.

A strategic plan was developed in August 
but was not launched due to the College  
reorganisation exercise. The plan envisages 
that the College will become a centre of 
excellence in African scholarship in the fields 
of Education, Humanities, Development and 
Social Sciences with a mission to promote 
excellence in African-led scholarship 
through teaching, research and community 
engagement in a global context. 

Changes in 
operational structure  
■ The School of Development Studies (SDS) 

was reviewed by a panel consisting of 
both external and internal academics.

■ Professor Anthonia Kalu, the immediate 
past Chair, Department of African 
American and African Studies, Ohio State 
University, Columbus, USA reviewed 
the Gender Studies Programme and the 
Centre for African Literary Studies (CALS) 
with a view to expanding its mandate to 
become the Centre for African Studies.

■ Two Schools in the Faculty of Education: 
the School of Adult and Higher Education 
and the School of Education and 

Development (SED) were merged into 
a reconfigured School of Education and 
Development. 

■ Memoranda of Agreement between the 
School of Religion and Theology and 
the Anglican, Catholic, Evangelical, 
Methodist and Congregational churches 
were renewed. 

■ A number of academic and support 
staff appointments were made in both 
Faculties.

■ Consultation started on the 
reorganisation of Schools in line with the 
External Review of the College Model and 
the Executive Management Committee’s 
Implementation Plan. 

Senior appointments 
In the Faculty of HDSS, Professor Nhlanhla 
Mkhize was appointed as the Dean, while 
Professors Nobuhle Hlongwa and Nwabufo 
Okeke-Uzodike became Acting Deputy Dean, 
Undergraduate Studies and Pietermaritzburg 
respectively. In the Faculty of Education, 
Professor Lebo Moletsane was appointed 
as the John Langalibalele Dube Chair in 
Rural Education. Acting Heads of School and 
Deputy Heads were also appointed in both 
Faculties.

Awards 
Staff awards
■ The South African Research Chair Initiative 

(SARChI) in Applied Poverty Reduction 
Assessment was awarded to Professor 
Julian May of the School of Development 
Studies. Professor May was also appointed 
to the Technical Advisory Group (TAG) of 
the International Comparisons Programme 
(ICP), the first person from a developing 
country to be accorded such an honour. 
The ICP is a worldwide statistical 
partnership to collect comparative price 

Professor J r a ayee
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of 
College
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data and compile detailed expenditure values of countries’ gross 
domestic products and to estimate purchasing power parities of the 
world’s economies.

■ First time rated National Research Foundation (NRF) researchers 
were: Professor Deevia Bhana (C1) and Professor Anbanithi 
Muthukhrisna (C3) of the Faculty of Education and Professor Sultan 
Khan, School of Sociology and Social Studies.

■ Dean of the Faculty of Education, Professor Michael Samuel was 
appointed a member of the Commonwealth Advisory Council on 
Teacher Mobility, Recruitment and Migration.

■ Professor Vishanthie Sewpaul was elected President of the 
Association of Schools of Social Work in Africa and the Vice-
President of the International Association of Schools of Social Work.

Student awards
■ Ms Jennette Reitsma of the School of Language, Literature and 

Linguistics was selected as the only candidate from South Africa 
for the scholarship awarded by the Agence Universitaire de la 
Francophone (AUF) to attend a three-month academic training 
programme in France.

■ Ms Vanessa Moodley of the School of Music won the Jazz category 
of the USA Songwriting Competition, an annual global event that 
has been running since 1995, for her ballad, Your Eyes.

■ Eight hundred and two students received Funza Lushaka bursaries 
for Initial Teacher Education priority areas of Mathematics, Sciences, 
Technology Education, Early Childhood Education and Language 
Education. The bursaries were valued at approximately R43.8 million 
and were arguably the largest award nationally.

College Awards
The College has instituted five awards: Best Teacher; Best Researcher; 
Best Emerging Teacher; Best Emerging Researcher; and Best Support 
Staff. A committee chaired by the Dean, Faculty of HDSS was formed to 
develop the criteria to be used for the awards.

Facilities and major capital works
■ The Department of Higher Education and Training (DoHET) awarded 

Infrastructure and Efficiency funding to the Faculty of Education 
and the School of Architecture, Housing and Planning to facilitate 
research, teaching and learning.

■ A new computer LAN was added to the School of Development 
Studies to facilitate the teaching of quantitative skills to 
postgraduate students in the School. The construction of the LAN 
was initiated and funded by Professor Dori Posel as part of her 

objective as the SARChI Chair in Economic Development to enhance 
quantitative research methods in Development Studies.

■ The main tutorial building at the Faculty of Education on the 
Edgewood campus was refurbished, including two large lecture 
theatres, two LANS, 19 new offices, a new teaching and learning 
Commons and new Professional Practicum offices.

Events
Some of the key events of 2010 were:
■ The International Conference on the Territorial Origins of African 

Civil Conflicts, which was hosted by the School of Politics in 
collaboration with the Centre for African Studies, Ohio State 
University, USA. This Conference attracted scholars from Africa, 
Europe and North America.

■ The International Research Workshop on African Languages 
and Linguistics hosted by the School of Language, Literature 
and Linguistics which was attended by scholars from UKZN, the 
Universities of Botswana and Namibia and the School of Oriental 
and African Studies (SOAS), University of London.

■ A fund-raising concert by the School of Music in aid of victims of the 
Haiti disaster.

■ Concerts by the School of Music with international visitors from the 
UK, USA, Holland, Canada and Mozambique.

■ Other Schools also organised workshops and seminars which were 
attended by staff and students. 

Partnerships
Convocation
A meeting was held between members of the College Executive 
Committee and the President and Vice-President of Convocation at 
which a number of issues were discussed. 

Municipalities 
At a meeting with Mayor Mike Tarr of the Msunduzi Municipality on 
21 September 2010 it was agreed to collaborate in two areas: capacity 
building for councillors and other staff of the Municipality after the 
elections in May 2011; and internships for students. The College will 
attend meetings of the MIDI Project which has two University trustees. 
Other areas of collaboration such as the establishment of a Chair 
in Governance and Democracy  would be handled in that forum. In 
addition, the Faculty of Education was asked to participate in the 
“Children City, 2020” Project. 

At a meeting held on 6 October 2010 with Mayor Obed Mlaba of the 
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eThekwini Municipality the Mayor also agreed in principle to collaborate 
with the College, with a definite proposal on the creation of wealth and 
poverty in rural communities through the establishment of industries.

Ohio State University
 At the invitation of the Centre for African Studies (CAS) of the Ohio 
State University (OSU), Columbus, USA, Professors N Mkhize and 
Nwabufo Okeke-Uzodike and I visited OSU from 5-10 September 2010. 
This was a follow-up to a collaborative international conference on 
“Territorial Origins of African Civil Conflicts” which was held in January 
in Pietermaritzburg and hosted by the School of Politics. 

The main aim of the visit was to explore additional collaboration 
and exchange in academic fields of mutual interest. 

The visit resulted in a number of interventions: 
■ Professor Anthonia Kalu, the Chair of African American and African 

Studies, Ohio State University (OSU) visited UKZN in November and 
December to review the Gender Studies Programme and the Centre 
for African Literary Studies (CALS). 

■ A Memorandum of Understanding from the OSU was circulated and 
is in the process of finalisation. 

■ The School of IsiZulu Studies was asked to identify a colleague with 
a Masters degree who will pursue his/her PhD while teaching IsiZulu 
in the Department of African American and African Studies. 

■ Our sister Colleges of Health Sciences and Agriculture, Engineering 
and Science have expressed interest in the collaboration with the 
OSU.

Industry
At the School of Development Studies, the position of Adjunct Professor 
in Industrial Studies was created to attract people with specialised 
skills who are working full-time in either the private or public sectors, 
but who are committed to teaching, research and capacity building in 
their areas of expertise. This position was funded by Toyota. The Faculty 
of Education engaged with stakeholders on the re-curriculum of all 
teacher education programmes in relation to the intended gazette on 
national teacher education qualifications. The School of Architecture, 

Lebo Mashile and Moving into Dance Moipatong performing Threads at JoMba! Contemporary Dance experience, 2010
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Housing and Planning continued its relations with major companies in 
the building industry such as Corobrik and Otis. There is, however, room 
for improvement in the area of working with industry and governmental 
sectors. 

Significant developments and 
achievements 
Instruction
The Faculty of Education engaged with stakeholders on the scale and 
scope of operations and the modes of delivery for its different sectors. 
It considered the setting up of a centre for continuing education in 
collaboration with the Provincial Department of Education in KwaZulu-
Natal and addressing the backlog of qualified teachers within the 
schooling system through alternate modes of initial teacher education 
delivery.

The 13 Schools in the Faculty of HDSS submitted their curriculum 
transformation plans which indicated progress thus far and ways and 
means of improving curricula, pedagogy and research. These were 
referred to the Faculty’s Curriculum Review Committee. The Faculty of 
Education did not submit plans because of the ongoing national exercise 
on the re-curriculum of all teacher education programmes and the 
related Gazette on national teacher education qualifications.

Academic/Research Achievements
The vibrancy of research activities in the College demonstrates its 
diversity of disciplines. Research areas include poverty, political 
economy, gender, race, identity, food security, language, HIV/AIDS, 
teacher identity, democracy and governance, football, indentured Indian 
workers, African literature and history, migration, history, culture and 
medical sociology. This research led to a number of publications in both 
national  and international journals and by academic press houses. 

Books published include: The Political Economy of Africa edited 
by Professor Vishnu Padayachee; Taxation and Gender Equity: A 
Comparative Analysis of Direct and Indirect Taxes in Developing and 
Developed Countries edited by Professors Imraan Valodia and Caren 
Brown, all published by Routledge; NGOs in Kerala: Incongruity and 
Coherence by Professor R Sooryamoorthy; Witchcraft, Sorcery or 
Medical Practice? The Demand, Supply and Regulation of Indigenous 
Medicines in Durban, South by Professor Thokozani Xaba; Caveat 
Emptor: Ideological Paradigms in Decolonizing and Postcolonial Africa 
by Dr Alison Jones; and An Escape Route: Independent Female African 
Migrancy in South Africa: The Processes, Dynamics and Experiences 
of Independent Foreign African Migrant Women in South Africa; and 

Transnational Entrepreneurship Through Identity: the Dynamics of 
Religion and Culture and Socio-economic and Remittance Patterns 
among Ghanaian Women in South Africa by Dr Vivian Ojong.

Professors Nobuhle Hlongwa and Rosemary Wildsmith-Cromarty 
were guest editors of a special issue of the journal, Alternation, entitled, 
“Multilingualism for Access, Language Development and Language 
Intellectualism”.

An interesting dimension of the list of publications is the mentoring 
of students by supervisors. Professor Kevin Durrheim of the School of 
Psychology published a book with two PhD students, Xoliswa Mtose and 
Lyndsay Brown, entitled, Race Trouble, which provides an analysis of the 
racial situation in post-apartheid South Africa and makes an argument 
for a shift in focus in the social sciences, from racism to “race trouble”.

A number of the College’s academic staff was included in the 
University’s “Top 30 Researchers” list published by the UKZN Research 
Office. They include Professors Deevia Bhana, Chris Ballantine, Sarojini 
Nadar, Philippe Denis and Steve de Gruchy (of blessed memory) and 
Dr Raymond Kumalo. Professor Nadar won the top woman researcher 
award. 

Senate Task Team on Academic 
Research Productivity 
The process to address and enhance academic research productivity is 
underway.

Community Engagement
Schools and Centres within the College undertook several community 
engagement initiatives:
■ Film, drama and music performances were organised by the School 

of Music, the Discipline of Drama in the School of Literary Studies, 
Media and Creative Arts and the Centre for Creative Arts.

 ■ The 13th Time of the Writer, the Durban International Film Festival, 
Poetry Africa and Jomba! Contemporary Dance Experience were 
organised by the Centre for Creative Arts.

■ French classes in the form of the Alliance Francaise in communities 
in Pietermaritzburg were organised by the Discipline of French of the 
School of Language, Literature and Linguistics.

■ Pastoral individual counseling with a church community was led by 
staff at the School of Language, Literature and Linguistics.

Professor J r a ayee
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of College



University of KwaZulu-Natal Annual Report 2010 66

COLLEGE OF LAW  
AnD MAnAGEMEnT 
STUDIES
Professor J C Mubangizi

““There was a considerable increase in the research 
productivity of the College. In terms of the latest 
available audited data (2009) the total productivity 
units based on the top four submissions to the 
Department of Higher Education and Training 
(DoHET) increased by 20%.  
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T
owards the end of every year the 
College leadership holds a Strategic 
Planning Workshop to identify key 
priority areas (strategic goals) on 

which to focus attention during the following 
year. Various activities and initiatives were 
undertaken in an attempt to realise the goals 
that we set ourselves for 2010. Although 
there were many achievements and highlights 
in the College, this report focuses on the 
following broad areas: teaching and learning, 
research, community engagement and the 
2010 centenary celebratory events. 

Teaching and 
Learning
The College of Law and Management 
Studies engaged in a number of teaching 
and learning initiatives aimed at enhancing 
staff development and promoting our 
students’ ability to succeed in their studies. 
Several workshops were organised and 
widely attended. Some were aimed at staff 
development while others were intended to 
address student performance and throughput. 
This was intended to build on the ongoing 
achievements whereby in 2010 the College 
graduated a total of 1 911 graduands, 500 of 
whom obtained postgraduate qualifications. 
Significantly, the College graduated a record 
24 doctorates, six of whom were our own 
members of staff.

A number of new programmes were 
formulated and introduced across the 
College. In the Faculty of Management 
Studies two Local Economic Development 
(LED) Programmes were successfully launched 
in April 2010, offering Postgraduate Diploma 
and Masters training to LED practitioners. 
The Faculty of Law introduced innovative 
Masters modules as part of its current LLM 
Programmes. The new LLM modules, namely, 
Gambling Law, Politics of Law and Sports Law, 

were ready for offering in 2011.
During 2010, the University invested more 

than R8.5m in the upgrading of teaching 
and learning facilities and resources for the 
Faculty of Law on the Howard College and 
Pietermaritzburg campuses. At the same time 
an amount of about R10 million was spent 
on the refurbishment of J-Block at Westville 
campus for use by the Faculty of Management 
Studies.

Research
There was a considerable increase in the 
research productivity of the College. In terms 
of the latest available audited data (2009) 
the total productivity units based on the top 
four submissions to the Department of Higher 
Education and Training (DoHET) (articles, 
books, chapters, and conference proceedings) 
increased from 6225.00 to 7788.25 year on 
year (an increase of 20%).  

During 2010, the following international 
conferences were hosted in the College:
■ Technology, Entertainment and Design 

Conference (TEDxUKZN): School of 
Information Systems and Technology; 

■ NETRIS Seminar on “Prospects for 
Trade and Economic Integration in ACP 
countries. Challenges Facing Regionalism 
and Regional Integration Arrangements”: 
School of Economics and Finance;

■ 12th Annual World Wide Web Applications 
Conference: Graduate School of Business;

■ Symposium on the Medico-legal and 
Ethical Implications of Human Tissue Use: 
College of Law and Management Studies 
and the College of Health Sciences.

In addition to these conferences, both 
Faculties held a number of research 
workshops aimed at improving research 
output in the College. 

Professor J C Mubangizi
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of 
College
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Community Engagement
During 2010, community engagement activities in the Faculty of Law 
included projects run by the Law Clinics, the Law Professions’ Day and 
a series of public lectures. In the Faculty of Management Studies, one 
of the highlights of community engagement was the initiative by the 
School of Information Systems and Technology (IS&T) to equip the 
province’s educators with basic computer skills. The other highlight 
was the Graduate School of Business (GSB) winning the FNB KZN Top 
Business Portfolio Award in the Social and Community Service category 
in recognition of their contribution to community outreach. 

Centenary celebratory events
A number of high profile events were hosted by the College and this 
generated positive media coverage. The celebration of a centenary of 
Higher Education in the province of KwaZulu-Natal was the main theme 
of the 2010 events. In the Faculty of Law events included a series of high 
profile public lectures, a tree planting ceremony, a book launch and a 
Law Alumni Reunion Dinner. The Faculty of Management Studies also 
hosted an Alumni Reunion Dinner at which the Chairperson of Business 
Leadership South Africa and Co-Chairperson of the Millennium Labour 
Council, Dr Bobby Godsell, delivered the keynote address. 

Professor J C Mubangizi
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and head of College
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CORPORATE  
RELATIOnS DIVISIOn
Ms n E Mbadi

““The University continues to build and increase 
its global partnerships and has over the years 
formalised 80 active agreements in 44 countries 
that promote academic exchange.
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Overview 
My term of office at the helm of the Corporate 
Relations Division signaled a need to reassess, 
re-examine and reposition the Division in line 
with the University’s strategic goals and strategic 
objectives which are reviewed yearly.  It was 
evident that the wide range and depth of our 
core activities deserved wider communication 
in South Africa and abroad. The University 
of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) brand required 
reinforcement from both internal and corporate 
perspectives. Partnerships with our academics 
who champion innovative research had to be 
strengthened. There is a depth of exciting and 
innovative research that ought to be consistently 
communicated to the wider community.  

The year 2010 was significant for the 
University and marked the historical century of 
Higher Education in KwaZulu-Natal – a century 
of academic innovation and excellence.  A range 
of activities across the disciplines to celebrate 
and showcase the phenomenal growth and 
development over the past 10 decades was well 
received.

Restructuring
In line with the re-organisation of Academic 
Management and Support within the Colleges 
of the University, Corporate Relations started 
the process of consultation with staff in the 
Division to support the Colleges to improve 
efficiencies and effectiveness.  Whilst waiting for 
the approval of the structure, strategic teams in 
a similar configuration as the proposed structure 
were established to service and support the 
Colleges.  The post of Manager International 
Relations was reconfigured to Director in 
line with our commitment to supporting the 
University’s goal of African-led globalisation. 

Alumni Relations
Enhanced communication with alumni through 

social media networks, Twitter and Facebook 
was initiated.  A weekly electronic newsletter is 
disseminated to approximately 28 000 alumni 
in South Africa and abroad.  The validity of 
data relating to details of our alumni is an ever 
present challenge that is being addressed.  

The planning of a historic event to mark 
the 50th anniversary of graduates and staff of 
Salisbury Island is underway. The much-awaited 
event will be held in June 2011. 

The variety of events co-ordinated both 
locally and internationally have been attended 
by a total of almost 16 500 alumni.  The 
Alumni Workshop Programme, a career skills 
development programme, is proving to be 
popular amongst young graduates. 

Events and Protocol
The Events and Protocol Unit together with 
the four College Public Relations Officers co-
ordinated approximately 146 events in 2010. The 
Public Lecture series, introduced to encourage 
and promote academic exchange and dialogue 
is now firmly entrenched. A total of 18 academic 
lectures across the five campuses were held.  
Local and international experts delivered 
lectures on socio-economic, political, scientific 
and cultural issues. Memorable events included 
graduation, the centenary banquet and the Chief 
Albert Luthuli Lecture delivered by President 
Jacob Zuma.  The intention of all of these 
initiatives is to enhance a strong public image of 
the University.

International Relations
The Unit provides the interface between the 
University and its international partners.  The 
University continues to build and increase its 
global partnerships and has over the years 
formalised 80 active agreements in 44 countries 
that promote academic exchange.   During 2010, 
we renewed the Student Exchange agreement 
with Wilfrid Laurier University in Canada; entered 

Ms N e Mbadi
executive Director: Corporate relations 
Division
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into a new student exchange agreement with Hamburg University in Germany 
and renewed the agreement with the American University in the USA.  
Memoranda of understanding were signed with the Universities of Cagliari 
and Paduain in Italy, Oslo University Hospital in Norway, Sorlandet Hospital HF 
in Norway, the School of International Training in the US, Tohoku University 
in Japan, the University of Dar es Salaam in Tanzania, the University of 
Stavanger in Norway, and the University of Tampere in Norway. 

Last year the International Relations Unit engaged in several discussions 
regarding the Erasmus Mundus Scholarship Programme which involves 
partnerships between European and South African Higher Education 
institutions. Scholarships are available for Masters, PhD and Staff mobility at 
a European university.  The University has received funding for two projects 
this year. The NYERERE Scholarship programme was introduced to UKZN in 
2010, aimed at building capacity within Africa.  A delegation led by the Dean of 
Research will travel to Dakar in Senegal in 2011 to take this process forward.

Marketing
Brand presence and reinforcement is high on the marketing agenda. 
A survey was conducted to ascertain the perceptions and views of the 
University amongst a range of stakeholders. The results of the survey 
have informed the marketing strategy to create brand presence.  The Did 
u Know? marketing campaign that showcases groundbreaking research 
and breakthroughs was designed and implemented. The campaign has 
gained momentum and will continue in 2011.

The consistent use of the brand is important and is mirrored in our 
corporate advertisements.  The University appreciates the value of 
marketing and to that end continues to invest substantially in this area.

Media Relations
The University’s brand presence was significantly high in the media, 
nationally and globally. The major scientific breakthrough by UKZN 
scientists at the Centre for the Aids Programme of Research in South 
Africa (CAPRISA) received global coverage and acclaim. 

 A collection of feature articles that highlighted the major 
developments over the past century received prominence in the media. 
The media coverage on the University’s graduation ceremonies surpassed 
previous years thereby increasing UKZN’s brand exposure.  It is critical that 
management is informed of the areas and extent of coverage. In this regard 
an independent media analysis report is circulated to senior managers.

Online Communications
The University’s website serves the dual role of an important electronic 
marketing tool on a global level as well as a medium of communication 
internally. Due to the rapid evolution of web technologies and the 

increasing expectations of web users there was a need for a system that 
could offer not only the content pages but also that allowed the creation 
of blogs, forums, online polls and other interactive features.  Research 
was done on available web content management systems (CMS) that 
are engineered for extensibility and customization. The Sitefinity CMS 
was implemented for its flexible ASP.NET-based content management 
platform. The process of converting all School sites began in the latter 
part of the year and is scheduled for completion at the end of 2011.

Professional Conferencing Services
The Unit co-ordinated 11 conferences of which four were international 
conferences. As an income generating unit other avenues are being 
explored to increase revenue. These include a joint partnership with 
the Durban International Convention Centre and the KwaZulu-Natal 
Convention Bureau to prepare bidding documents.

Publications
Communicating the University’s core strategic activities and developments 
through a suite of high quality corporate publications is the focus of the 
Publications Unit. The content and design of UKZNDAbA and UKZNTOUCH 
was overhauled to produce a modern and sophisticated design. A monthly 
column written by a senior academic was introduced and features on 
a range of topics were introduced. Perhaps the highlight has been 
UKZNTOUCH a publication for alumni which has received much praise.  The 
introduction of a theme of national and international relevance provides the 
opportunity for researchers to share their scientific insights on a range of 
issues facing society. Two editions were published in 2010 and featured the 
Challenges facing Higher Education and Climate Change. The popular online 
newsletter, UKZNONLINE was revamped and is now produced weekly due to 
the volume of news. The Annual Report and the Research Report 08/09 
were well received.

Schools Liaison
The unit undertook a wide range of activities to market the University’s 
undergraduate programmes to prospective students and raise the 
University’s profile amongst its top feeder schools. Presentations were 
made to approximately 186 feeder schools across the country. Career 
exhibitions are organised in conjunction with the Department of Basic 
Education and staff attended 32 to meet with educators and grade 
11 and 12 learners. Approximately 10 000 learners and their parents 
attended the University’s annual Open Day held across four campuses.

Ms N e Mbadi
executive Director: Corporate relations Division
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DIVISIOn OF  
HUMAn RESOURCES 
Dr M S Mosia

The University’s Employment Equity Plan towards 
2014 was developed, approved and submitted in 
line with legislative guidelines, which proves our 
continuing commitment to transformation. 

““
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UKZn Employment 
Value Proposition 
(EVP)
The People Strategy further communicates our 
employment Value Proposition (eVP), which 
is the value or benefit our employees obtain 
through being employed at this University and 
the value our Institution receives through this 
employment experience. 

Our commitment to talent is:
■  We recognise and reward excellence.
■  We are an innovative, high performing 

research-led university. 
■  We demonstrate respectful and 

competent leadership in all situations.
■  We are positioned for engaging agile, 

achievement-oriented and committed 
talent.

■  We offer a stimulating and empowering 
environment conducive to career 
development and advancement for all 
employees.

UKZn Values
The University is committed to accelerating 
change with a view to  create a diverse and 
transformed institution based on its core 
values, mission and vision. In this regard the 
Human Resources Division, following extensive 
consultation with staff across the five campuses, 
has  formulated an exciting programme 
R.E.A.C.H, that will promote and reinforce 
the key principles of respect, excellence, 
accountability, client orientation and honesty. 

Our behaviour and actions will demonstrate 
the following:
■ Respect: we undertake to promote mutual 

respect, courtesy and inclusiveness.
■ Excellence: we undertake to display quality, 

leadership and energy in all we do. 

Dr M s Mosia
executive Director: Division of human 
resources

T
he year 2010 started well with the 
successful restructuring of the 
Division of Human Resources to 
ensure its alignment with the College 

Model; as well as improving operational 
efficiencies for the entire Division. The result 
of this restructuring is four main departments 
within the Division: Strategic HR Partnering 
Group; Diversity Management; Human 
Resources Development and HR Reward 
Services. The highlight of this restructuring is 
the newly established Strategic HR Partnering 
Group, which enables the allocation of an 
HR Strategic Leader to each College/Support 
Sector with HR Consultants to provide 
integrated services. 

The restructuring exercise also led to 
the combining of the HR Litigation section 
and the Registrar’s Legal Services in UKZN 
Legal Services. This new section within 
the Registrar’s Division, deals with all 
litigation across the entire University, whilst 
Alternative Dispute Resolution, referred to as 
“ADR” is integrated into Human Resources 
Development and positioned to become more 
proactive. Its purpose is to facilitate the 
improvement of the employment relationship 
by establishing practices, programmes 
and interventions which lead to improved 
relations. 

In addition to HR restructuring the 
University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) saw the 
development of our People Strategy towards 
2016. This demonstrates the University’s 
acknowledgement of the value we place on 
our people and our conviction that people 
are the creators and shapers of our destiny 
– to be the Premier University of African 
Scholarship. 

This Strategy provides an overarching 
framework within which the University’s 
people processes, practices and policies, as 
well as human resources activities take place. 
It is intended to become an integral part of 
the way that we lead and review our success.
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■ Accountability: we promise to be responsible and accountable for 
our behaviour towards all our stakeholders.

■ Client Orientation: we undertake to constantly satisfy the needs of 
all key stakeholders.

■ Honesty: we deliver with integrity, steadfastly and adhere to good 
governance. 

R.E.A.C.H
R = Respect, E = Excellence, A = Accountability, C = Client Orientation 
and H = Honesty

People Strategic Objectives
University strategic goal six (6) – to be an institution of choice for 
staff – led to the development of the People Strategy. This goal seeks 
to establish the University as an institution of choice that attracts and 
retains academic and support staff of the highest calibre by creating an 
intellectual environment that fosters and stimulates academic life, and 
a climate of organisational citizenship in which all staff recognise and 
understand their role in ensuring the success of the University. To this 
end five People Strategic Objectives were developed:
■  Create and Build a Sustainable Performance Improvement Culture: 

broaden participation of all stakeholders in the development and 
deployment of the People Strategy - ownership is obtained from 
being active participants in the creation. 

■  Ensure Leadership Excellence Beyond Compliance: drives leadership 
and management excellence in the people business; as well 
as ensures good governance and compliance through broader 
transformation and management.

■  Improve Total Reward Framework to Attract, Encourage and 
Recognise key Talent: ensure alignment of Employment Value 
Proposition attributes to reward philosophy.

■  Position Leadership and University Performance for Excellence: 
to attract, and nurture a strong mix of high-caliber, motivated, 
research-responsive talent for the University in order to maximise 
performance and efficiencies.

■  Technological Enhancement for People Processes: create a platform 
and migration plan for Employee and Manager Self Services through 
systemic automation of Management Information.

Talent Attraction
In 2010 the University was successful in attracting a total of 225 staff 
– an overall attraction rate of 6.6% of which African staff represented 
52%. These figures can be summarised as follows: top and senior 

management: five; professionals and middle management: 20; 
academically qualified and junior management: 185; and 15 at the semi-
skilled level. 

In the same period the University lost 363 staff members, an 
overall turnover of 10.6%. The reasons for these staff movements 
were: resignations: 127; retrenchment: two; retirement: 57; dismissal – 
misconduct: eight; dismissal – incapacity: 11; and deceased: 19. Total 
voluntary terminations (resignations) were 3.7% in the period. The total 
resignation figure of 127 includes 51 academics. This translates to 1.5% 
of academic staff having exited by way of voluntary resignations. The 
highest turnover (256) was within the academically qualified and junior 
management category, followed by semi-skilled (62) and the middle 
management and professional category (45). 

Transformation
The University’s Employment Equity Plan towards 2014 was developed, 
approved and submitted in line with legislative guidelines, which proves 
our continuing commitment to transformation. Amongst many policies 
and best practices championed in 2010, are the Policy on Race and 
Racism and the Transformation Charter. These two policies provide a 
framework for dealing with transformation challenges and enabling the 
implementation of the University’s Sustainable Inclusion initiatives while 
improving its overall representation of our rainbow nation. 

Though the University’s workforce profile continued to be 
challenged relative to the national workforce profile and the 
comparative regional Economically Active Population (EAP), plans and 
programmes are being developed to accelerate our progress. 

In contrast to 2009, UKZN showed a 10% improvement in senior 
management for Africans, with African females’ representation 
staying below 5% and 20% on middle and junior management levels 
respectively. At junior, middle and senior management levels, both 
Indians and Whites are still hugely over-represented relative to their 
respective national and regional economically active population 
statistics.  

Dr M s Mosia
executive Director: Division of human resources 
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DIVISIOn OF  
PHySICAL PLAnnInG 
AnD OPERATIOnS 
Mr C W Poole

““The University makes extensive use of modern 
information systems and communication 
technology.  Such systems operate in an integrated 
way and cover the academic endeavour as well as 
the related support services.
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T
he Division of Physical Planning 
and Operations comprises four 
key departments: Information and 
Communication Technology, Campus 

Management Services, Risk Management 
Services and Audio Visual Services.  In 
addition, an Energy Management Project has 
been underway to effect possible cost savings 
into the future.

During 2010 the Division strived to 
effect integration and synergy across the 
Departments, particularly where there are 
clear technology interfaces.  Apart from 
providing support for day-to-day operations 
for the academic enterprise, the Division 
is the custodian of a large proportion of 
capital expenditure in respect of new works, 
infrastructure and equipment, and large-
scale renovations and maintenance, as 
well as the concomitant compliance with 
legislative requirements, including that of the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act.

The University makes extensive use 
of modern information systems and 
communication technology.  Such systems 
operate in an integrated way and cover the 
academic endeavour as well as the related 
support services.   

Key highlights during 2010 include the 
following:

The University, as a partner and member 
of Tertiary Education Network (TENET), was 
linked into the SEACOM cable, significantly 
enhancing Internet bandwidth and 
communication speeds.  

The addition of four new student 
computer labs with wireless connectivity 
provides an additional 190 PC workstations.

As part of an ongoing cycle of upgrading 
facilities, the ICT Department continued with 
the following initiatives:
■  Roll out of laptops/notebooks to 

academics to facilitate mobility.
■  Ongoing replacement of desktop PCs for 

support staff to increase capacity (the 

University currently operates on a five-
year replacement cycle).

■  Increasing both wireless and fibre optic 
links within buildings and across and 
between campuses.

■  A strategic decision was taken to 
move from a Novell to a full Microsoft 
operational platform.

■  The adoption of Moodle as the preferred 
academic interface for teaching and 
learning.

In terms of the alignment of Information and 
Communication Technology and Management 
Information Systems, and in line with King 
III, the University undertook a COBIT (Control 
Objectives for Information and Related 
Technology) Review  early in 2010; as a 
result of these findings and in keeping with 
the drive for efficiency, the University has 
embarked upon a process to better facilitate 
and integrate infrastructural systems with 
management information requirements, in 
order to obviate unnecessary duplication.    

Through the Audio Visual Department, 
more teaching venues were supplied with 
enhanced data projection and, where 
appropriate, wireless connectivity capability.  
In addition, there has been increased 
provision and use of remote and video 
conferencing facilities.  

The significant projects arising from the 
merger in 2004 were effectively completed 
and signed off ‘within budget’ early in 2010.   
These projects encompassed provisions 
for relocations and upgrades of academic 
and academic support-related facilities in 
the sum of approximately R500 million.  In 
terms of the rules laid down for the use of 
merger funds, no significant plant upgrades 
or external building fabric was included; 
however, due to the nature of our campuses, 
a great deal of work in these areas has had 
to be carried out. During 2008 and 2009 
Council made funding available for backlog 

Mr C W Poole
executive Director: Division of Physical 
Planning and operations
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maintenance and a number of projects were carried out utilising this 
funding during 2010 and into 2011.  Further funding has been made 
available by Council to continue with such much-needed works during 
the period 2011 to 2013.  

The University made a bid for Infrastructure and Efficiency funding 
from the Department of Higher Education and Training (DoHET) for the 
period 2010/2011, which application was successful for some six projects 
in diverse academic areas. The final funding approval was obtained in 
October 2010.  This funding covers projects for upgrading of facilities, 
renovations and extensions to existing facilities, including the necessary 
provision for equipment and enhanced security and safety.  Projects 
for the construction of two new buildings also commenced during the 
period under review.  The University, in collaboration with the Howard 
Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI), has embarked on a state-of-the-art 
HIV/TB Research Facility (K-RITH), which is currently under construction; 
a large part of the cost of this facility is being paid for by the HHMI.  All 
of the foregoing projects, as well as the loan facility, have received the 

support and approval of the Minister of Higher Education and Training.
Through Risk Management Services (RMS), a programme to continue 

with improvements of security infrastructure and systems is ongoing.   
Health and safety issues in line with the Occupational Health and Safety 
Act have seen improved co-ordination across campuses, whilst attention 
is being given to increasing support for persons with disabilities.

The Energy Management Project has effected improvements and 
savings. It is intended that this should become a self-funding, sustainable 
initiative.  During the cooler months of June, July and August, chillers 
were turned off, giving rise to some R1.2 million in savings.  Currently a 
sub-project is underway to install meters to all buildings, thereby enabling 
usage monitoring and cost comparison.

Mr C W Poole
executive Director: Division of Physical Planning and operations
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STUDEnT SERVICES
DIVISIOn
Ms M D Masipa

““The University is committed to a student-centered 
ethos as articulated in goal five of its Strategic Plan. 
In this regard the Student Services Division has 
implemented a range of services that are critical to 
an enriched student experience.
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T
he University is committed to a 
student-centered ethos as articulated 
in goal five of its Strategic Plan. 
In this regard the Student Services 

Division has implemented a range of services 
that are critical to an enriched student 
experience.  Services span the full spectrum of 
support from counselling, to disability, career 
development and recreational activities. The 
Division promotes the holistic development of 
students, an ethos of lifelong learning and is 
conscious of the diversity of the student body.

Student Counselling 
Centres
Student Counselling Centres work 
collaboratively with academic departments to 
provide meaningful and continuous support 
to students across the five campuses. There 
is an increased trend among students to seek 
support and counselling.

In 2010 the centres focused their 
attention on financial hardship, the impact 
of HIV/AIDS and bereavement and students 
who were under-prepared for the academic 
demands of the University.  

Disability Support 
Units
The Disability Support Units (DSUs) on the 
University’s five campuses provide academic 
support to students with both temporary and 
permanent disabilities, including visual and 
hearing impairment, learning disabilities, 
physical disabilities, speech impairment, 
epilepsy, and chronic illnesses. Efforts were 
made to ensure that students with disabilities 
have equal access to academic programmes, 
thereby maximising opportunities for their 
personal growth and development. In 2010 a 
Disability Audit was conducted which looked 
at access to facilities for disabled students.

Ms M D Masipa
executive Dean of students

Career Counselling 
and Student 
Employment Centre
Career Counselling is one of the major 
functions of the Division and includes 
programmes that provide career management 
skills. The majority of the queries include 
unsuitable career choices, lack of career 
information and prospects and degree 
planning.

Student employment, graduate 
recruitment and career exhibitions provide 
career exploration and work experience 
opportunities for students.  Students were 
exposed to opportunities for full-time and 
part-time jobs.

Under the auspices of the Graduate 
Recruitment Programme (GRP), companies 
give presentations to students about 
their core business and share information 
about learnerships, internships, trainee 
programmes, mock interviews, selection 
procedures, vacancies, bursaries and 
scholarships. Eighteen companies 
participated in the first semester and 24 in the 
second semester on the Westville campus.  

interventions provided to students:

intervention Total

Career guidance and exploration process. Information and discussion of options 863

Career Assessments 234

Individual guidance on different aspects of study skills 147

Guidance and assistance with the writing of covering letters and CVs for job 
applications

21

Guidance and information on interview skills as well as role play situations to 
prepare students for the actual situation

23

Individual coaching on issues that impact on coping with academic demands
Cognitive Behavioural Therapy Modification
Grief Counselling

33

Total 1321
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Campus Health Clinics
The Campus Health Clinics strive to provide effective and efficient health 
care to students. The Clinics provide strategies in HIV prevention, treatment 
and care. In 2010 plans were implemented to assist students on ARVs to 
receive treatment at the University Clinics located on the campuses.

 In addition to the normal primary health care services, the Campus 
Health Clinics have undertaken to comply with Government campaigns 
on mass HIV testing and male medical circumcision.

 A review of a new cost-effective and efficient emergency ambulance 
transport system was undertaken in 2010 and Netcare 911 has been 
appointed. 

The table below illustrates attendance statistics at the Campus 
health Clinics:

ToTaL sTUDeNTs aTTeNDiNg Per CaMPUs

Howard College 12 874

Medical School 3 574

Edgewood 10 186

Westville 4 778

Pietermaritzburg 9 628

Indigenous Health Care and 
Counselling Systems
The University respects the diversity of students’ needs and the 
Indigenous Health Care and Counselling implemented in 2007 (at Howard 
College campus as a pilot) is providing a valuable cultural service.The 
number of students consulting the Indigenous Health Care Practitioner 
increased from 644 in 2009 to 706 in 2010. In 2010 students consulted the 
Practitioner regarding academic problems, culture-bound syndromes and 
relationship issues.

Sport and Extra-curricular Activities
Sports Administration has competitive and recreational sporting codes 
for students, staff, and for both team and individual sports. A number of 
recreational facilities are available to clubs and for external hire. The multi-
million rand new Hockey Turf was officially opened on the Pietermaritzburg 
campus on 11 September 2010 at the Peter Booysen Sports Park. Lotto 
funding received in 2010 was used for soccer development, the hockey 
development project and the rugby campus league.

Students participating in cricket, tennis, athletics, hockey and squash 
were selected to the national teams and a member of the canoe club won 

the 2010 Duzi Canoe Marathon – a testament to the enthusiasm and 
skills of our students. 

The 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup provided the Department with 
an opportunity to partake in the festivities. Some students and staff 
volunteered their services to assist during the World Cup games.

UKZN Rugby has been given the opportunity to play in the FNB 
Varsity Shield Tournament; this is a national, sponsored competition 
that follows on the highly successful FNB Varsity Cup Tournament. The 
year 2010 was a preparatory year in which the UKZN team was selected. 
Training and coaching prepared the team for the competition that would 
start in 2011. 

Student Discipline
The Student Discipline Office administers the University Student 
Discipline system aimed at maintaining the University’s Code of Conduct 
and norms of behaviour of students.  This is done in such a way as to 
protect the rights of individuals by ensuring the student is adequately 
represented in student disciplinary hearings, and that hearings are 
conducted ethically, efficiently and in an appropriate manner, and to 
uphold the rights of the University. The student discipline process plays 
a supportive role in the development of responsible student behaviour 
and projects the basic safety of the community as a whole.

There were a total of 150 disciplinary hearings in 2010, compared 
to 324 in 2009. A number of factors contributed to the decrease in 
disciplinary hearings, including harsher sanctions, good working 
relations, efficient investigations and good communication between 
stakeholders. 

  The University views plagiarism very seriously and the Plagiarism 
Policy implemented in January 2010 is welcomed. Fraud continues to 
be a challenge and rigorous investigations are in place to manage this 
concern. 

Community Engagement 
Students in Free Enterprise (SIFE)-UKZN has won the South African 
National Champion Competition three times and was a World Cup Semi-
Finalist three times. In 2010 they received the eThekwini Mayoral Award 
in the Community Development category. The SIFE-UKZN Foundation 
partnership was set up in 2010, with sponsorship of R100 000 from the 
MTN Foundation.

The membership of SIFE-UKZN grew from 96 active members in 
2009 to 136 in 2010. In 2010, SIFE-UKZN organised 25 projects, in eight 
programmes ranging from agriculture, to technology and engineering. 
These projects were conducted nationally and internationally. 
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Financial Aid 
Approximately  8 000 applications are processed annually through 
the Student Funding Centre (SFC) that allocates funding in three main 
categories of student financial need: loan funding, scholarship funds 
and bursary funding. Loan funding is based solely on financial need. 
Bursary funding is based on a combination of financial need, equity and 
academic merit. Bursary funds are received from external sponsors, the 
National Student Financial Aid Scheme and deceased estates. The main 
source of scholarship funding is the University Council and the National 
Research Foundation.

The table below summarises funding allocations for 2009 and 2010:

TyPes of fUNDiNg year

Number of 
students 
funded

Total funding
r

LoaNs

NSFAS admin; UKZN 2009 5 882  170 747 398 

2010 6 772  212 791 095 

bUrsaries

NSFAS admin; Corporates; 
Social Responsibility; 
Deceased estates 2009 5 337 147 112 130 

2010 5 884 173 284 206 

sChoLarshiPs

UKZN; National Research 
Foundation; Deceased 
estates 2009 3 346 40 746 325 

2010 3 057 42 789 984 

Student Governance and Student 
Leadership Development
The Student Representative Council (SRC) constitution provides 
that elections should be held on an annual basis. The Student 
Governance Office initiated the process of elections in partnership 
with the Independent Electoral Commission, the Student Leadership 
and Development Office and other internal stakeholders. The SRC 
was duly inducted on 12-14 December 2010. The Student Leadership 
and Development Office continued to provide leadership training 
programmes and workshops to students who are in leadership positions 
and those who aspire to occupy such positions in their communities.

Student Housing
In 2010 UKZN had 7 057 beds in University-owned residences, 
including off-campus residences, while there were 2 725 beds in leased 
residences.  The University accommodated 28% of the overall contact 
student population.   The number of beds increased from 6 925 in 
2009 to 7 057 in 2010, due to a new Medical School Residence on the 
Pietermaritzburg campus.  The demand for student accommodation 
remains high.  

The 2010 residence intake for all campuses was as follows:

first year 
students

returning 
students

Postgraduate 
students

Leased 
residences

Private 
accommodation

2 250 6 990 530 2 700 950

Transportation 
Transport is provided for students  who are accommodated in off- 
campus residences.  The daily transport system ensures that students 
are not disadvantaged in accessing essential services such as lecture 
halls, LANs, libraries, sport facilities, laboratories, offices, etc.

Residence Security upgrade
The University continues to invest in security measures to provide a safe 
environment for both staff and students. In 2010 a project to upgrade 
residence security fixtures in all the campus-based residences was 
undertaken.  Ablution locks, door chains, burglar guards, guard huts, 
panic buttons, CCTV cameras, signage and additional lighting were 
installed. 

Residence Life Programmes 
One of the core businesses of Student Housing is to create an 
environment conducive to living and learning. In 2010, the Residence 
Life Team designed and implemented programmes aimed at developing 
students beyond academic learning. The following residence life 
programmes were developed and implemented during the 2010 
academic year: Training of residence assistants; residence orientation; 
induction of floor representatives and fire marshals; enjoying residence 
life; developing lasting relationships; fire drill seminar for floor 
representatives and fire marshals; launch of the tutoring project; 
workshop on tutoring; adjusting to the culture of UKZN; and leadership 
and responsibility workshops.



Study Lans in the Residences
 Student LAN facilities and wireless network facilities have been 
installed in a number of residences.  This invaluable investment will 
equip students to conduct research, compile assignments, and share 
and access information in their residences.  

Conclusion
The University is committed to provide excellent learning facilities which 
stimulate intellectual engagement and social spaces and amenities 
that are equipped and function with the student in mind. The Student 
Services Division is aware that this is a continuous and rigorous process 
and is grateful to the staff in the various units and centres for their 
efforts. 

Ms M D Masipa
executive Dean of students
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“

The University has enjoyed an excellent past 
year of growth and financial performance. It 
is in a relatively sound state of financial health 
which, in turn, is reflective of the overall positive 
and generally upward trajectory on which the 
University is set.

“

AnnUAL  
FInAnCIAL REVIEW
Mr R H Clarkson
Chief Finance Officer
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Overview of 2010 
Annual Financial 
Statements
I have pleasure in presenting the following 
report on the 2010 consolidated annual 
financial statements for the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN). The respective 
statements cover all financial activities and 
results of the University and its subsidiaries, 
including those of the UKZN Foundation 
Trust and UKZN Innovation (Pty) Ltd.  They 
therefore provide a comprehensive record 
of the University’s financial operations, 
performance and cash flows for the past 
year, as well as a statement of its financial 
position (“balance sheet”) as at 31 December 
2010. Comments on the salient features of 
these financial statements, as well as a five 
year (2006 to 2010) analytical review of key 
financial data, follow below.

Consolidated 
Statement of 
Financial Position 
(“Balance Sheet”)
The financial position of the University as at 
31 December 2010, together with comparative 
figures for 2009 and 2008, are shown in the 
consolidated balance sheet (page 104 of this 
Annual Report). Overall, there has been a 
significant improvement in the University’s 
financial position relative to the end of each of 
the two prior years. Major components of the 
University’s assets are analysed in Table 1.

Total assets at 31 December 2010 
amounted to R2.85 billion (2009: R2.55 
billion), an increase of 11.9% (2009:13%) 
compared to the end of 2009. This growth 
is pleasing, especially having regard to the 
generally difficult environment in which the 

Table 1
assets 2010

University operated for much of 2010, which 
was characterised by continuing tight credit 
conditions and reduced research income 
relative to the preceding three years.

Asset growth during the past year was 
attributable mainly to ongoing infrastructural 
development, improved liquidity and an 
appreciation in the market values of the 
University’s investments. The former growth 
is evidenced by capital additions to property, 
plant and equipment (PPE) amounting to 
R208 million (2009 : R197 million). It is 
both significant and pleasing to note that 
cumulative investment in PPE during the 
seven year post-merger period (2004 to 2010 
inclusive) has now exceeded R1.3 billion. 
When viewed together with future capital 
commitments of R1.07 billion (see note 23 to 
the AFS for details), which has been variously 
approved and/or contracted, this constitutes 
an impressive record and attests to the level 
of confidence that investor stakeholders, 
including the Minister of Higher Education 
and Training and several major international 
donors, have in the University.

Mr r h Clarkson
Chief finance officer 
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The University’s investment portfolios appreciated in value by 
R75 million during 2010. For the most part, this represented the re-
investment of realised investment gains (R50 million) and favourable 
fair value adjustments (R24 million). These value gains have continued 
during the 2011 year to date and, hopefully, the portfolios will benefit by 
ongoing buoyant market conditions.

Current assets increased by R123 million (25.6%), compared with 
a corresponding increase in 2009 of R39 million (8.9%). The 2010 year 
was, however, again characterised by volatility in the levels of cash and 
cash equivalents (call accounts and short-term bank deposits). These 
balances fluctuated both during and subsequent to the period under 
review, reflecting the generally constrained credit and adverse liquidity 
circumstances within the economy as a whole and perhaps more 
acutely experienced in particular by University students and other major 
stakeholders. Further comment follows overleaf (see section headed 
“Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows” on page 95).

At financial year-end (31 December 2010), there was a net increase 
in funds of R209 million relative to the prior yearend. This is equivalent 
to 24.9% of opening fund balances. This was attributable variously to 
growth of R51 million in non-distributable funds and R11 million in the 
University’s restricted funds, together with a reduction of R147 million in 
the level of the unrestricted funds deficit.

Unrestricted Council-controlled funds continue to reflect a net 
deficit situation (albeit, a significant improvement relative to the 
previous year) of R161 million at 31 December 2010 (compared to 31 
December 2009 : R308 million). This matter continues to receive the 
close attention of University management. The trend of sustained 
improvement from 2006 to date is encouraging and is illustrated below. 
Expressed as a proportion of total assets in each case, the respective 
accumulated deficits in respect of Council-controlled funds at the end 
of each of the past five years have shown a decline over the period, as 
follows:

2006  –  17.3%
2007  –  12.4%
2008  –  13.8%
2009  –  12.1%
2010  –    5.7%

During the year, total liabilities increased by R94 million (2009 : 196 
million) and, at 31 December 2010, amounted to R1.80 billion (63.3% of 
total assets), compared to R1.71 billion at 31 December 2009 (67.1% of 
total assets). The 2010 category percentages are analysed in Table 2.  It 
should be noted that post-retirement obligations and employee-related 
benefits (R887 million) represent almost half of the total liabilities. 
Except for the relatively minor component of accrued service bonuses 

(R31 million) at 31 December 2010 and any subsequent encashment of 
leave (whether on resignation, retirement or, exceptionally, as permitted 
in terms of the conditions of service), none of these entail short-term 
cash-based obligations. Interest-bearing liabilities totalled R391 million 
at 31 December 2010 and are almost unchanged from 2009 (R394 
million). Unexpended government grants for specific purposes (so-called 
“earmarked funds”), although appreciably lower (by 20%) than the 
end of the prior year, remained higher than intended at R137 million. 
The need for additional project management capacity, accompanied by 
a greater sense of urgency by grantholders to utilise these funds on a 
timely basis, has been acknowledged and is currently being addressed.

The debt : funds ratio (expressed as a percentage) is an important 
measure of the University’s overall funding situation and, despite 
being relatively high at 31 December 2010, i.e. 37.4% (2009 : 47.1%), 
is both consistent with predetermined budgetary parameters and also 
appreciably better than the prior year. The related finance costs for both 
years were comfortably within the Council-prescribed debt threshold 
(currently, 3% of recurrent operating income), which forms one of the 
cornerstones of the University’s long-term financial planning framework. 

Consolidated Income Statement
A consolidated net surplus of R177 million has been reported for the 
year ended 31 December 2010 (2009 : surplus of R19 million), in both 
cases after finance costs and non-recurrent items of income and 

Table 2
Liabilities 2010
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expenditure. This is a pleasing result and attests to sound and prudent 
financial management exercised by all budgetholders, grantholders and 
others responsible for administering the University’s finances, with the 
notable exception of the management of UKZN Innovation (Pty) Ltd, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary, which reported a loss of R14.5 million for the 
year (2009 : loss of R3.6 million).

The Council-controlled component of the income statement 
reflected an operating surplus before non-recurrent items and finance 
costs, of R84 million for 2010 (comparatively, in 2009 a net operating 
deficit of R45 million was reported). These results are analysed more 
fully in Table 5 on page 94 of this report.

Surpluses of R72 million, R11 million and R1 million, respectively, 
in the specifically-funded activities, student residences and the 
endowment funds components of the consolidated income statement, 
served to augment the Main Fund operating surplus and contribute to a 
total operating surplus of R168 million. These results, whilst gratifying, 
have once again highlighted the need for an appropriate system of 
internal overhead cost recoveries to better account for the significant, 
and increasing, support (both direct and indirect) that is rendered by the 
University to its subsidiary and other externally-funded affiliated units.

Table 3 depicts the major sources of income for each of the last 
five years. Appreciable growth has occurred in government subsidies 
and grants and, also, in the category of private contracts, grants and 
donations. The respective categories are analysed individually below. 

For the second successive year, significant increases were reported 
in tuition and other fee income. These increases amounted to R123 
million in 2010 (19.3% up on the prior year) and R102 million, or 19.1%, 
in 2009. In part, this trend is explained by successively increasing 
student enrolments, coupled with the joint effects of higher average 
course loads (i.e. modular registrations per student) and annual 
inflation-linked fee increases. Residence fee increases were, however, 
accompanied by an increase in the number, and cost, of students 
accommodated in off-campus housing, which in some cases proved to 
be financially non-viable. Although turnover in student residence fees 
increased by R28 million, the consolidated residences generated a loss 
of R8 million for the 2010 year (2009: net loss of R4 million), in both 
cases after accounting for the relatively onerous finance costs borne 
by the residences (R19 million in each of 2010 and 2009). Student fee 
income accounts for approximately 25% of total (recurrent) income, 
a proportion that has remained relatively constant over the past five 
years.

The importance of research-related and other specifically-funded 
activities (i.e. private contracts, grants and donations) in terms of their 
contribution to total turnover is evident from the trends in the adjacent 
graph. Since 2006, the income generated by this category has, in each 

Table 3
Consolidated income
5 years: 2006 - 2010
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year, exceeded the combined contributions from student tuition and 
residence fees income.

It is, however, worth noting that, whereas in each of the two 
preceding financial years (2008 and 2009), income from private 
contracts, grants and donations grew disproportionately (thereby 
accounting for almost one-third of the University’s total income), in 2010 
this trend was reversed and revenues declined both in monetary terms, 
by R59 million, and also as a proportion of total income from 33.1% 
in 2009 to 27.6%. This is, perhaps, a reflection in part of the relatively 
slow global economic recovery, as well as a discernible shift in 2010 from 
revenue-based to capital grants, the recognition of which is spread over 
the life of the related property, plant and equipment.

 The respective growth trends in the major categories of income 
should not only be analysed in relation to the immediately preceding 
financial year, but should also be viewed in the context of the medium- 
to longer-terms (say, five years). If so, when viewed against the 
comparatively modest growth in student fees of 8% per annum between 
2006 and 2010, income from externally-funded private contracts, grants 
and donations increased at an average annual rate of almost 20% 
during the same period. Government subsidies and grants, excluding 
merger-related and other non-recurrent grants, have increased, on 
average, by 10% per annum during the same five year period.

Consolidated operating expenses increased by 7.0% in 2010 (2009 
: 11.7%) and were generally contained within budget, but nevertheless 
exceeded prevailing inflation in both years. In the case of personnel 
costs, there was an overall increase of 14.9% in 2010 (2009 : 8.2%), 
which is explained for the most part by significant increases in post-
retirement health care obligations (R29 million or 39%), retirement 
funding contributions (R11 million or 11%) and leave pay provisions (R9 
million or 27%), respectively. In aggregate, these three items accounted 
for R254 million in 2010 (or 16.2% of total personnel costs; 2009 : 
15.0%  – see note 16 on page 125 of the Annual Financial Statements for 
details). 

Disproportionately high increases occurred in 2010 in a number 
of operating expenses, most notably in rates and utility charges, 
operating leases, audit-related costs and impairment losses. Finance 
costs remained unchanged at R40 million, almost half of which comprise 
costs related to servicing the Westville residences financial lease 
arrangement. These expenditure trends are analysed in broad outline for 
the five year period from 2006 to 2010 in Table 4 alongside.

As part of its endeavour to attain financial sustainability, the 
University has adopted a 5 year financial plan (2009-2013) and a 
budgetary framework. These are based on, inter alia, achieving 
progressive reductions in budgeted personnel costs and other operating 
expenses (in each case expressed as percentages of total recurrent 

Table 4
Consolidated expenditure

5 years: 2006 - 2010



income) from their previously high levels and to thereby ensure that 
operating deficits are first reduced and thereafter eliminated over the 
ensuing four to five years. Between 2004 and 2007, no meaningful 
progress was made in this respect, but it is pleasing to note that, from 
the 2008 year onwards, significant and sustained reductions in the 
proportion of Council-controlled (i.e. Main Fund) personnel costs have 
been achieved. The respective figures (again, in each case, expressed 
as percentages of total recurrent income) for the past five years are as 
follows:

   2006  –  69.4%
   2007  –  70.1%
   2008  –  65.6%
   2009  –  62.2%
   2010  –  61.6%
  

For statutory reporting and also the purposes of the foregoing analysis, 
retirement funding contributions and post-retirement costs are included 

in personnel costs, although these are not readily controllable by 
budgetholders as they are consequences of conditions of service. 
Moreover, they are exceedingly susceptible to variations arising from 
actuarial valuations that are themselves sensitive to inflationary and 
market factors. Both items are significant and warrant close attention as 
part of the University’s future financial management strategy to achieve 
its cost containment objectives.

Depreciation and finance costs, although not material components 
of expenditure when compared with the above costs, are both set 
to increase significantly in line with the current and planned capital 
expenditure programmes. Current (actual) and 5 Year target figures 
are as follows (respective percentages expressed in relation to total 
recurrent income):

Depreciation   :  2010  – 3.4%; 2013 (target)  – 6.5%
Finance costs :  2010  – 1.4%; 2013 (target)  – 3.0% 
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Recurrent Unrestricted Council 
Controlled Operations: 2006 to 2010
As stated above, the Council-controlled component of the income 
statement reflects the results of the University’s core (“unrestricted” 
funds) operating activities. The results for the past five years are shown 
in Table 5 below. Despite recurrent operating deficits recorded during 
the first four years of that period, the 2010 figures reflect a significantly 
improved performance and are particularly pleasing when related to the 
consolidated surplus from recurrent operations – this being the third 
successive year that an overall surplus has been achieved in the past 
five years. These figures, although encouraging, serve to emphasise the 
need for continuing financial discipline by all budget-holders during the 
ensuing five years, and beyond, for the University to achieve financial 
sustainability in the medium- and long-terms.

Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Funds and Reserves
The movements in funds for the three years ended 31 December 2008, 
2009 and 2010, respectively, are shown on page 107 of this report. 
Comparatively, the closing fund balances increased from R838 million 
in 2009 to R1.047 billion at 31 December 2010, a growth of 24.9%, 
which is due largely to the favourable results achieved during the 
past year in all sectors of activity with the exception of the student 
residences. The previously accumulated Residences Funds were wholly 
depleted by 31 December 2010 and, consequently, the future financial 
planning strategy in respect of the University’s growing student 
housing demands requires careful consideration by stakeholders so 
as to ensure that the residences once again become financially self-
sustaining.

Table 5 : summarised income and expenditure (recurrent operations) : 2006 – 2010

Council Controlled funds 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

R’m R’m R’m R’m R’m

INCOME

Government subsidies and grants 777 856 991 1 029 1 214

Tuition and other fee income 409 421 435 510 595

Grants contracts and donations 108 54 102 219 223

Investment income 33 17 3 5 14

Total recurrent income                             (A) 1 327 1 348 1 531 1 763 2 046

EXPENDITURE

Personnel costs 921 945 1 028 1 097 1 259

Other operating expenses 378 399 499 517 492

Bursaries and scholarships 80 45 51 125 144

Depreciation 58 67 66 69 67

Total recurrent expenditure 1 437 1 456 1 644 1 808 1 962

operating surplus / (deficit ) 
(Council-controlled funds)                   

(B) ( 110) ( 108) ( 113) ( 45) 84

Deficit (B) expressed as a % of (A) 8.3% 8.0% 7.4% 2.5%

Surplus (B) expressed as a % of (A)
Comparatively :

4.1%

Consolidated operating surplus
                    / (operating deficit) ( 41) ( 58)

44 34 168
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Apart from the operating surpluses and deficits to which reference 
has been made earlier in this report, increases in funds of R24 million by 
way of gains in the market value of investments were achieved (2009 : 
R82 million) and these are included in the Revaluation Reserve. These 
upward movements resulted from unrealised market gains in 2009 and 
2010 respectively, which, in turn, were attributable to the reversal of 
prior year losses (i.e. 2008) occasioned by the global economic crisis. 

Other funds movements during the past year were collectively not 
material and are shown, as required, in the change of funds statement 
and incorporated in the balance sheet. The composition of the 
University’s consolidated funds at 31 December 2010 is shown in Table 6 
alongside.

Consolidated Statement of  
Cash Flows
Positive cash flows generated from operations during the 2010 year of 
R276 million (2009 also R276 million) were once again utilised largely to 
finance additions to property, plant and equipment. Whilst liquidity was 
constrained for much of the year,  net cash resources at 31 December 
2010 increased by R75 million relative to the prior year, mainly as a 
result of government grants having been received but not expended by 
financial year-end.

The 2010 year was characterised by a modest increase in the level of 
investment income, without a commensurate increase in finance costs. 
Consequently, the net result of the treasury and cash management 
operations for the year was a surplus of investment income over finance 
costs of R3.3 million, compared to a net deficit of R1.3 million in 2009.

Strict controls are exercised over cash flow and treasury activities. 
Bank balances, including call and notice deposits, are monitored closely 
on a daily basis to optimise investment returns. Efforts are also directed 
continuously to improve collections from student and general debtors, 
although this remains problematic, especially in the prevailing poor 
economic climate. Subsequent to the financial yearend, additional 
borrowings were raised through the Development Bank of Southern 
Africa to finance the University’s capital infrastructure programme; 
these facilities have alleviated pressure on cash flow and will facilitate 
planned capital expenditure for the remainder of 2011 and in 2012.

notes to the Consolidated Annual 
Financial Statements
The summary of accounting policies (pages 109 to 113 of this report) 
and other notes thereafter describe, variously, the bases of accounting 
adopted by the University, the extent of adherence to recognised 

financial reporting frameworks and details of material components of 
assets, liabilities, income, expenditure and other information required 
to be disclosed in accordance with prevailing reporting requirements. 
Except as otherwise indicated below, these do not require any further 
elucidation.

As has been the case since the 2005 year, the auditors have 
once again been obliged to qualify their audit opinion on the annual 
financial statements. This qualification stems from the University’s 
non-compliance with South African Statement of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (“GAAP”) AC 123 – Property, Plant and Equipment 
(IAS 16). As more fully explained in note 30 to the financial statements 
on page 140, the University has elected not to adopt the so-called 
“componentisation approach” to depreciation, nor has it reviewed the 
useful lives and residual values of individual assets at balance sheet 
date. It is the opinion of management that it would be impracticable to 
carry out this exercise at present and that the cost of doing so would 
exceed the benefits derived. It nevertheless remains the objective of 
management, and the University Council’s steadfast commitment, to 
ensure that the University’s fixed assets recording and control systems 
are sufficiently reliable to obviate the ongoing need for an audit 
qualification. Financial resources have recently been committed to 
ensure that this happens within the current (2011) financial year and 
arrangements are presently being made to undertake a comprehensive 
assessment and valuation of all University freehold properties and major 
items of plant and equipment to ensure compliance with the relevant 
GAAP requirements.

Table 6
funds 2010
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Despite the foregoing, the auditors are satisfied that all other 
elements of the financial statements fairly present the University’s 
financial position and the results of its operations, and their opinion to 
the University Council is framed accordingly.  Members of both Council 
and management, in affirming their respective roles and responsibilities, 
annually attest to the integrity and fair presentation of the financial 
statements and have, once again, been able to do so in respect of 
the 2010 financial year.  In this way, these bodies have been able to 
discharge their duties to the University’s stakeholders with confidence 
as to its compliance with prevailing reporting frameworks and statutes, 
as well as its “going concern” status. The respective management 
representations for 2010 were also endorsed as being appropriate by the 
University’s Finance and Audit & Risk Committees prior to the audited 
financial statements being approved formally by Council.

Conclusion
It will be evident from the foregoing review, read in conjunction with the 
attached annual financial statements, that the University has enjoyed 
an excellent past year of growth and financial performance, based on 
its results for 2010 and that it is in a relatively sound state of financial 
health. The state of the University’s finances is, in turn, reflective of the 

overall positive and generally upward trajectory on which the University 
is set and upon which other office-holders have commented elsewhere 
in this Annual Report.

Finally, it is appropriate that I record my thanks to those members 
of the Finance Division who, through their diligence and commitment 
to meet prevailing professional accounting standards, ensured that the 
University fulfilled its statutory reporting obligations and deadlines on 
a timely basis. A special word of appreciation is, likewise, extended to 
our external financial service-providers and to members of the Audit & 
Risk and Finance Committees for their guidance throughout the past 
year and, in particular, during the course of finalising the 2010 annual 
financial statements and the audit thereof. The University’s interests 
have been well served by their efforts.

Mr r h Clarkson
Chief finance officer 

6 June 2011
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CounCil’s statement oF ResPonsibility FoR the Consolidated 
annual FinanCial statements

31 december 2010

The Council is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the consolidated annual financial statements of the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal.         

The consolidated financial statements presented on pages 104 to 140 of this annual report for 2010 have, except as stated in note 30 (page 140), been 
prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) and in the manner required by the Minister 
of Higher Education and Training in terms of the Higher Education Act (No. 101 of 1997), as amended. Compliance with GAAP requires, inter alia, 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. The Council also prepared other information as required to be included in this annual report and is responsible for both its accuracy and consistency 
with the financial statements. 

The going concern basis has been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.  The Council has no reason to believe that the University of 
KwaZulu-Natal will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources.  The viability of the University is 
supported by the financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by the independent auditors, Deloitte & Touche, who were given unrestricted access to 
all financial records and related data, including minutes of meetings of the Council and all its committees.  The Council believes that all representations 
made to the independent auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate. 

approval of the Consolidated annual Financial statements 
The consolidated annual financial statements set out on pages 104 to 140 were approved by the Council of the University of KwaZulu-Natal on 6 June 
2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

M MIA L FRANCOIS
Chair of Council Chair of Audit and Risk Committee

PROFESSOR M W MAKGOBA RH CLARKSON
Vice-Chancellor and Principal Chief Finance Officer
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indePendent auditoRs’ RePoRt
to the members of the Council of the university of KwaZulu·natal
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the consolidated annual financial statements of the University of KwaZulu-Natal for the year ended 31 December 2010, set out on page 101 

and pages 104 to 140, which comprise the Council’s statement of responsibility for the consolidated annual financial statements, the consolidated statement of 

financial position, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in funds and 

reserves, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory notes.

Council’s responsibility for the financial statements
The University Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with South African 

Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and in the manner required by the Minister of Higher Education and Training in terms of section 41 of the 

Higher Education Act, (no. 101 of 1997) as amended and for such internal control as the Council Members determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend 

on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion. 

Basis for qualified opinion
Property, Plant and Equipment
South African Statement of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, lAS 16 (AC 123), Property, Plant and Equipment requires the assessment of useful lives and 

residual values for plant and equipment capitalised under the standard on at least an annual basis. In addition, it requires that each part of plant and equipment 

that is significant in relation to each other to be depreciated separately. As described in note 30 to the annual financial statements, the University of KwaZulu-

Natal is not in compliance with the above-mentioned requirements. We have not been able to determine whether any adjustments would be necessary to the 

depreciation of plant and equipment had the above mentioned policies been applied.

Consolidated annual Financial statements
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indePendent auditoRs’ RePoRt
to the members of the Council of the university of KwaZulu·natal (continued)

Qualified opinion
In our opinion, except for the effect of the matter referred to in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 

all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the University of KwaZulu-Natal as at 31 December 2010, and its consolidated financial performance 

and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and in the manner 

required by the Minister of Higher Education and Training in terms of section 41 of the Higher Education Act, (no. 101 of 1997) as amended.

Deloitte & Touche: Registered Auditors
Per: M Luthuli: Partner
6 June 2011

Deloitte Place
2 Pencarrow Crescent
Pencarrow Park
La Lucia Ridge Office Estate
La Lucia 4051
Docex 3 Durban

National Executive: GG Gelink, Chief Executive; AE Swiegers, Chief Operating Officer; GM Pinnock, Audit; DL Kennedy, Risk Advisory; NB Kader, Tax & Legal Services; L Geeringh, Consulting;  
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Notes
2010

R’000

2009
(Restated)

R’000

2008
(Restated)

R’000

ASSETS

Non-current Assets 2 248 300 2 068 621 1 815 663 

Property, plant and equipment 2 1 206 270 1 103 074 1 005 814 
Investments 3  844 437  769 199  653 202 
Non-current receivables 4  197 593  196 348  156 647 

Current Assets  603 369  480 276  440 994 

Inventories 5  6 145  6 851  5 193 
Accounts receivable and prepayments 6  340 409  291 748  324 055 
Cash and cash equivalents 7  256 815  181 677  111 746 

Total Assets 2 851 669 2 548 897 2 256 657 

FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Funds 1 046 975  838 415  742 485 
Non-distributable funds
 - Endowed funds  379 875  351 475  333 198 
 - Revaluation reserve  184 649  162 284  81 803 

Restricted funds designated for specific activities    
 - Education and general  647 756  625 901  622 112 
 - Student residences (3 967  7 170  16 328 

Unrestricted Council-controlled funds (161 338 (308 415 (310 956

Non-current Liabilities 1 160 372 1 081 727 1 009 042 

Borrowings 8  346 072  349 739  353 502 
Post-retirement obligations 10  676 946  606 849  561 553 
Non-current portion of employee benefits 11  137 354  125 139  93 987 

Current Liabilities  644 322  628 755  505 130 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12  362 842  318 734  245 025 
Current portion of borrowings 8  45 271  44 794  45 028 
Current portion of employee benefits 11  73 236  64 304  84 857 
Deferred government grants 13  137 449  171 744  98 990 
Student deposits  25 524  29 179  31 230 

Total Funds and Liabilities 2 851 669 2 548 897 2 256 657 

Consolidated statement oF FinanCial Position
as at 31 december 2010

)

) ) )
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Consolidated inCome statement
for the year ended 31 december 2010

Education and General

Notes

Council-
Controlled 

Funds 
Unrestricted

Specifically 
Funded 

Activities 
Restricted

Sub-total Student 
Residences 

Restricted

Endowed 
Funds 

Restricted

2010
Total

2009
Total

2008
Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

INCOME
Recurrent Income

Government subsidies and grants 14 1 213 686  123 789 1 337 475   477  -   1 337 952 1 089 585  986 445 

Tuition and other fee income  595 475  29 974  625 449  136 500  -    761 949  638 906  536 546 

Private contracts, grants and donations  222 675  585 172  807 847  5 017  3 428  816 292  875 453  802 127 

Investment income 15  14 067  14 813  28 880  1 745  13 050  43 675  39 572  56 212 

Total recurrent income   2 045 903  753 748 2 799 651  143 739  16 478 2 959 868 2 643 516 2 381 330 

EXPENDITURE
Recurrent Expenditure

Personnel costs 16 1 259 369  283 714 1 543 083  14 794  4 818 1 562 695 1 360 431 1 257 711 

Other operating expenses 21  475 112  270 725  745 837  110 871  3 101  859 809  964 162  876 088 

Bursaries and scholarships  143 972  86 920  230 892  -    7 546  238 438  160 115  93 907 

Minor capital items expensed  16 868  9 612  26 480  2 577   47  29 104  29 687  14 602 

Depreciation 2  66 685  30 636  97 321  4 789   5  102 115  95 461  95 205 

Total recurrent expenditure 1 962 006  681 607 2 643 613  133 031  15 517 2 792 161 2 609 856 2 337 513 

SURPLUS from recurrent operations  83 897  72 141  156 038  10 708   961  167 707  33 660  43 817 

Non-recurrent Items    

Leave pay policy adjustment  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   (3 991

Realised gains on sale of investments 3  21 651  -    21 651  -    28 008  49 659  26 542  20 947 

Total non-recurrent items  21 651  -    21 651  -    28 008  49 659  26 542  16 956 

SURPLUS before finance costs  105 548  72 141  177 689  10 708  28 969  217 366  60 202  60 773 

Finance costs 15  21 441  -    21 441  18 939  -    40 380  40 870  33 273 

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) for the year  84 107  72 141  156 248 (8 231  28 969  176 986  19 332  27 500

)

)
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Education and General
Council-

Controlled 
Funds 

Unrestricted

Specifically 
Funded 

Activities 
Restricted

Sub-total Student 
Residences 

Restricted

Endowed 
Funds 

Restricted

2010
Total

2009
Total

2008
Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) for the year 84 107 72 141 156 248 (8 231 28 969 176 986 19 332 27 500

Other Comprehensive Income

Net gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets 32 942 -  32 942 -  40 375 73 317 108 316 (118 842

Reclassification of realised gains (21 651 -  (21 651 - (28 008 (49 659 (26 542 (20 947

Release of revaluation reserve 1 293 - 1 293 - - 1 293 1 293 1 293

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 12 584 - 12 584 - 12 367 24 951 83 067 (138 496

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) for the year 96 691 72 141 168 832 (8 231 41 336 201 937 102 399 (110 996

Consolidated statement oF ComPRehensive inCome
for the year ended 31 december 2010

)

)

)

) ) ))))

)

)
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Non-distributable Funds
Funds Designated for 

Specific Activities
Council-Controlled Funds

Total FundsNotes Endowed 
Funds

Revaluation 
Reserve

Education & 
General

Student 
Residences

Operating 
Funds

PPE Funds Sub-total

Restricted Restricted Restricted Restricted Unrestricted Unrestricted

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Fund balances at 1 January 2008  318 684  222 885  547 379  21 663 (780 565  516 292 (264 273  846 338 

Net surplus/(deficit) for 2008  17 415  -    131 794  7 294 (129 003  -   (129 003  27 500 

Other comprehensive loss for 2008 (67 465  -    -    -   (71 031  -   (71 031 (138 496

Prior year adjustment 26  -    -    -    -   (4 484  -   (4 484 (4 484

Change in fair value of investments 3  67 465 (139 789  -    -    72 324  -    72 324  -   

Funds utilised (645  -   (57 061 (12 629 (7 736  -   (7 736 (78 071

Net increase in PPE funds  -    -    -    -    -    90 991  90 991  90 991 

Transfers between funds (2 256 (1 293  -    -    2 256  -    2 256 (1 293

Restated fund balances at 31 December 2008  333 198  81 803  622 112  16 328 (918 239  607 283 (310 956  742 485 

Net surplus/(deficit) for 2009  21 876  -    54 864 (3 687 (53 721  -   (53 721  19 332 

Other comprehensive income for 2009  45 950  -    -    -    37 117  -    37 117  83 067 

Prior year adjustment 26  -    -    -    -   (10 387  -   (10 387 (10 387

Change in fair value of investments 3 (45 950  81 774  -    -   (35 824  -   (35 824  -   

Funds utilised (1 771  -   (51 075 (5 471 (37 731  -   (37 731 (96 048

Net increase in PPE funds  -    -    -    -    -    101 259  101 259  101 259 

Transfers between funds (1 828 (1 293  -    -    1 828  -    1 828 (1 293

Restated fund balances at 31 December 2009  351 475  162 284  625 901  7 170 (1 016 957  708 542 (308 415  838 415 

Net surplus/(deficit) for 2010  28 969  -    72 141 (8 231  84 107  -    84 107  176 986 

Other comprehensive income for 2010  12 367  -    -    -    12 584  -    12 584  24 951 

Change in fair value of investments 3 (12 367  23 658  -    -   (11 291  -   (11 291  -   

Funds utilised   683  -   (42 267 (2 906 (53 978  -   (53 978 (98 468

Net increase in PPE funds  -    -    -    -    -    106 384  106 384  106 384 

Transfers between funds (1 252 (1 293 (8 019  -    9 271  -    9 271 (1 293

Fund balances at 31 December 2010  379 875  184 649  647 756 (3 967 (976 264  814 926 (161 338 1 046 975

Consolidated statement oF Changes in Funds and ReseRves
for the year ended 31 december 2010
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Consolidated statement oF Cash FloWs 
for the year ended 31 december 2010

Notes
2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

Operating Activities

Cash generated from operations 22  276 211  275 607  167 980 

Investment income, less finance costs  3 295 (1 298  22 939 

Investment income 15  43 675  39 572  56 212 

Less: Finance costs 15 (40 380 (40 870 (33 273

Net cash inflows from operating activities  279 506  274 309  190 919 

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities (213 916 (205 484 (327 025

Additions to property, plant and equipment 2 (208 393 (196 889 (313 572

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  2 453  1 148  1 291 

Withdrawal of investments 3  21 585  21 650  18 347 

Reinvestment of net investment income 3 (23 506 (29 331 (30 905

(Increase)/decrease in long-term fixed deposits 4 (1 794  2 385 (2 186

Increase in Tertiary Education and Research Network of South Africa (TENET) loan receivable 4 (4 261 (4 447

Financing Activities

Net cash inflows from financing activities  9 548  1 106  68 180 

Repayment of long-term loan: Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) 8 (6 090 (5 598  -   

Repayment to financial institutions for government-subsidised loans 8 (1 977 (3 456 (4 472

Repayment of student loans 4  66 442  62 748  32 441 

Student loans granted 4 (53 704 (57 645 (89 898

Increase in finance lease liabilities 9  4 877  5 057  130 109 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  75 138  69 931 (67 926

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  181 677  111 746  179 672 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7  256 815  181 677  111 746

)

))

))

) )

)

))

)

)

)

)
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)
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)
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notes to the Consolidated annual FinanCial statements
for the year ended 31 december 2010

1  aCCounting PoliCies

1.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and in the 
manner required by the Minister of Higher Education and Training in terms of 
section 41 of the Higher Education Act,  (Act No. 101 of 1997), as amended. 

1.2 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African 
rands, rounded to the nearest thousand (R’000)  in each case. They are 
prepared under the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of 
certain properties and financial instruments. The principal accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set 
out below and are consistent with those of the previous year. 

1.3 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements 
of the University and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the University. Control exists 
where the University has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an entity or is the sole beneficiary. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained 
by the University and until they are disposed of or control ceases.  All inter-
entity transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and deficits are 
eliminated on consolidation. Where necessary, appropriate adjustments 
are made to the accounting policies of subsidiaries on consolidation to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the University. 

1.4 Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In applying the University’s accounting policies, management has made 
the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which most 
significantly affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  

1.4 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
Investments

All investments, with the exception of specific investments which are 
held-to-maturity, are considered to be ‘available-for-sale’ investments as 
the intention is to grow the value of the investment portfolios over the 
long-term. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are set out below: 

Depreciation  

At the end of each reporting period, assets within property, plant and 
equipment are reviewed to assess whether their estimated useful lives 
and residual values are appropriate. 

Impairment 

Management assess whether there are any indicators of impairment for 
all non-financial assets at each reporting date. 
 
Receivables 

At the end of each reporting period, management makes an estimate 
of the provision for impairment of receivables that are considered 
irrecoverable. 

Employee benefits 

A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and 
sabbatical leave as a result of services rendered by academic, professional, 
administrative and other support staff up to the financial year end. 
  
Post-retirement obligations 

For the purposes of valuing the University’s future obligations in respect 
of post-retirement health care, provident fund and pension fund benefits, 
key assumptions are made in respect of discount rates, expected inflation 
on medical aid contributions, expected age of retirements and mortality 
rates.
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1.5 Income recognition 
State subsidies and grants for general purposes are recognised as income 
in the financial year to which they relate.  Subsidies and grants for specific 
purposes are brought into the appropriate funds at the time that they are 
available to finance the expenditure for the purposes provided.  However, 
if funding is provided in advance of the specified requirements, (i.e. the 
University does not have immediate legal entitlement to it),  the relevant 
amounts are deferred and recognised in the applicable subsequent period. 

Income received for designated specific purposes arises from 
contracts, grants, donations and income for specified endowments. Such 
income is brought into the consolidated income statement in the financial 
period in which the University becomes entitled to the use of these funds 
in accordance with the relevant agreements. 

Funds received which the University cannot use until some specified 
future period or occurrence, are held in an appropriate fund until the 
financial period in which  the funds can be used, at which time they are 
recognised as income. If the funds are returnable to their source in the 
absence of the event or occurrence, or in the case of trust and agency 
monies, they are disclosed on the consolidated statement of financial 
position under non-current or current liabilities, as applicable. 

Tuition and residence fees are recognised as income in the period to 
which they relate, i.e. at the time these fees are formally billed.  Deposits 
provided by prospective students are treated as current liabilities 
until these amounts are billed as due. Provision is made for estimated 
unrealisable amounts. 

Interest is recognised on a time allocation basis, taking account 
of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the period 
to maturity, when it is determined that such income will accrue to the 
University.  Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment 
is established.  Interest, dividends and other income received or due on 
assets representing trust funds are transferred to income only in terms of 
the relevant legal conditions governing such funds. 
  

1.6 Segment information and accumulated funds
The consolidated income statement and the statement of changes in 
funds and reserves are prepared on a segmented basis in the manner 
required in terms of section 41 of the Higher Education Act, (Act No. 101 
of 1997), as amended.  Income and expenditure categorised as ‘Council-
controlled’ relate to funds over which the Council of the University has 
legal control and unrestricted, i.e. discretionary, authority.  Specifically-
funded activities relate to funds generated and utilised in terms of the 
legal requirements of the grantors and donors of such funds and are 
therefore regarded as ‘restricted use’ funds.   

Student Residences income, expenditure and funds relate to 
the provision of student accommodation and housing. Income and 
expenditure shown as Endowment Funds comprise funds received for 
bursaries, scholarships and related activities. The consolidated statement 
of changes in funds and reserves is similarly segmented and also includes 
a Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) fund, which represents the net 
carrying values of the PPE, less attributable external borrowings. 

The Revaluation Reserve carries those gains and losses on investments 
that are not recognised in the consolidated income statement, as well as 
the revaluation surplus on property, a portion of which is  systematically 
released to income annually. The unrealised gains and losses arise as a 
result of movements in the fair value of investments.  

Education and General funds comprise restricted purpose funds for 
which the University has, in terms of the related contractual agreements, 
obligations to utilise the relevant funds for specifically-designated 
activities and to account accordingly. 
  

1.7 Foreign currency transactions 
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at spot rates, being the 
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the respective transactions.  
Gains and losses arising from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, are recognised in the consolidated income statement 
in the year in which they arise.  Assets and liabilities designated in foreign 
currencies at the consolidated statement of financial position date are 
translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 
  

1.8 Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is 
determined by the weighted-average method and includes costs incurred 
in acquiring inventories and bringing them to their existing condition and 
location.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price of inventory, 
should it be sold at arm’s length, less estimated selling expenses. 

The costs of minor departmental stocks acquired during the year 
are charged against current income and are not brought into account as 
inventory at the financial year-end. 
  

1.9 Retirement benefits 
The University provides retirement benefits for its employees through 
a number of defined contribution and defined benefit plans. Liabilities 
in respect of funded and unfunded obligations are recognised when 
employees have provided service for benefits to be paid in the future. 

Defined contribution plans  

Employer contributions to the defined contribution plan funds are 
charged to the consolidated income statement in the year in which they 
are incurred. The University has no further payment obligations once 
these contributions have been paid. 

Defined benefit plans 

For the defined benefit plans, the pension accounting costs are assessed 
using the projected unit credit method. Under this method, the cost of 

1  aCCounting PoliCies (continued)

1.6 Segment information and accumulated funds 
(continued)
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1  aCCounting PoliCies (continued)

providing pensions is charged to the consolidated income statement to 
spread the regular cost over the service lives of employees in accordance 
with the advice of qualified actuaries, who carry out full valuations of the 
plans at least every two years. Pension obligations are measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates 
of government securities that have terms to maturity approximating the 
terms of the related liabilities. Net differences between expected returns 
on plan assets and interest arising from discounting the obligations are 
reflected under other operating expenditure. Resultant liabilities are 
recognised at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised to the extent that they exceed 
10% of the defined benefit obligations or plan assets as applicable, over the 
expected average future working lives of participants in the respective plans. 

Post-retirement health care obligations 

Post-retirement health care benefits are provided for  all employees and 
retirees who were members of the University’s medical schemes prior to 1 
July 2004. The entitlement to post-retirement health care benefits is based 
on employees remaining in service up to retirement age. The expected 
costs of these benefits are accrued over the periods of employment, 
using the projected unit credit method. These service costs are charged 
to income as incurred. Valuations of these obligations are carried out by 
independent qualified actuaries annually. 

Actuarially calculated liabilities are recognised at the end of each 
financial year. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised to the extent 
that they exceed 10% of the defined benefit obligation, over the expected 
average future working lives of eligible in-service employees. 
      

1.10 Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  Donated  assets are 
recorded at fair value on initial recognition as determined by management 
and/or external valuers and, subsequently, at their fair value on initial 
recognition, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  

Assets costing less than R10 000 are written off in the year of 
acquisition. Library books, journals and collections are written off in the 
year in which they are acquired. Land is not depreciated as it is deemed 
to have an indefinite life.

Interest costs on borrowings to finance the construction of property, 
plant and equipment, are capitalised as part of the cost of the related 
assets  during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare 
them for their intended use, in accordance with the requirements of  AC 
114 (IAS 23): Borrowing Costs. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method, at rates 
calculated to write off the costs or revalued amounts of assets, to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

·  Buildings 50 years
·  Motor vehicles 5 years

·  Computer equipment 3 - 5 years
·  Furniture and equipment 5 years

Routine maintenance costs are charged to income as incurred.  Costs 
of major maintenance or refurbishment of items of property, plant or 
equipment are recognised as expenses, except where the useful lives of 
the assets concerned have been extended.  Where the carrying amount 
of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written 
down immediately to its recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are 
determined by comparing the carrying value of the  respective assets at 
disposal to the proceeds on their disposal and are accounted for in the 
consolidated income statement.

1.11 Accounting for leases 

University as lessee 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the University assumes 
substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. A finance lease is capitalised at the estimated fair value 
of the leased asset at the inception of the lease, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, or if lower, at the present value of 
the underlying lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance 
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 
charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element 
of the finance charges is charged to the consolidated income statement 
over the lease period. Items of property, plant and equipment acquired 
under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on 
the same basis as that of owned assets.

Operating lease payments are recognised as expenses in the income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the respective lease terms.

University as lessor 
Leases of property, plant and equipment in terms of which all the risks and 
benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases are charged 
to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
periods of the respective leases.
 

1.12 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the University has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate of the amount of the 
obligation can be made.   

1.9 Retirement benefits (continued) 1.10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Defined benefit plans (continued) 
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1.13 Employee benefits
Employee entitlements to annual leave, including academic staff 
sabbatical leave, are recognised when they accrue.  An accrual is made 
for the estimated liability for accumulated leave as a result of services 
rendered up to the consolidated statement of financial position date.  An 
accrual is made in respect of pro rata service bonuses paid annually to 
qualifying employees.  

1.14 Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised when the University 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at the fair value 
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or 
issue of the financial asset or liability, except instruments at fair value 
through profit and loss, which are recognised at fair value. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amounts 
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position only when 
the University has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets and liabilities 
depends upon the class of instrument and is described accordingly for 
the various categories listed below. 

The University determines the classification of its financial assets on 
initial recognition and, where appropriate, re-evaluates this designation 
at each financial year-end. 
  
‘Available-for-sale’ financial assets 

Such assets comprise investments in listed equity shares, quoted interest-
bearing corporate and government bonds, quoted unit trusts and money 
market deposits.

After initial recognition, ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets are 
measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as ‘other 
comprehensive income’ and accumulated as a separate component of 
funds until the investment is de-recognised or until the investment is 
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gains or losses 
previously reported in funds are recycled through ‘other comprehensive 
income’ and are included in the consolidated income statement.

‘Held-to-maturity’ financial assets

‘Held-to-maturity’ investments are investments with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity dates. The intention of the University is to 
hold these investments to maturity. These investments are recognised at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Investments in 
sinking funds to meet certain debt obligations are classified as ‘held-to-
maturity’ and measured accordingly.

Financial assets in the scope of AC 133 (IAS 39): Financial Instruments 
are classified variously as ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, ‘held-to-

maturity’ investments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 
and loans and receivables, as appropriate.

All investments, other than ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, are 
measured at fair value without any deductions for transaction costs 
incurred on purchase. The fair value of marketable securities is the 
market value calculated by reference to securities exchange quoted 
selling prices at the close of business on the consolidated statement of 
financial position date.

Loans and receivables

Such assets comprise student fees receivables, accounts receivable, 
student loans and loans to employees.  These assets are initially measured 
at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognised in income 
when the loans and receivables are de-recognised or impaired, as well as 
through the amortisation process.
  

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with banks, and short-term investments in money market instruments, 
net of bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the University’s cash management are included 
as a component of cash and cash equivalents. Where no legal right of 
set-off exists against bank deposits, bank overdrafts are included under 
current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position.  
Cash and cash equivalents are initially measured at their fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
     

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities comprise accounts payable, accrued liabilities, 
deposits and borrowings.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are initially measured at fair 
value.  They are subsequently recorded at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognised in income when the 
liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Deposits provided by prospective and current students are treated as 
current liabilities until the amounts are billed as due.  Deposits are initially 
measured at fair value.  They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, less 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference 
between the cost and redemption value being recognised in the 
consolidated income statement over the period of the borrowings, using 
the effective interest method. 

1  aCCounting PoliCies (continued)

1.14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
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1.20 Standards not yet effective (continued)1.15 Impairment
At each financial year-end date, an assessment of the carrying amounts 
of property, plant and equipment, investments and other assets is made 
to determine whether there are any indications of impairment. If such 
indication exists, the estimated recoverable amounts of the impaired 
assets are determined and adjusted accordingly. The resultant impairment 
losses on the differences between the recoverable and carrying amounts 
are recognised in the consolidated income statement, unless the relevant 
assets are carried at revalued amounts, in which case the impairment 
losses are reversed against the revaluation reserve. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that an asset’s 
carrying amount does not  exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment 
loss been recognised.

1.16 Research and development expenditure
Research and development expenditures are recognised as expenses in 
the periods in which they are incurred. 
 

1.17 Computer software development costs 
Costs associated with developing computer software programmes are 
recognised as expenses when incurred.  
  

1.18 Deferred capital grants 
Deferred capital grants arise as a result of grants received from 
government bodies related to capital.  These grants are deferred and 
released to income on a straight line basis over the lives of the relevant 
assets. 

1.19 Restatements 
AC 101 (IAS 1): Presentation of Financial Statements (as amended) 
requires an entity to present comparative statements of its financial 
position and related notes for three years where it: 
·   applies an accounting policy retrospectively;
·   retrospectively restates items in its financial statements; or 
·   reclassifies items in its financial statements
 
The University complies with these requirements. 
 

1.20 Standards not yet effective 
Recent changes in accounting standards and regulations that have been 
released, but that were not effective for the year ended 31 December 2010 
and, consequently, were not wholly applied in preparing the consolidated 
annual financial statements, include the following: 
  
AC 101 (IAS 1)  Clarification of Statement of Changes in Equity - 

effective 1 January 2011

AC 126 (IAS 24) Related Party Disclosures - Clarification of the 
definition of related party - effective 1 January 
2011

AC 129 (IAS 39) Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement - effective 1 January 2013

  
AC138 (IFRS 1) Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 

Disclosures for First-time Adopters. - Effective 1 
July 2010

  
 Amendments resulting from May 2010 annual 

improvements to IFRS. - Effective 1 January 2011
  
AC 144 (IFRS 7) Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Amendments 

resulting from May 2010 annual improvements to 
IFRS. - Effective 1 January 2011  

  
  
  

1  aCCounting PoliCies (continued)
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Land & 

Buildings
Furniture & 
Equipment

Motor 
Vehicles

Museum 
Collections

Total Total Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
At 31 December 2010
Cost or valuation 1 419 339  721 641  57 594  1 931 2 200 505 
Accumulated depreciation (415 045 (540 347 (36 912 (1 931 (994 235

Carrying value 1 004 294  181 294  20 682  -   1 206 270 

Movements for the year 
Opening carrying value  917 976  164 961  20 137  -   1 103 074 

Additions  113 481  85 714  9 162   36  208 393 
Disposals (1 571 (535 (976  -   (3 082

Depreciation charge (25 592 (68 846 (7 641 (36 (102 115

Closing carrying value 1 004 294  181 294  20 682  -   1 206 270 

At 31 December 2009

Cost or valuation 1 307 989  679 056  55 231  1 912 2 044 188 
Accumulated depreciation (390 013 (514 095 (35 094 (1 912 (941 114

Carrying value  917 976  164 961  20 137  -   1 103 074 

Movements for the year 
Opening carrying value  817 268  166 168  22 378  -   1 005 814 
Additions  124 349  67 402  5 124   14  196 889 
Disposals  -   (3 709 (459  -   (4 168
Depreciation charge (23 641 (64 900 (6 906 (14 (95 461

Closing carrying value  917 976  164 961  20 137  -   1 103 074 

At 31 December 2008
Cost or valuation 1 183 640  636 534  52 498  1 898 1 874 570 
Accumulated depreciation (366 372 (470 366 (30 120 (1 898 (868 756

Carrying value  817 268  166 168  22 378  -   1 005 814 

Movements for the year 

Opening carrying value  623 385  146 795  19 005  -    789 185 
Additions  217 943  85 781  9 848  -    313 572 
Disposals  -   (1 603 (135  -   (1 738
Depreciation charge (24 060 (64 805 (6 340  -   (95 205

Closing carrying value  817 268  166 168  22 378  -   1 005 814 

A register of land and buildings is available for inspection at the University’s business address. The University is not permitted to dispose of, or otherwise 
alienate, its land and buildings without the prior approval of the Minister of Higher Education and Training.

The Edgewood campus properties acquired for a nil consideration in 2001 have been reflected at fair value at date of acquisition, less subsequent 
depreciation.

The land and buildings balance includes work in progress of R71.3 million (2009: R37.7 million and 2008: R138 000).
Property, plant and equipment includes capitalised finance lease assets (note 9).
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

3 INVESTMENTS

‘Available-for-sale’ investments

Market value at the beginning of the year  769 199  653 202  759 486 

Withdrawal of investments (21 585 (21 650 (18 347

Reinvestment of net investment income  23 506  29 331  30 905 

Reinvestment of realised gains on sale of investments  49 659  26 542  20 947 

Unrealised fair value adjustments  23 658  81 774 (139 789

Closing market value at the end of the year  844 437  769 199  653 202 

The total investment comprise the following categories:

Equities  555 289  477 835  461 296 

Money Market  58 914  47 368  73 844 

Bonds  49 865  81 121  18 800 

International Market  127 714  116 628  55 831 

Property  10 790  9 885  8 685 

Other  41 865  36 362  34 746 

Total investments  844 437  769 199  653 202 

4 NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Student loans  382 806  395 543  400 646 

Accumulated impairment losses (216 257 (199 265 (204 570

Net student loans  166 549  196 278  196 076 

Current portion (note 6) (392 (25 311 (62 748

Long-term fixed deposit (see note below)  22 728  20 934  23 319 

Tertiary Education and Research Network of South Africa (TENET) loan receivable  8 708  4 447 

Total non-current receivables  197 593  196 348  156 647 

Student loans: Movements for the year

Opening carrying value  196 278  196 076  144 785 

New student loans granted  53 704  57 645  89 898 

Loans repaid (66 442 (62 748 (32 441

Impairment (losses)/gains recognised (16 991  5 305 (6 166

Closing carrying value  166 549  196 278  196 076 

The long-term fixed deposit falls due on 24 June 2011.  The deposit is held as security for the Development 
Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) loan of R238.3 million (note 8.1). It is the intention of management to 
re-invest this amount in a long-term fixed investment once it matures, in line with the conditions of the 
DBSA loan agreement, hence its classification as long-term.
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

5 INVENTORIES

Stationery, technical stores and consumables  6 145  6 851  5 193 

6 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

Net student fees receivable  141 123  122 540  94 889 

Student fees receivable  215 369  193 341  171 124 

Accumulated impairment losses (74 246 (70 801 (76 235

Current portion of student loans (note 4)   392  25 311  62 748 

Net trade and other receivables  156 743  133 067  139 057 

Trade and other receivables  157 309  138 420  155 495 

Accumulated impairment losses (566 (5 353 (16 438

Prepayments  41 089  6 367  16 208 

Loans to employees   243  3 368  8 077 

Interest receivable   818  1 095  3 076 

Total accounts receivable and prepayments  340 409  291 748  324 055 

Accounts receivables and prepayments are classified as loans and receivables and their carrying values 
approximate fair value.

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand  66 815  44 722  27 746 

Short-term bank deposits  190 000  136 955  84 000 

 256 815  181 677  111 746 

Total cash and cash equivalents

The University has a bank overdraft facility of R22 million, which is available, if required, to finance its 
short-term working capital needs. The overdraft rate, when applicable, is linked to the prevailing prime 
bank rate and at 31 December 2010 was 9% per annum.

Interest is earned on call accounts and short-term notice deposits at current market rates. 
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

8 BORROWINGS

8.1 Interest-bearing loans

Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) loan  238 312  244 402  250 000 

Financial institutions for government-subsidised loans  2 246  4 223  7 679 

Finance lease liabilities (note 9.1)  150 785  145 908  140 851 

Total borrowings  391 343  394 533  398 530 

Current portion (45 271 (44 794 (45 028

Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) loan (26 857 (26 856 (26 856

Financial institutions for government-subsidised loans (1 184 (1 978 (3 457

Finance lease liabilities (note 9.1) (17 230 (15 960 (14 715

Total non-current borrowings  346 072  349 739  353 502 

Interest-bearing loans are held to maturity at amortised cost.

The loan from the DBSA has been used to finance capital infrastructural development and, with the 
exception of a R20 million cession of a long-term fixed deposit (note 4), is unsecured. The loan is for a 
period of twenty years, bears interest at a fixed rate of 8.6% per annum and is repayable in equal half-
yearly instalments, the last of which is due in 2027.

Government-subsidised loans are subsidised to the extent of either 50% or 85% for both interest and capital 
repayments, and consist of a number of loans with financial institutions at fixed interest rates, ranging from 
6.5% to 18.0% per annum, and varying repayment terms, the last of which cease in 2013.  These loans are 
not secured.
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

5 INVENTORIES

Stationery, technical stores and consumables  6 145  6 851  5 193 

6 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

Net student fees receivable  141 123  122 540  94 889 

Student fees receivable  215 369  193 341  171 124 

Accumulated impairment losses (74 246 (70 801 (76 235

Current portion of student loans (note 4)   392  25 311  62 748 

Net trade and other receivables  156 743  133 067  139 057 

Trade and other receivables  157 309  138 420  155 495 

Accumulated impairment losses (566 (5 353 (16 438

Prepayments  41 089  6 367  16 208 

Loans to employees   243  3 368  8 077 

Interest receivable   818  1 095  3 076 

Total accounts receivable and prepayments  340 409  291 748  324 055 

Accounts receivables and prepayments are classified as loans and receivables and their carrying values 
approximate fair value.

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash at bank and on hand  66 815  44 722  27 746 

Short-term bank deposits  190 000  136 955  84 000 

 256 815  181 677  111 746 

Total cash and cash equivalents

The University has a bank overdraft facility of R22 million, which is available, if required, to finance its 
short-term working capital needs. The overdraft rate, when applicable, is linked to the prevailing prime 
bank rate and at 31 December 2010 was 9% per annum.

Interest is earned on call accounts and short-term notice deposits at current market rates. 
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

8.2 Loans: terms and repayment schedule

Interest 
rates
(per 

annum)

Year of 
maturity 

Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) 8.6% 2027

Sanlam 15 - 16.9% 2011-2013

Other 6.5 - 17.6% 2008-2012

Finance lease liabilities 

 - Westville residences lease 13.0% 2028

 - Other 10.5 - 25.5% 2008-2012

2010 2009 2008 Carrying 
Value 

Carrying 
Value 

Carrying 
Value Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value

R’000 R’000 R’000

Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA)  224 121  218 719  250 000  238 312  244 402  250 000 

Sanlam  1 600  2 944  5 235  1 600  2 944  5 235 

Other   646  1 279  2 444   646  1 279  2 444 

Finance lease liabilities 

 - Westville residences lease  193 411  167 295  114 390  144 177  139 022  133 682 

 - Other  6 608  6 886  7 169  6 608  6 886  7 169 

Total borrowings  426 386  397 123  379 238  391 343  394 533  398 530 

All loans are denominated in South African Rands.
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

9 FINANCE LEASES

9.1 Finance lease liabilities

Total finance lease liabilities (note 8.1)  150 785  145 908  140 851 

Current portion (note 8.1) (17 230 (15 960 (14 715

Non-current portion of finance lease liabilities  133 555  129 948  126 136 

The escalation on the Westville residence lease, which accounts for R144 million of the above balance (2009: 
R139 million and 2008: R133 million), is 7% per annum. There are no renewal terms or restrictions on the 
finance leases.

The capitalised finance lease assets (see below) serve as security for the finance lease liabilities. The 
interest rates used represent the market-related interest rates at the inception dates of the respective lease 
agreements. 

9.2 Capitalised finance lease assets

Cost Accumulated
DepreciationMovements for the year

R’000 R’000

Opening carrying value  147 524 (16 957  130 567  135 059  8 949 

Additions  2 662  -    2 662   450  135 673 

Disposals (5 344  5 344  -     427 (4 063

Depreciation charge  -   (5 613 (5 613 (5 369 (5 500

Closing carrying value  144 842 (17 226  127 616  130 567  135 059 

Reconciliation of minimum lease payments with present values

Due within
1 year

Due within
2-5 years

Due after 
5 years 

R’000 R’000 R’000

At 31 December 2010

Minimum lease payments  17 672  70 686  359 517  447 875  461 579  471 714 

Finance charges (19 532 (81 554 (196 004 (297 090 (315 671 (330 863

Present value of finance lease liabilities (1 860 (10 868  163 513  150 785  145 908  140 851 
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

10 POST-RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

Defined benefit plans

Health care benefits (note 10.1)  662 894  595 119  551 305 

Provident fund (note 10.2)  14 052  11 730  10 248 

Pension fund (note 10.2)  -    -    -   

Total post-retirement obligations  676 946  606 849  561 553

10.1 Health care benefits

The University’s obligations towards post-retirement health care obligations in respect of its two separately 
administered medical aid schemes were actuarially calculated by Momentum Life as at 31 December 2010 and 
are disclosed in terms of  South African Generally Accepted Accounting Practice AC 116: Employee Benefits 
(IAS 19), as follows:

UKZN Medical 
Scheme

Bonitas Medical 
Scheme

R’000 R’000

Present value of unfunded obligations  635 869  203 410  839 279  783 595  674 437 

Unrecognised actuarial losses (153 397 (22 988 (176 385 (188 476 (123 132

Amount accrued in respect of health care obligations  482 472  180 422  662 894  595 119  551 305 

Movement in the liability recognised in the statement of financial position

     Balance at beginning of the year  430 116  165 003  595 119  551 305  498 464 

     Contributions paid during the year (29 148 (5 672 (34 820 (29 815 (27 066

     Expenses recognised: personnel costs (see below)  81 504  21 091  102 595  73 629  79 907 

Balance at end of the year  482 472  180 422  662 894  595 119  551 305 

Expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement (note 16)

    Current service cost  13 348  4 716  18 064  16 974  16 543 

    Interest cost  56 413  16 375  72 788  48 661  56 090 

    Actuarial losses recognised  11 743  -    11 743  7 994  7 274 

Total expenses recognised  81 504  21 091  102 595  73 629  79 907 
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

10 POST RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) UKZN Medical 
Scheme

Bonitas Medical 
Scheme

10.1 Health care benefits (continued) R’000 R’000

Reconciliation of unrecognised actuarial losses

     Cumulative unrecognised actuarial losses (153 397 (22 988 (176 385 (188 476 (123 132

     Corridor, representing 10% of total funding obligation  63 587  20 341  83 928  78 359  38 340 

     Actuarial (losses)/gains not required to be recognised (7 322  4 856 

Actuarial losses to be recognised in future years (89 810 (2 647 (92 457 (117 439 (79 936

Comprising: 

     Non-current portion (82 902 (2 443 (85 345 (105 695 (71 942

     Current portion (6 908 (204 (7 112 (11 744 (7 994

The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes are: 

Health care cost inflation (per annum) 7.3% 6%/8% 6.0%

Discount rate (per annum) 8.8% 9.5% 7.5%

Normal retirement age (years)  60  60  60

Remaining average working lives of in-service employees (years)  13  10  10

The effect of a 1% change in the assumed health care cost

inflation would be as follows:

1% increase:  Current service and interest costs  10 632  4 122  14 754  12 896  15 899 

                        Aggregate defined benefit obligation  87 520  34 002  121 522  94 228  101 019 

1% decrease: Current service and interest costs (8 632 (3 292 (11 924 (10 073 (8 974

                        Aggregate defined benefit obligation (72 111 (27 404 (99 515 (73 722 (82 543
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

10 POST RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

10.2 Provident and Pension fund obligations

The University’s obligations towards post-retirement provident and pension fund 
obligations were actuarially calculated as at 31 December 2010 by ABSA Consultants 
and Actuaries and are disclosed in accordance with South African Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice AC 116: Employee Benefits (IAS 19), as follows:

Provident 
Fund

Pension  
Fund

R’000 R’000

Present value of funded obligations  210 090  500 317  710 407  524 450  460 056 

Fair value of plan assets (155 168 (600 674 (755 842 (676 070 (610 930

Present value of net (surplus)/deficit  54 922 (100 357 (45 435 (151 620 (150 874

Unrecognised actuarial (losses)/gains (40 870 (517 (41 387  78 691  93 292 

Balance not recognised  (*see note on page 123)  -    100 874  100 874  84 659  67 830 

Amount accrued in respect of provident fund obligation  14 052  -    14 052  11 730  10 248 

Movement in the net liability recognised in the statement of financial 
position

     Balance at beginning of the year  11 730  -    11 730  10 248  16 852 
     Contributions paid during the year (4 842 (11 352 (16 194 (19 625 (26 288

     Expenses recognised: personnel costs (see below)  7 164  11 352  18 516  21 107  19 684 

Balance at end of the year  14 052  -    14 052  11 730  10 248 

Expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement (note 16)

Service cost  4 949  9 887  14 836  17 413  16 099 

Contributions by members 2 347 5 436 7 783  7 486  7 090 

Interest cost  13 871  34 136  48 007  33 603  36 777 

Expected return on plan assets (14 003 (51 621 (65 624 (48 978 (58 762

Actuarial gains recognised  -   (2 701 (2 701 (5 246 (10 728

Net adjustment to unrecognised balance (*: see note on page 123)  -    16 215  16 215  16 829  29 208 

Total expenses recognised  7 164  11 352  18 516  21 107  19 684 
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

10 POST-RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

10.2 Provident and Pension fund obligations (continued)

Provident 
Fund

Pension
Fund

R’000 R’000

Reconciliation of unrecognised actuarial (losses)/gains

Cumulative unrecognised actuarial (losses)/gains (40 870 (517 (41 387  78 691  93 292 

Corridor, representing 10% of funding obligation/plan assets  21 009 60 067 81 076 (68 254 (61 799

Actuarial gains not required to be recognised  -    (59 550  (59 550  10 092  10 998 

Actuarial (losses)/gains to be recognised in future years (19 861  -   (19 861  20 529  42 491 

Comprising: 
     Non-current portion (16 805 (16 805  17 828  37 245 
     Current portion (3 056 (3 056  2 701  5 246 

* Note: The unrecognised balance in respect of the pension fund arises as a result of 
the related plan net surplus exceeding the cumulative actuarial gains at 31 December 
2010, thereby limiting its recognition, as required by AC 116: Employee Benefits (IAS 
19). The principal actuarial assumptions used for accounting purposes are:

Discount rate (per annum) 8.5% 9.2% 7.3%
Return on assets (per annum) 9.1% 9.8% 8.0%
Remaining average working lives of in-service employees (years) 6.5 7.2 7.0/7.6 7.1/8.1
Future salary increases (per annum) 6.1% 6.8% 5.1%

11 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Leave
Pay

Service
Bonuses

R’000 R’000

Balances at 31 December  179 258  31 332  210 590  189 443  177 503 

Annual leave•	  168 689 
Sabbatical leave•	  10 569 

Current portion (41 904 (31 332 (73 236 (64 304 (84 857

Prior year adjustment related to CAPRISA 1 341

Non-current portion of employee benefits  137 354  -    137 354  125 139  93 987 

Balances at beginning of the year  160 963  28 480  189 443  177 503  171 049 

Utilised during the year (24 499 (28 480 (53 212 (49 897 (47 620

Net amount charged to the consolidated income statement  42 794  31 332  73 641  61 837  54 074 

Balances at end of the year  179 258  31 332  210 590  189 443  177 503
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

12 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
Trade and other payables  278 275  239 339  169 681 

Trust and agency funds  84 567  79 395  75 344 

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities  362 842  318 734  245 025 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are carried at amortised cost and their carrying values approximate 
fair value. Trade payables are settled on terms negotiated with the respective suppliers.

13 DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Department of Higher Education and Training (DoHET)
     Infrastructure and Efficienty Funding – Science, Engineering and Technology Grants  71 981  113 822  63 337 

     Health Sciences Grant – Clinical Training  11 550  41 180  27 336 

     Infrastructure and Efficiency Funding – 2010/2011 Projects  45 000  -    -   
     Research Development Grant   590  8 207  3 745 
     Teaching Development Grant   335   670   211 
     Access Funding Grant  7 993  7 865  4 361 

     Total of deferred government grants  137 449  171 744  98 990 

Reconciliation of movements for the year
Opening balance  171 744  98 990  34 896 
New grants received  77 117  135 660  79 400 

Released to income (111 412 (69 342 (20 793
Interest accrued  -    6 436  5 487 

Closing balance  137 449  171 744  98 990 

Government grants allocated by the Department of Higher Education and Training (DoHET) have been deferred 
to the extent that the relevant ‘earmarked’ funds have not yet been utilised for the purposes for which they 
were received. These grants are released to the consolidated income statement in the same financial periods 
in which expenditure is incurred on the relevant projects. 

14 GOVERNMENT SUBSIDIES AND GRANTS

Council-Controlled 
Funds

Specifically 
Funded Activities

Student 
Residences

R’000 R’000 R’000

State block grant for general purposes 1 136 104 1 136 104  958 015  894 623 

State grants and contracts  12 377  12 377  11 859  22 585 

Provincial contributions to Joint Health Establishment  76 214  76 214  47 432  44 208 

Grants received for specific purposes  113 257  72 279  25 029 

     Access Funding: Foundation Programmes  7 355  7 355  4 200  3 339 

     Efficiency Funding: Science, Engineering and Technology  41 840  41 840  14 573  6 190 

     Clinical Training Funding: Health Sciences  49 632  49 632  32 724  3 650 

     Teaching Development   550   550  2 601   659 

     Research Development  12 035  12 035  15 244  6 955 

     Subsidy on interest and redemption of government        
      - guaranteed loans
     

 1 368   477  1 845  2 937  4 236 

Total government subsidies and grants 1 213 686  123 789   477 1 337 952 1 089 585  986 445 

)) )
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15 INVESTMENT INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Investment income

Interest income: short-term deposits and call accounts  20 169  10 356  25 557 

Income from ‘available-for-sale’ investments: dividends and interest  23 506  29 216  30 655 

     Dividends  9 019  16 553  14 644 
     Interest  14 487  12 663  16 011 

Total investment income  43 675  39 572  56 212 

Finance costs

Interest on interest-bearing loans  21 665  22 992  17 517 

Interest incurred  21 665  22 992  27 906 

Prior year adjustment related to interest on DBSA deferred capital grant  -    -   (5 222

Interest capitalised to property, plant and equipment  -    -   (5 167

Finance lease charges  18 715  17 878  15 697 

Bank overdraft interest  -    -     59 

Total finance costs  40 380  40 870  33 273 

16 PERSONNEL COSTS

Academic
Professional

Other
Personnel

R’000 R’000

Salaries and wages  890 059  418 851 1 308 910 1 155 739 1 062 047 

Retirement costs: - defined contribution plans  61 118  28 762  89 880  76 599  67 234 

                              - defined benefit plans (note 10.2)  12 591  5 925  18 516  21 107  19 684 

Post-retirement health care obligations (note 10.1)  69 765  32 830  102 595  73 629  79 907 

Leave pay  29 100  13 694  42 794  33 357  28 909 

Prior year adjustment related to CAPRISA (70

Total personnel costs 1 062 633  500 062 1 562 695 1 360 431 1 257 711 

Average number of persons employed during the year, expressed in each 
case as full-time equivalent staff (FTE’s):

Permanent staff  4 236  4 437  4 016 

Temporary (contract) staff   777   761   798 

Total  5 013  5 198  4 814 

)

)

)
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17 PAYMENTS FOR ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS OF COUNCIL AND ITS COMMITTEES

Remuneration paid for attendance at meetings of the University Council and its committees by external, non-
executive members is disclosed below. 

Designation/Category Number of 
members paid

Number of 
members paid

Number of 
members paid

2010 2009 2008

Members of Council 16 17 10   367   405   129 

Members of Council Committees 6 7 21   44   52   280 

Total   411   457   409 

18 OPERATING LEASES

At the financial year-end, the University had outstanding 
commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as 
follows:

Leases as lessee

Rentals for equipment and premises payable as follows:

     Due within one year  31 203 28 115 7 940

     Between one and five years  19 874 23 476 3 987

     Later than five years  -    109  -   

Leases as lessor

Rentals for premises receivable as follows:

     Due within one year   715 1 171 1 414

     Between one and five years  1 176 2 085 2 235

     Later than five years   427  600  -   

19 REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

19.1 Annualised Gross Remuneration

The disclosures on the following page relate to the remuneration of members of the Executive, Deans and 
other senior management staff as defined in the Statute of the University. For the purposes of the Higher 
Education Act, gross remuneration is based on the cost of employment to the University and comprises flexible 
remuneration packages, suitably annualised, and is inclusive of the employer’s contributions to health and 
post-retirement benefits. 

Except as otherwise disclosed, all such employees were appointed in their respective positions for the full 
year. In the case of those employees who, during 2010, held office for periods of less than the full year, 
including acting appointments, the actual cost of employment has been disclosed in addition to the equivalent 
annualised cost.  Exceptional payments to Executive and senior management are not included in annualised 
gross remuneration, but are instead disclosed under 19.2 overleaf, when applicable.
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19 REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

19.1 Annualised Gross Remuneration (continued)

Title and name Post designation/portfolio Changes and acting 
appointments during the year

Actual 
cost  

(see note above)

Annualised 
gross  

remuneration

(Dates/Periods of appointment) R’000 R’000

Executive Management 

Professor M W Makgoba Vice-Chancellor and Principal  3 374 

Professor N M Ijumba Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Research  1 244 

Professor R Vithal Deputy Vice-Chancellor: Teaching and Learning  1 771 

Deputy Vice-Chancellors and Heads of Colleges:

Professor J Ayee Humanities•	 (Appointed: 19 January 2010)   890  1 046 

Professor J C Mubangizi Law and Management Studies•	  1 510 

Professor T Pillay Health Sciences•	 (Appointed: 1 August 2010)   631  1 514 

Professor S Y Essack Health Sciences•	 (Acting: 1 January - 31 July 2010)   582   998 

Professor R H Slotow Agriculture, Engineering and Science•	 (Appointed: 1 January 2010)  1 189 

Mr R H Clarkson Chief Finance Officer  1 730 

Ms M Masipa Executive Dean: Students (Appointed: 1 January 2010)   875 

Ms N Mbadi Executive Director: Corporate Relations (Appointed: 1 January 2010)  1 536 

Professor J J Meyerowitz Registrar  1 090 

Dr M Mosia Executive Director: Human Resources (Appointed: 1 January 2010)  1 579 

Mr C W Poole Executive Director: Physical Planning and  Operations  1 175 

Deans

Professor S Y  Essack Dean: Faculty of Health Sciences (1 August - 31 December 2010)   368   882 

Professor D Jaganyi Dean: Faculty of Science and Agriculture  1 075 

Professor J Kunnie Dean: Faculty of Humanities, Development 

     and Social Sciences (Acting: 1 January - 30 June 2010)   443   845 

Professor N J Mkhize Dean: Faculty of Humanities, Development 

     and Social Sciences (Appointed: 1 July 2010)   453   878 

Professor C Potgieter Dean: Research   921 

Professor M Reddi Dean: Faculty of Law   876 

Professor M A Samuel Dean: Faculty of Education   883 

Professor L J Stainbank Dean: Faculty of Management Studies   920 

Professor A W Sturm Dean: Faculty of Medicine  1 656 

Professor F Takawira Dean: Faculty of Engineering   950 

Senior Management

Professor S S Abdool Karim Pro Vice-Chancellor: Research  1 000 

Mr R V Govender Director: Corporate Governance   861 

Mr A Rajaram Director: Information and Communications      
     Technology   896 

Mr H Ramkisson Director: Financial Planning and Operations   892 

Mr B F van Dyk Executive Director: University of KwaZulu-Natal    
     Foundation   806 
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19 REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

19.2 Exceptional Payments

During the year, the following exceptional payments, i.e. in excess of R249 999, were made to members of the Executive and other 
senior management. Exceptional payments, as defined for this purpose in terms of the Higher Education Act, include the commutation 
of leave, special bonuses and exceptional amounts arising on termination of employment with the University. Unless they are recurrent 
in nature, exceptional payments do not constitute part of the annualised gross remuneration disclosed in 19.1 above.

Title and name Nature of payment

Mr R H Clarkson Commutation of leave in anticipation of retirement   588 

Professor NM Mazibuko Commutation of leave on retirement   295 

Professor AW Sturm Commutation of leave on retirement   521 

Professor AW Sturm Occupational Specific Dispensation – arrear salary adjustment   281 

20 EXCEPTIONAL REMUNERATION-RELATED PAYMENTS

During the year, the following exceptional payments, i.e. in excess of R249 999, were made to employees other than executive and 
senior management. Exceptional payments, as defined for this purpose in terms of the Higher Education Act, include the commutation 
of leave, special bonuses and exceptional amounts arising on termination of employment with the University. Unless they are recurrent 
in nature, exceptional payments do not constitute part of the annualised gross remuneration of the respective employees.

Title and name Nature of payment

Professor J Aboobaker Commutation of leave on retirement   470 

Professor N Adhikira Commutation of leave on retirement   513 

Mr R A Bailey Severance package   823 

Professor M J F Chapman Commutation of leave on retirement   325 

Professor D L Mkhize Commutation of leave on retirement   342 

Professor J Moori Commutation of leave on retirement   302 

Professor J G Mowatt Commutation of leave on retirement   311 

Mr N S Ragoobeer Severance package   268 

Professor B S Rigby Additional earnings   320 

Ms P N Sapepa Severance package   709 

Professor B S Stobie Commutation of leave on retirement   280 
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21 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The following items have been included in other operating expenses:

Auditors’ remuneration  5 735  3 771  3 953 

statutory audit:  current year•	  1 790  1 547  1 650 

                                     prior year under-provision   557   64   464 

for other audit services (compliance certificates)•	  3 388  2 160  1 839 

Co-sourced internal audit services  3 837  1 867  1 648 

Impairment losses/(gains) on student loans, student fee debtors and other receivables  15 622 (21 824  7 650 

Rates (see note 26)  35 196  30 856  23 781 

Utilities  68 451  53 411  40 682 

Operating leases  47 075  27 501  4 577 

Computer software costs  12 783  15 382  10 454 

Legal expenses  3 107  3 381  6 472 

Library acquisitions  27 308  34 862  51 500 

Repairs and maintenance  80 341  81 293  57 783 

Outsourced service costs  84 239  79 381  67 300 

Security•	  36 338  31 580  27 005 

Cleaning expenses•	  26 931  24 969  23 562 

Printing and photocopying services•	  13 191  13 038  11 080 

Facilities management services•	  5 632  7 472  4 724 

Information technology•	   222   181   149 

Other•	  1 925  2 141   780 

22 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 

Net surplus for the year  176 986  19 332  27 500 

Adjustments for:

     Depreciation  102 115  95 461  95 205 
     Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   627  3 020   448 
     Investment income (43 675 (39 572 (56 212
     Increase in post-retirement obligations  70 097  45 296  46 237 

     Net increase in accruals for leave pay and service bonuses 21 147  10 599  6 384 
     Increase/(Decrease) in accumulated impairment losses (student loans)  16 992 (5 305  6 166 
     Realised gains on sale of investments (49 659 (26 542 (20 947
     Funds utilised for specific activities (98 468 (96 048 (78 071
     Net increase in property, plant and equipment (PPE) funds  106 384  101 259  90 991 
     Finance costs  40 380  40 870  33 273 

     Changes in working capital:
(Increase) in accounts receivable •	 (73 580 (5 130 (24 298
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories•	   706 (1 658 (919
Increase/(Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities•	  44 108  63 322 (19 229
(Decrease)/Increase in deferred government grants •	 (34 295  72 754  64 094 
(Decrease) in student deposits•	 (3 654 (2 051 (2 642

Cash generated from operations  276 211  275 607  167 980 

)

)

)

)

)
)
)

)

)

)
)

)
)

)

)

)

)

)
)

)

)
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23 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure approved at the balance sheet date, but not recognised in the financial statements, 
is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Approved, but not yet contracted for •	  905 000 1 044 885 804 000

     2009 369 000

     2010 563 385 170 000

     2011 533 000 252 600 143 000

     2012 227 000 158 900 52 000

     2013 145 000 70 000 70 000

Contracted•	 45 346 63 333 102 933
Department of Higher Education and Training (DoHET) - Infrastructure and Efficiency Funding projects 104 089 374 500 357 150
Tertiary Education and Research Network of South Africa (TENET) payment commitments 15 484 20 487 24 934

Total capital commitments 1 069 919 1 503 205 1 289 017

Long-term loan facilities of R450 million from the Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA) had 
been approved, but not yet finalised at 31 December 2010, and these, together with capital donations 
of approximately R290 million from the Howard Hughes Medical Institute (HHMI) in the United States of 
America, and DoHET grants of R218 million approved in respect of the ensuing two years (2011 and 2012) 
will be available, in addition to internal resources, to fund the major part of these commitments.  In 
accordance with the requirements of the Higher Education Act, the requisite Ministerial approval, where 
applicable, has been and will in future continue to be obtained for all additional borrowings, as well as 
for the acquisition of property and the construction of major capital projects that exceed the statutory 
thresholds within which the University Council is authorised to operate.

In 2008, the University, together with a number of other higher education institutions, entered into an 
agreement with the Tertiary Education and Research Network of South Africa (TENET), whereby the 
University agreed to subscribe and pay  for 80 SEACOM CIR Units, payable in six annual instalments of 
US$ 553 000 (approximately R3.87 million per annum).  This consortium-based agreement will enable 
TENET to purchase capacity on the SEACOM submarine cable, which will allow the shared use of the 
cable by the University and by other participants to increase their computing bandwidth capacity.
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24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees issued in respect of housing loans for University staff amounted  to approximately:   115  329 1 000

Guarantees issued to eThekwini Municipality, Eskom, Oilco and the South African Post Office at 
31 December 2009 and 2010 (2008: comparative information not readily available) amounted to  
approximately:  7 072 6 500

During the ordinary course of its business, the University enters into a wide range of academic, research, 
commercial and community outreach programmes, contracts and transactions that expose it to varying 
types and degrees of risk. As far as it is practicable to do so, provisions are made for known liabilities 
that are expected to materialise. Possible obligations and known liabilities where no reliable estimate 
can be made or it is considered improbable that an outflow will result, are noted as contingent liabilities 
in accordance with South African Generally Accepted Accounting Practice AC 130: Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets (IAS 37). The most significant contingent liabilities in respect of 2010 
and subsequent thereto are described briefly below.

The University was previously engaged in litigation with the University of South Africa (UNISA) over a 
dispute regarding subsidy income of R9.36 million arising in 1999 and 2000 from a Bachelor of Education 
programme undertaken jointly with the former South African College of Teachers Education (SACTE), a 
UNISA affiliate.  It has subsequently been agreed with UNISA’s attorneys that an outcome negotiated 
directly by the two parties would be a better alternative to reach a settlement.  The University is currently 
in contact with UNISA and University management is confident of achieving a settlement, the cost of 
which is not likely to be material.

The City Council of the Johannesburg Metropolitan Municipality instituted legal proceedings against the 
University following a dispute arising from the discontinued Adopt-A-Light project and various related 
street pole advertising agreements. The University opposed this action and, as requested, prepared a 
debatement of account in substantiation of its alleged indebtedness in the matter. The attorneys representing 
the municipality contend that a further R1.9 million was owing by the University notwithstanding the 
debatement of account.  In July 2009 the attorneys representing the Johannesburg City Council suggested 
an independent audit to determine whether any amounts are owing by the University.  Since then, there 
has been no further progress on this matter.  It is the opinion of the University management, after seeking 
legal advice, that no material liability is likely to arise and, consequently, no provision has been recognised 
in the financial statements.

During 2008, consultants were engaged by the University to review and submit appeals, as appropriate, 
in respect of the valuations and related rates of Westville Campus properties belonging to the 
University, which were believed to be over-valued by the eThekwini Municipality.  There is a dispute 
as to the legitimacy of the consultants’ claims of R7.34 million and consequently no liability has been 
recognised.

Various other claims against the University are either pending or in progress.  Having sought and obtained 
legal advice on each of these matters, management is of the opinion that no material losses will arise 
from these claims. The University’s aggregate exposure resulting from litigation claims not considered to 
be vexatious in nature, and none of which individually exceeds R1 million, has been estimated to be of 
the order of R1.04 million  (2009: R179 754 and 2008: R2.48 million), plus estimated future legal costs of  
R1.62 million (2009: R1.78million and 2008: R2.55million), in each case based on the representations 
received from the respective attorneys handling such claims on behalf of the University and from the 
University legal advisors. 
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

25.1 Overview

The University’s principal financial instruments comprise available-for-sale investments, non-current receivables in the form of student loans, student 
fee debtors, trade and other receivables; cash and short-term bank deposits; interest-bearing borrowings, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
including monies held in trust and on an agency basis.

The University Council has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the University’s risk profile. Council has established the Audit & 
Risk, Finance and other committees to develop, monitor and manage the University’s risk management policies on its behalf and Executive management 
is responsible for implementing, managing and complying with selected risk management strategies. All potential risks are identified, evaluated and 
managed as appropriate. Risk management policies, systems and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, the 
higher education sector and in the University’s operating environment. The Chairpersons of the respective committees, the Vice-Chancellor and other 
members of Executive management report regularly to the Council on risk management activities and results. The University, through its training and 
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees, students and other 
stakeholders understand their roles and obligations.

The University’s policies regarding insurance and risk cover are set and monitored by the Finance Committee. Likewise, decisions on the level of 
financial risk are taken by the Finance Committee and enforced by the University’s Finance Division in terms of established limits by reference, in each 
case, to the particular transaction type, the monetary amounts and the counter-parties involved. Financial risks arising from the University’s use of 
financial instruments include the following:

Credit risk•	

Liquidity risk•	

Foreign currency risk•	

Interest rate risk•	

Investment risk•	

Credit risk

The University has no significant concentrations of credit risk. As a matter of policy, the University trades only with recognised, creditworthy third 
parties, who are subject to credit verification procedures, terms and conditions of trade specified by the University.

The University’s credit risk exposure is represented primarily by the net aggregate balance of amounts receivable in respect of unpaid student fees, 
loans and general trade receivables. Collateral security is obtained in respect of all student loans. Other measures, including the withholding of 
examination results, denied re-admission after the first semester and the refusal to allow students in default of their financial obligations to register 
in the ensuing academic year, are applied to minimise credit risk. Debt collection procedures are applied as diligently as circumstances permit, both by 
the University Finance Division and also by externally-appointed attorneys acting on behalf of the University, and in such a way as to minimise risk and 
related collection costs. As a general principle, no collateral is required for general trade debtors and other receivables.

The University provides for impairment losses in respect of student-related receivables (student loans and fee debtors) and other trade receivables to 
the extent that these can be reliably and conservatively determined, having regard to the credit risk experience and payment history of the particular 
categories of debtors.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

25.1 Overview (continued)

Liquidity risk

The University manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its daily cash flow to ensure that surpluses are optimally invested and that adequate cash is 
available to meet its day-to-day operations in the short- and medium-terms, based on rolling cash flow projections.  The University adopts a diversified 
investment strategy with specified major financial institutions, each of which is required to be accredited by the Finance Committee, and has no 
significant concentration of credit risk with any single counter-party.

The timing and cyclical nature of the University’s cash inflows and outflows are such that liquidity problems are unlikely to arise. Furthermore, the 
University has access to funds through its short-term deposits and overdraft facilities in the event that any unforeseen event occurs.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency transactions constitute a risk to the University, especially in relation to a significant proportion of its annual expenditure in the form 
of library acquisitions and imported capital equipment.  Correspondingly, the University is susceptible to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations arising 
from major foreign grants and donations, the receipt of which, often by way of a series of tranches, may be spread over an extended period of time.  
Various strategies, including the selective use of forward exchange contracts and locally-based intermediary agents, are employed to minimise the 
related currency risks as far as practicable.

Interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities affected by interest rate fluctuations include bank deposits, short-term investments, and borrowings. Deposits comprise 
fixed notice and call account deposits. At the balance sheet date, these deposits were either accessible immediately or had maturity dates not 
exceeding twelve months. Interest rates earned on these deposits and other investments closely approximate prevailing market rates.

The University’s borrowings to finance its operations are at both fixed and variable rates of interest depending, in each case, on the nature and duration 
of the respective borrowings and the specific purpose for which such borrowings are required. The level of borrowings and, consequently, the debt 
servicing costs are closely monitored and controlled by the Finance Committee on behalf of Council, having regard to the prevailing, and projected, 
interest rates and the University’s capacity to service such debt from future earnings. In this respect, Council has imposed an upper limit, expressed as 
a proportion of the University’s recurrent annual income (‘debt service threshold’), adherence to which is strictly enforced by the Finance Division.

The University has a number of interest-bearing receivables, notably long-term student loans, overdue student fee debtors and staff loans. In each 
case, the interest rates charged are variable, linked to prime bank rates and are reviewed at least annually by the Finance Committee.

Investment risk

The University is exposed to risk on its investment portfolios. This risk is managed by selected, reputable portfolio managers who operate under defined 
mandates, which are designed to both limit the risk and also optimise the University’s returns on these investments, having regard to the nature and 
purpose of the underlying funds. The performances of the respective fund managers are monitored closely by the Finance Committee and, in the case 
of the University Foundation and other subsidiaries, by the respective Boards of Trustees or Directors, as the case may be.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

25.2 Categories of financial instruments 

Financial assets

Investments ‘Available-for-sale’  844 437  769 199  653 202 

Student loans Loans and receivables  166 549  200 725  196 076 

TENET loan receivable Loans and receivables  8 708  4 447 

Long term fixed deposit ‘Held to maturity’  22 728  20 934  23 319 

Accounts receivable Loans and receivables  298 109  258 975  242 023 

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables  256 815  181 677  111 746 

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings Financial liabilities  391 343  394 533  398 530 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Financial liabilities  362 842  318 734  245 025 

25.3 Credit risk

The carrying values of financial assets recognised in the financial statements 
which are not part of impairment losses represent the maximum exposure to 
credit risk, without taking into account collateral or other enhancements held.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for student loans and 

accounts receivable at the reporting date was:

Student loans  166 549  200 725  196 076 

Student fees  141 123  122 540  94 889 

Trade and other receivables  156 743  133 067  139 057 

Loans to employees   243  3 368  8 077 

 464 658  459 700  438 099 

Loans and receivables that are considered to be impaired have been provided for 
as disclosed in the analysis on pages 135 and 136.
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25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

25.3 Credit risk (continued)

Impairment losses

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

The ageing of receivables at the reporting date was as follows:

Student loans

Loans administered by the University of KwaZulu-Natal

2010  10 211  7 039 

2009  15 959  11 480  14 885  9 354 

2008  8 103  6 296  8 078  5 351  7 212  5 900 

2007  6 295  5 256  6 331  4 565  6 469  6 078 

2006 and before  97 591  94 132  106 679  96 620  120 144  116 852 
            

Total of UKZN administered loans  138 159  124 203  135 973  115 890  133 825  128 830 

Loans administered by NSFAS

2010  54 113  20 361 

2009  27 026  10 169  52 337  7 635 

2008  15 509  5 836  18 094  5 012  77 682  5 012 

2007  24 566  9 244  24 566  6 788  24 566  6 788 

2006 and before  123 433  46 444  164 573  63 940  164 573  63 940 
            

Total of NSFAS administered loans  244 647  92 054  259 570  83 375  266 821  75 740 

Total student loans (note 4)  382 806  216 257  395 543  199 265  400 646  204 570 

External loans

Tertiary Education and Research Network of South Africa (TENET) loan 
receivable

   2010 4 261

2009  4 447  4 447 

Total external loans (note 4)  8 708  -    4 447  -    -    -   

Student debtors for fees

2010  82 243  6 857 

2009  26 139  7 460  91 459  10 947 

2008  17 084  5 598  18 292  7 334  77 472  5 483 

2007  26 243  12 050  25 887  11 592  29 905  7 005 

2006 and before  63 660  42 281  57 703  40 928  63 747  63 747 

Total student debtors for fees (note 6)  215 369  74 246  193 341  70 801  171 124  76 235 
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2010 2010 2009 2009 2008 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

25.3 Credit risk (continued)

Impairment losses (continued)

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
Trade and other receivables

2010  156 743  -   

2009   405   405  113 479  -   

2008   161   161  16 305  3 538  122 019  -   

2007  -    -    7 585   890  11 969  11 969 

2006 and before  -    -    1 051   925  21 507  4 469 

Total trade and other receivables (note 6)  157 309   566  138 420  5 353  155 495  16 438 

The movements in the allowances for impairment in respect of 
receivables during the year were as follows:

Student loans

University of KwaZulu-Natal loans

Balance at 1 January  115 890  128 830  128 830 

Impairment losses/(gains) recognised  8 313 (12 940  -   

Balance at 31 December  124 203  115 890  128 830 

NSFAS and external loans

Balance at 1 January  83 375  75 740  69 574 

Impairment losses recognised  8 679  7 635  6 166 

Balance at 31 December  92 054  83 375  75 740 

Student debtors for fees

Balance at 1 January  70 801  76 235  76 235 

Impairment losses/(gains) recognised  3 445 (5 434  -   

Balance at 31 December  74 246  70 801  76 235 

Trade and other receivables

Balance at 1 January  5 353  16 438  14 954 

Impairment (gains)/losses recognised (4 787 (11 085  1 484 

Balance at 31 December   566  5 353  16 438 

The recognition of impairment losses and gains in respect of financial instruments is based on an assessment of the past payment history for each of 
the respective categories of student loans, student debtors for fees, trade and other receivables.

Total interest earned in 2010 amounted to R12 million (2009: R8.6million) on impaired student loans and R9.2 million (2009: R576 000) on impaired 
student debtors for fees.

Actual write-offs of student debtors during the 2010  year amounted to R6.78 million (2009: R5.16 million) 

)

))

)
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2010 2009 2008

R’000 R’000 R’000

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

25.4 Liquidity risk

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments:

Contractual 
cash flows

Within 12 
months

Between 
1 and 2  
years

Between 
2 and 5 
years

More 
than 5 
years

Carrying 
Value

Carrying 
Value

Carrying 
Value

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31 December 2010

Interest-bearing borrowings  906 542  45 744  44 969  134 045  681 784  391 344 

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities

 362 842  362 842  -    -    -    362 842 

Student deposits  25 524  25 524  -    -    -    25 524 

Total 1 294 908  434 110  44 969  134 045  681 784  779 710 

31 December 2009

Interest-bearing borrowings  949 130  45 451  44 862  150 177  708 640  394 533 
Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities

 303 863  303 863  -    -    -    303 863 

Student deposits  29 179  29 179  -    -    -    29 179 

Total 1 282 172  378 493  44 862  150 177  708 640  727 575 

31 December 2008 

Interest-bearing borrowings  992 501  45 731  45 451  130 193  771 126  398 530 

Accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities

 245 025  245 025  -    -    -    245 025 

Student deposits  31 230  31 230  -    -    -    31 230 

Total 1 268 756  321 986  45 451  130 193  771 126  674 785 

25.5 Foreign currency risk

The University’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the financial year-end was as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  11 488  45 048  16 974 

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% strengthening/(weakening) of the US Dollar relative to the South African Rand at 31 December 
would have increased/(decreased) cash and cash equivalents and, correspondingly, the net surplus/ 
(deficit) for the year, as follows: 1 149 4 505 1 697

The following exchange rates applied:

Foreign Currency: United States Dollar (US $) R/US$ R/US$ R/US$
Average rate during the year 7.30 8.43 8.28

Spot rate at reporting date 6.73 7.38 9.46

Management of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and fixed deposits.  Centralised cash pooling arrangements 
are in place which ensure that cash is utilised most efficiently for the ongoing working capital needs of the Uni-
versity and, in addition, to ensure that the University earns the most advantageous rates of interest available.
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R’000

2009
R’000

2008
R’000

25 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

25.6 Interest rate risk
Carrying 

Value
Carrying 

Value
Carrying 

Value
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the University’s interest-bearing financial instruments was 
as follows, in each case reflected at the respective carrying values:

Fixed rate instruments
     Financial assets  517 915  483 588  403 042 
     Financial liabilities 391 343 394 533 398 530 

Variable rate instruments
     Financial assets  66 815  44 722  27 746 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed instruments
The University does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the income 
statement.  Therefore, a change in the interest rates at the reporting date would not affect the reported net 
surplus.  The University holds no ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets that are exposed to interest rate risk.

Cash flow sensitivity for variable rate instruments
A change of 1% in the interest rate would not result in a material adjustment to the reported surplus or fund 
balances.

25.7 Fair values of financial instruments

 Fair Value
2010

Fair Value
2009

Fair Value
2008

R'000 R'000 R'000
The carrying values of all financial instruments approximate their 
fair values, other than:       

‘Held-to-maturity’ investments

Fixed deposits 22 750 21 107 23 036 22 728 20 934 23 319

Fair value estimation 

With effect from 1 January 2009, the University adopted the amendments to the IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures for financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value and 
require disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets;•	

level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the assets;•	

level 3 - inputs for the assets that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable •	
inputs).

The only financial instruments subject to fair value estimation are ‘available-for-sale’ investments, which are 
categorised as level 1 in terms of above hierarchy (refer to note 3).
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R’000 R’000 R’000

26 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENTS

Municipal rates in the name of the University and relating to the 2008/2009 and 2009/2010 years of assessment 
remained unpaid until 2010 as the relevant rates statements, which were incorrectly addressed to a University 
tenant’s head office in Pretoria, went unheeded and were not brought to the attention of the University itself. 
In terms of the related lease agreement, the lessee was liable for the payment of rates.  During 2010, when 
the University became aware of the unpaid rates liability, it was further established that there had been an 
error by the eThekwini Municipality in the allocation of certain rates charges to the leased property and other 
erven, and that a portion of the rates allocated to the leased property was, in fact, related to the Howard 
College campus and therefore for the account of the University. The total extent of the rates arrears paid in 
2010 amounted to R14.87 million and the resultant restatements of the respective rates expenses for 2008 and 
2009 have been accounted for as prior year adjustments, as follows:

Rates 
As previously reported  20 469  19 297 

As would otherwise have been reported in 2010 had no prior year adjustment been processed  50 067 
Adjustments in respect of prior years (14 871  10 387  4 484 

Total rates expenses, as reported in current year and as restated for prior years (see note 21)  35 196  30 856  23 781 

27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the diverse composition of its stakeholders, the Council 
takes particular care to avoid conflicts of interest and, accordingly, has adopted a policy requiring declarations 
of any interests – actual or potential – by members of Council and of its committees. In terms of this policy, 
transactions with third parties in which a Council or committee member has a direct or fiduciary interest 
are required to be disclosed and, consequently, must be entered into at arm’s length and be in accordance 
with approved procurement policy.  During the year under review and subsequently, no transactions were 
identified with third parties controlled by one or more members of the Council.  All payments to members of 
executive and senior management are disclosed in Note 19.  There were no material contracts entered into 
with Executive management during the year under review.

28 TAXATION

The University of KwaZulu-Natal is exempt from South African normal taxation in terms of section 10(1)(cN) of the 
Income Tax Act and therefore no provision has been made for taxation.  Value Added Tax (VAT)  is claimed on an 
apportionment basis.

29 SUBSIDIARIES

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and trading operations of the following 
University-controlled entities:

Centre for the AIDS Programme of Research in South Africa (CAPRISA)•	
 J W Nelson Endowment Fund Trust•	
UKZN Innovation (Pty) Ltd•	
University of KwaZulu-Natal Foundation Trust (UKZN Foundation)•	
University of Natal Education and Innovation Foundation (UNEIF) - (Dormant and currently in the •	
process of being wound up)

No transactions except for loans, leases of premises, the raising and recovery of direct operating expenses 
incurred at arm’s length and, likewise, the recovery of indirect overheads, where applicable, have taken place 
between the University of KwaZulu-Natal and its subsidiaries. For the purposes of preparing the University’s 
annual financial statements, all intra-group balances and transactions were eliminated on consolidation.

)
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30 GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRACTICE: COMPLIANCE DEVIATION

Contrary to the requirements of South African Statement of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice IAS 16 (AC 123): Property, Plant and Equipment, 
depreciation has not been calculated separately for each significant component of items of property, plant and equipment, nor were the useful lives 
or residual values of such assets reassessed at the financial year-end. The University management is of the opinion that, having regard to the current 
status of the registers of immovable and movable property, coupled with the ongoing and relatively significant infrastructural development projects, 
it would not have been practicable to carry out this exercise prior to the end of 2010, nor would the costs of obtaining such information have been 
justified. During the current year, measures have been initiated to address and resolve these compliance deviations.

To date, it has not been possible to quantify the effects of the above instance of non-compliance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice. Notwithstanding the currently unquantified nature of this compliance deviation, management is satisfied that, based on its 
reliance on the controls exercised over and the records maintained in respect of property, plant and equipment, this does not constitute a serious 
financial risk to the University at the present time.
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